
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY BOARD  
ENVIRONMENT and LAND USE COMMITTEE AGENDA 
County of Champaign, Urbana, Illinois 
Thursday, May 4, 2023 - 6:30 p.m. 
Shields-Carter Meeting Room 
Brookens Administrative Center, 1776 E. Washington St., Urbana 
Committee Members: 
Eric Thorsland – Chair     Emily Rodriguez 
Aaron Esry – Vice-Chair    Jilmala Rogers 
Jim Goss      Chris Stohr 
Kyle Patterson      
      

All meetings are at Brookens Administrative Center – 1776 E Washington Street in Urbana – unless otherwise noted.  To enter 
Brookens after 4:30 p.m., enter at the north (rear) entrance located off Lierman Avenue. Champaign County will generally, upon 

request, provide appropriate aids and services leading to effective communication for qualified persons with disabilities.  Please contact 
Administrative Services, 217-384-3776, as soon as possible but no later than 48 hours before the scheduled meeting. 

Agenda Page #’s  
I. Call to Order 

  
II. Roll Call 

 
III. Approval of Agenda/Addendum                                                                                              

 
IV. Approval of Minutes                                                                                                                         

A. April 6, 2023 – Regular Meeting 1 - 6 
  

V. Public Participation 
 

VI. Communications 
 

VII. New Business: Items for Information Only 
A. Online registration open for May 20, 2023, Residential Electronics Collection   

Event at Parkland College  
 

B. Illinois Environmental Protection Agency Notice of Application for a  7 - 8 
Construction Permit IL23040002 for a diesel emergency generator at the  
University of Illinois Advanced Computational Building at 1011 West  
Springfield Avenue, Urbana IL  

 
C. Notice of Champaign County inclusion in Class Action Settlement in City of 9 - 16 

Long Beach, et al. v. Monsanto Company and receipt of funds 
 

D. Illinois Environmental Protection Agency Notice of Proposed Renewal of the 17 
Clean Air Act Permit for the Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company Manlove  
Gas Storage Field 

 
VIII.     New Business: Items to be Recommended to the County Board  
 

A. Zoning Case 074-S-22.  A request by Medanos Solar LLC, PO Box 14055,  18 - 47 
Chicago, IL 60614, a subsidiary of Cultivate Power, LLC, owned by Brian  
Matthay, 2819 Buchanan St, San Francisco, CA 94123 and Noah Hyte, 321  
Beloit Ave, Los Angeles, CA 90049; via agent Kiera Gavin, and participating  
landowner Terry Wolf, 1409 W Bridalveil Pl, Oro Valley, AZ 85737, to authorize a 
Community PV Solar Farm with a total nameplate capacity of 5 megawatts (MW), 
including access roads and wiring, in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture Zoning Districts,  



CHAMPAIGN COUNTY BOARD  
ENVIRONMENT and LAND USE COMMITTEE (ELUC)  
May 4, 2023 Agenda 

 
 

on a 48.64-acre tract in the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter and the 
Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter and part of a 197.02-acre tract in the  
east half of Section 4, Township 18 North, Range 14 West of the Second Principal 
Meridian in South Homer Township, and commonly known as farmland owned  
by Terry Wolf on the north side of CR 1100N (County Highway 15) northeast of the  
Village of Homer, Illinois and including the following waivers of standard conditions: 
 

Part A: A waiver for a distance of 0 feet between a PV Solar Farm and a municipal 
boundary in lieu of the minimum required one-half mile (2,640 feet), per 
Section 6.1.5 B.(2)a. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 
Part B: A waiver for not providing a Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that 

includes cost estimates prepared by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer 
prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section  

 6.1.1 A.3. of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

Part C: A waiver for not entering into a Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance  
 Agreement or waiver therefrom with the relevant local highway authority  
 prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section  
 6.1.5 G. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 
Part D: A waiver for not completing consultation with the State Historic Preservation 

Officer of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources prior to consideration  
 of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 K. of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 
 
B. Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan for Zoning Case 074-S-22. A  48 - 62 

request by Medanos Solar LLC, PO Box 14055, Chicago, IL 60614, a subsidiary  
of Cultivate Power, LLC, owned by Brian Matthay, 2819 Buchanan St,  
San Francisco, CA 94123 and Noah Hyte, 321 Beloit Ave, Los Angeles, CA 90049;  
via agent Kiera Gavin, and participating landowner Terry Wolf, 1409 W Bridalveil Pl,  
Oro Valley, AZ 85737, to approve the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan  
for the PV Solar Farm in Zoning Case 074-S-22 with a total nameplate capacity of 5 
megawatts (MW), including access roads and wiring, in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture 
Zoning Districts, on a 48.64-acre tract in the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest  
Quarter and the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter and part of a 197.02-acre 
tract in the east half of Section 4, Township 18 North, Range 14 West of the Second 
Principal Meridian in South Homer Township, and commonly known as farmland owned 
by Terry Wolf on the north side of CR 1100N (County Highway 15) northeast of the  
Village of Homer, Illinois. 

 
C. Zoning Case 035-AM-21.  A request by Jeffrey Jenkins d.b.a Walnut Grove MHC  63 - 78 

to amend the Zoning Map to change the zoning district designation from the  
AG-1 Agriculture Zoning District to the R-5 Manufactured Home Park Zoning  
District in order to operate the proposed Special Use with waivers in related  
Zoning Case 036-S-21 for a proposed 8 lot expansion of a non-conforming  
manufactured home park on a 9.68-acre tract in the Northwest Quarter of the  
Northwest Quarter of Section 10, Township 20 North, Range 9 East of the Third  



CHAMPAIGN COUNTY BOARD  
ENVIRONMENT and LAND USE COMMITTEE (ELUC)  
May 4, 2023 Agenda 

 
 

Principal Meridian in Somer Township and commonly known as Walnut Grove MHC  
with an address of 1513 CR 2300N, Urbana. 

 
D. Approval of documents fulfilling special conditions for Zoning Case 898-S-18 79 - 86  

(BayWa r.e.). A request by Prairie Solar 1, LLC, a PV solar farm that was  
previously approved in Case 898-S-18 in Ordinance No.2019-1 on January 24,  
2019, and that is wholly owned by BayWa r.e. Development, LLC, via agent  
Brandon Reinhardt, Associate Director of Development for BayWa r.e. Solar  
Projects LLC, 18575 Jamboree Road, Suite 850, Irvine, CA 92612, to authorize the 
following documents pursuant to special conditions in Case 898-S-18: 

 
1.         A Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan  87 - 103 

 
2.         Road use agreements with the Champaign County Highway 104 - 106  
 Department, Sidney Township, and the Village of Homer  
 
3.         A revised noise analysis with a proposed revision of the special  107 - 154 
 condition requiring noise reduction kits on the inverters 

 
4.         Vegetative screening around the relevant portions of the  155 
 fenced area. 

 
E. Annual Facility Inspection Report for the period 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 for  156 - 189 

Champaign County’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System  
(NPDES) Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Storm Water  
Discharge Permit with the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) 

   
IX. Other Business 

        
X. Chair’s Report 
 
XI. Designation of Items to be Placed on the Consent Agenda 

 
XII. Adjournment 



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    1    April 6, 2023 

 Champaign County Board  
 Environment and Land Use Committee (ELUC) 
 County of Champaign, Urbana, Illinois 

MINUTES – Subject to Review and Approval 1 
DATE: Thursday, April 6, 2023 2 
TIME: 6:30 p.m.  3 
PLACE: Shields-Carter Meeting Room  4 

Brookens Administrative Center  5 
1776 E Washington, Urbana, IL 61802 6 

Committee Members 7 
Present Absent 
Aaron Esry (Vice-Chair) 
Jim Goss 
Kyle Patterson 

Emily Rodriguez 
Jilmala Rogers 

Chris Stohr 
Eric Thorsland (Chair) 

8 
County Staff: John Hall (Zoning Administrator) and Mary Ward (Recording Secretary) 9 

10 
Others Present: Stan Harper, County Board Member 11 

MINUTES 12 
13 

I. Call to Order14 
Committee Chair Thorsland called the meeting to order at 6:32 p.m.15 

16 
II. Roll Call17 

Roll call was taken, and a quorum was declared present.18 
19 

III. Approval of Agenda/Addendum20 
21 

MOTION by Mr. Goss to approve the agenda and addendum, seconded by Mr. Stohr.  Upon voice vote, the22 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously to approve the agenda and addendum.23 

24 
IV. Approval of Minutes25 

A. March 9, 2023 – Regular Meeting26 
27 

MOTION by Mr. Esry to approve the minutes of the March 9, 2023 regular meeting, seconded by Mr. Goss. 28 
Upon voice vote, the MOTION CARRIED unanimously to approve the minutes. 29 

30 
31 
32 
33 

1



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    2    April 6, 2023 

V. Public Participation34 
35 

Peggy Huson, Urbana, spoke regarding some properties with nuisance lawns in the Edgewood subdivision.36 
There are thistles and other weeds that grow extremely tall and, in some cases, overtake the sidewalk making it37 
impassable.  They also pose a safety problem at an intersection as the weeds are so big it’s hard to see.38 

39 
Tony Grilo with IAG Investments LLC was here in support of Zoning Case 080-S-22.  He will be available to answer40 
any questions the committee may have.41 

42 
Steve Schmall, Urbana, Edgewood subdivision.  Mr. Schmall spoke on the issues with some properties in the43 
Subdivision.  He is asking for amendment to the nuisance ordinance and that it match the City of Urbana and44 
that of Champaign that grass may not be more than 8-inches tall.45 

46 
Tom Smith, Homer, spoke on the Medanos Solar project.  He wanted to thank the ZBA for all their work on47 
the solar farm case.  He had a concern that the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan was not presented48 
to the Zoning Board of Appeals.49 

50 
Kiera Gavin, Chicago, - Agent for Medanos Solar – pointed out several changes that had been made between51 
the time the original plan was presented and what it looks like now.  Drainage was a big point of concern for52 
the Village as a tile runs through the property that drains the northeast part of Homer.  Changes have been53 
made and a dedicated corridor for the tile will be mapped out in the final plan.  She also addressed the concerns54 
the Village had made in their resolution and changes they had made to address those concerns.55 

56 
Jim White, Homer – Mayor of Homer – Appreciates the ZBA and that they were not willing to grant the waiver57 
and understands that the State is taking control of zoning in these cases.  There are concerns if they sell to58 
another developer that they should have to follow all the same covenants.  The citizens of Homer are against59 
this.  It does not benefit Homer.  They get no money off of this and does not bring in any jobs.60 

61 
VI. Communications62 

63 
Mr. Stohr reminded the Committee that the Household Hazardous Waste collection is coming up.  There are64 
still openings to sign up.  The Urbana Sustainability Committee heard a preliminary report on the Aquifer65 
Mapping project.  The researcher working on this will come to the County Board sometime in June.66 

67 
Mr. Harper, Ogden, County Board District 3 member – disappointed that this Committee didn’t take action68 
when they had the opportunity on Wind Farm zoning.  A 7-0 vote came from the ZBA on the Wind Farm zoning69 
ordinance.  People don’t want the Wind Farm by Philo.  Also, regarding aerial application on farms, some70 
companies won’t fly in wind farm areas and those that do, it will cost you a lot more.  We had a chance to do71 
something regardless of what the State says.  He shared articles on wind turbines that have fallen over and ones72 
that have caught fire.  He feels prime farmland should not be taken out of production; projects should be put on73 
marginal land.  His job is to grow food.  We will need to feed 10 billion people by 2050. Hopes Champaign County74 
has the guts to fight the State on this issue.75 

76 
VII. New Business:  Items for Information Only77 

A. Online registration still open for April 15, 2023, Household Hazardous Waste Collection Event at State Farm78 
Center79 

80 
There are still hundreds of slots open to register for this event. 81 

82 

2



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    3    April 6, 2023 

VIII. New Business:  Items to Receive and Place on File by ELUC to Allow a 30-Day Review Period 83 
A. Zoning Case 074-S-22.  A request by Medanos Solar LLC, PO Box 14055 Chicago, IL 60614, a subsidiary of84 

Cultivate Power, LLC, owned by Brian Matthay, 2819 Buchanan St, San Francisco, CA 94123 and Noah Hyte,85 
321 Beloit Ave, Los Angeles, CA 90049; via agent Kiera Gavin, and participating landowner Terry Wolf,86 
1409 W Bridalveil Pl, Oro Valley, AZ 85737, to authorize a Community PV Solar Farm with a total nameplate87 
capacity of 5 megawatts (MW), including access roads and wiring, in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture Zoning88 
Districts, on a 48.64-acre tract89 
in the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter and the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter90 
and part of a 197.02-acre tract in the east half of Section 4, Township 18 North, Range 14 West of the91 
Second Principal Meridian in South Homer Township, and commonly known as farmland owned by Terry92 
Wolf on the north side of CR 1100N (County Highway 15) northeast of the Village of Homer, Illinois, and93 
including the following waivers of standard conditions:94 

95 
Part A: A waiver for a distance of 0 feet between a PV Solar Farm and a municipal boundary in lieu of the96 

 minimum required one-half mile (2,640 feet), per Section 6.1.5 B.(2)a. of the Zoning Ordinance. 97 
98 

Part B: A waiver for not providing a Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that includes cost 99 
 estimates prepared by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer prior to consideration of the 100 
 Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.1 A.3. of the Zoning Ordinance.  101 

102 
Part C: A waiver for not entering into a Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement or waiver there  103 

 from with the relevant local highway authority prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by 104 
 the Board, per Section 6.1.5 G. of the Zoning Ordinance.  105 

106 
Part D: A waiver for not completing consultation with the State Historic Preservation Officer of the Illinois 107 

 Department of Natural Resources prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, 108 
 per Section 6.1.5 K. of the Zoning Ordinance. 109 

110 
Mr. Hall stated that Part B, the waiver for the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan, we now have 111 
that plan, and it is on the agenda.  There is a condition that the State Historic Preservation review will 112 
happen before the Special Use Permit is granted.  This is to sit at ELUC for a month, so residents will have 113 
time to look at and study the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan.  The Village of Homer is 114 
opposed to the Special Use Permit.   115 

116 
Mr. Stohr asked about invertor placement and if there is a substation.  Ms. Gavin explained the 117 
placement and said that the project does not have a dedicated substation and will interconnect to the 118 
existing overhead distribution scale line and then interconnect through the substation on the west side 119 
of Homer.  There is capacity in the line to take that.   120 

121 
Mr. Esry shared that there is another company looking to put in a large solar farm near Myra.  They are 122 
looking to tie directly into a high voltage powerline that runs in that area.  They call it a line-break and 123 
can do this if there is capacity. 124 

125 
Mr. Goss is against this.  The Village and people out there don’t want it.  Feels the State has disrespected 126 
the mile and a half and doesn’t want that to become the norm.   These projects do not belong on prime 127 
farmland.   128 

129 
Mr. Thorsland addressed the changes in the site plan and that there was an effort to make changes to 130 
push everything back from the town hall and Ameren is going to move where the poles were.  The 131 

3



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    4    April 6, 2023 

landowner has the right to use his land as he sees fit.  He agrees that these should not be on prime farm 132 
ground.  The ZBA was not unanimous in their vote to not recommend.  Plus, we have lost control of this 133 
due to the new State regulations.   134 

135 
Mayor White, of Homer, was asked if the developers were accommodating in making changes and if they 136 
were happy with the changes made.  Most of the changes made were common sense changes, like not 137 
building over the drainage tile.  The main objection is the proximity to the Village.  It could have been put 138 
farther away, but it all boils down to money.  The previous zoning ordinance was a half-mile from the  139 
Village and if that were the case, they wouldn’t have an objection to it at all.   140 

141 
This was received and placed on file with the Committee for 30 days. 142 

143 
B. Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan for Zoning Case 074-S-22.  A request by144 

Medanos Solar LLC, PO Box 14055, Chicago, IL 60614, a subsidiary of Cultivate Power, LLC, owned by145 
Brian Matthay, 2819 Buchanan St, San Francisco, CA 94123 and Noah Hyte, 321 Beloit Ave, Los Angeles,146 
CA 90049; via agent Kiera Gavin, and participating landowner Terry Wolf, 1409 W Bridalveil Pl, Oro147 
Valley, AZ 85737, to approve the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan for the PV Solar Farm in148 
Zoning Case 074-S-22 with a total nameplate capacity of 5 megawatts (MW), including access roads and149 
wiring, in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture Zoning Districts, on a 48.64-acre tract in the Southeast Quarter150 
of the Southwest Quarter and the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter and part of a 197.02-acre151 
tract in the east half of Section 4, Township 18 North, Range 14 West of the Second Principal Meridian in152 
South Homer Township, and commonly known as farmland owned by Terry Wolf on the north side of CR153 
1100N (County Highway 15) northeast of the Village of Homer, Illinois.154 

155 
Mr. Hall stated that this plan is in line with other Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plans.  There is a156 
concern when Decommissioning plans are not released for the public hearings and would always157 
recommend that this Committee give the public as much time as they need to review the plans and there158 
is still time to ask and research questions.159 

160 
The plan was received and placed on file with the Committee for 30 days.161 

162 
IX. New Business:   Items to be Recommended to the County Board163 

A. Zoning Case 080-S-22.  A request by Anthony Donato, d.b.a. IAG Investments LLC to authorize a164 
Special Use Permit for a photovoltaic solar array with a total nameplate capacity of 6 megawatts165 
(MW), including access roads and wiring, as a County Board Special Use Permit and as a second166 
principal use in addition to a data center authorized by the ZBA in related Case 079-S-22, in the AG-2167 
Agriculture Zoning District on a 21-acre tract in the North Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 27,168 
Township 19 North, Range 9 East of the Third Principal Meridian in Urbana Township that is located169 
west of the veterinary clinic with an address of 3003 East Windsor Road, Urbana and including the170 
following waivers of standard conditions:171 

172 
Part A: A waiver from providing a Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that includes cost 173 

 estimates prepared by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer prior to consideration of the 174 
 Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.1 A.3.  175 

176 
Part B: A waiver from locating the PV Solar Array less than one-half mile from an incorporated 177 

 municipality with a zoning ordinance and within the contiguous urban growth area of a 178 
 municipality per Section 6.1.5 B.(2)a. 179 

180 

4



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    5    April 6, 2023 

Part C: A waiver for locating 32 feet from a non-participating existing dwelling on a lot that is 10 acres or 181 
 less in area in lieu of the minimum required separation of 240 feet between the solar farm fencing 182 
 and the property line, per Section 6.1.5 D.(3)a. 183 

184 
Part D: A waiver from submitting a Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement prior to 185 

        consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 G.(1). 186 
187 

Mr. Hall said this is very close to the Veterinary Clinic and a rental house.  The ZBA received a revised site 188 
plan the last night of the hearing.  A berm has been added on the west and south sides.  There is a unique 189 
condition in the Special Use Permit that requires the developer and the owner of the property to come to 190 
agreement on what the noise limit will be on that property.  If the agreement isn’t received, there will be 191 
no special use permit.  Also, there will be annual studies to confirm that the noise limit is being followed.  192 
This is an unanimously recommended approval from ZBA, and the City of Urbana waived the need for 193 
having to be at two ELUC meetings. 194 

195 
Mr. Goss recused himself due to a conflict of interest.  Mr. Stohr asked if we should hold this over until 196 
the next meeting.  Mr. Hall said that the ZBA passed unanimously, the adjacent owner is happy with the 197 
special condition and the City of Urbana waived the need for this.  From a staff perspective, there is no 198 
need to hold this over.  Mr. Esry asked if anyone else objected to this at the ZBA hearings.  There were 199 
none.   200 

201 
MOTION by Mr. Esry to approve Zoning Case 080-S-22.  Seconded by Mr. Patterson.  Upon voice vote, 202 
the MOTION CARRIED unanimously with one abstention by Mr. Goss. 203 

204 
B. Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan for Zoning Case 080-S-22.  A request by Anthony Donato,205 

via IAG Investments LLC, to approve the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan for the PV SOLAR206 
ARRAY in Zoning Case 080-S-22 with a total nameplate capacity of 6 megawatts (MW), including access207 
roads and wiring, on a 21-acre tract in the North Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 27, Township208 
19 North, Range 9 East of the Third Principal Meridian in Urbana Township that is located west of the209 
veterinary clinic with an address of 3003 East Windsor Road, Urbana.210 

211 
Mr. Hall stated this is in line with the others; the costs are 8.5% less than previous projects.212 

213 
MOTION by Mr. Esry and seconded by Mr. Patterson to approve the Decommissioning and Site214 
Reclamation Plan for Zoning Case 080-S-22.  Upon voice vote, the MOTION CARRIED unanimously with215 
an abstention by Mr. Goss216 

217 
C. Zoning Case 087-AM-22.  A request by Brian and Lana Krutsinger to amend the Zoning Map to change218 

the zoning district designation for approximately 18 acres of the 30.37-acre subject property from the CR219 
Conservation Recreation Zoning District to the AG-2 Agriculture Zoning District on a 30.37-acre tract in220 
the East Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 10, Township 18N, Range 10 East of the Third Principal221 
Meridian in Sidney Township and commonly known as the Krutsinger residence located at 2197 CR222 
1100N, Sidney.223 

224 
Mr. Hall said that this was recommended unanimously by the ZBA.  The only comments received were225 
not against the rezoning but against a possible events center at this location once rezoned.  The Village226 
has approved the division of the property.  Mr. Esry said in the event an events center goes in, it will227 
create more traffic on Windsor Road extended.  Mr. Stohr said he drove by the site and wondered if the228 
road is up to very much traffic.229 

5



Champaign County Board 
Environment and Land Use Committee    6    April 6, 2023 

230 
MOTION by Mr. Goss and seconded by Mr. Stohr to approve Zoning Case 087-AM-22.  Upon voice vote, 231 
the MOTION CARRIED unanimously. 232 

233 
D. County Board Resolution Authorizing Signature of County Executive for Extension of IHDA Strong234 

Communities Program Grant.235 
236 

We just received the information on Tuesday of what they wanted to the resolution to look like.  They237 
are working with us to give us time to get it approved by the County Board.238 

239 
MOTION by Mr. Esry and seconded by Mr. Patterson to approve the resolution.  Upon voice vote, the240 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously.241 

242 
X. Other Business243 

A. Monthly Reports244 
i. January 2023245 
ii. February 2023246 

247 
   The reports were received and placed on file. 248 

249 
XI. Chair’s Report250 

251 
There was no chair’s report252 

253 
XII. Designation of Items to be Placed on the Consent Agenda254 

255 
Items to be placed on the Consent Agenda include items 9. A., B., C., and D. 256 

 257 
XIII. Adjournment258 

259 
Chair Thorsland adjourned the meeting at 7:52 p.m. 260 

6



April 18, 2023 

Re: University of Illinois (Illinois EPA BOA ID# 019010ADA) 

Construction Permit (23040002) 

To Distribution List: 

In accordance with the Illinois EPA’s Environmental Justice Policy, the Office of Environmental 

Justice wants to provide you with information about a potential action. The Illinois EPA is sending 

this letter to notify you of an application received by the Bureau of Air (BOA).   

The Illinois EPA has received an application for a Construction Permit [23040002] for University 

of Illinois located at 1011 W Springfield Ave in Urbana. The application requests authorization to 

install a diesel emergency generator at their Advanced Computational Building. 

The application is currently under review by the BOA. 

If you are receiving paper notifications and would like to sign up to receive notifications by 

email instead, please visit the Illinois EPA Environmental Justice webpage: 

https://epa.illinois.gov/topics/environmental-justice.html 

If you have questions about the application, please contact Chris Pressnall, Environmental 

Justice Coordinator at (217) 524-1284, chris.pressnall@illinois.gov.   

Sincerely, 

Chris Pressnall  

Environmental Justice Coordinator 

7

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
1021 NORTH GRAND AVENUE EAST, P.O. Box 19276, SPRINGFIELD, ILUNOIS 62794-9276 · (217) 782-3397 

JB PRITZKER, GOVERNOR 

2125 S. First Street. Champaign, IL 51820 (217) 278-5800 
1101 Eastport Plaza Dr., Suite 100, Collinsvil le, ll 62234 (518) 346-5120 
9511 Harrison Street, Des Plaines, IL 60015 (847) 294-4000 
595 S. State Street, Elgin, ll 60123 (847) 608-3131 

JOHN J. KIM, DIRECTOR 

2309 W. Main St reet, Suite 116. Marion, IL 62959 (618) 993-7200 
412 SW Washington Street, Suite D, Peoria, ll 61602 (309) 671-3022 

4302 N. Main Street, Rockford, ll 51103 (815) 987-7760 

PLEASE PRINT ON RECYCLED PAPER 

https://epa.illinois.gov/topics/environmental-justice.html
mailto:chris.pressnall@illinois.gov


Distribution List 
University of Illinois -  Dave Wilcoxen* 

State Senator Paul Faraci - State Senate District # 52* 

State Representative Carol Ammons - State Representative District #103* 

U.S. Representative Nikki Budzinski - U.S. Congressional District #13* 

U.S. Senator Richard J. Durbin* 

U.S. Senator Tammy Duckworth* 

City of Urbana – Diane Wolfe Marlin, Mayor* 

City of Urbana – City Council*  

Champaign County Board* 

Champaign Branch NAACP - #3008 – Minnie Pearson, President* 

Illinois NAACP – Gregory Norris* 

Illinois NAACP – Teresa Haley* 

American Lung Association of Illinois – Angela Tin* 

Respiratory Health Association - Brian P. Urbaszewski* 

Sierra Club – Jack Darin* 

Sierra Club – Christine Nannicelli* 

Sierra Club – Mila Marshall* 

Sierra Club – Ryan Hidden* 

Faith in Place – Rev. Brian Sauder* 

Illinois Environmental Regulatory Group – Alec Davis*  

Chemical Industry Council of Illinois – Lisa Frede* 

United States EPA – Kathy Triantafillou* 

IL Manufacturers' Association - Donovan Griffith* 

Shawnee Hills & Hollers – Georgia de la Garza* 

Shawnee Hills & Hollers – Sabrina Hardenbergh* 

Illinois Environmental Council – Jennifer Walling* 

LVEJO – Juliana Pino* 

Illinois Farm Bureau – Lauren Lurkins* 

Earthjustice – Jennifer Cassel* 

Earthjustice – Debbie Chizewer* 

Northwestern Pritzker School of Law – Robert A. Weinstock* 

Great Rivers Environmental Law Center – Sarah Rubenstein* 

Stericycle – Susan Olavarria* 

University of Illinois - Prairie Research Institute – Debra Jacobson* 

Illinois Attorney General's Office – Andrew Armstrong* 

Council of State Governments - Midwest – Jess Lienhardt* 

Exxon Mobil Corporation – Brad Sims* 

Openlands – Molly Kordas* 

Taft Law – Ryan Rudich* 

Mostardi Platt – Jena DiFiore*

Community Development Services – Lily Wilcock* 

City of Urbana – Nicholas Hanson* 

Spotlight Air Environmental – Mai Pope* 

CPI – Natalie Warkenthien* 

Langan – Vinicius De Paula* 
*Receiving E-Notifications

8



9

Champaign County 
De artment of 

Brookens Administrative 
Center 

1776 E. Washington Street 
Urbana, Illinois 6 I 802 

TO: Environment and Land Use Committee 

FROM.- John Hall, Zoning Administrator 

DATE: April 24, 2023 

RE: Champaign County included in Class Action Settlement in City of 
Long Beach, et al. v. Monsanto Company and receipt of funds 

BACKGROUND 

On April 18, 2023 , Champaign County received a check for $27,414.03 as Champaign 
County 's share of a class action settlement in the legal case City of Long Beach, et al. v. 
Monsanto Company. Attachment A is a brief overview of the class action settlement. 

Champaign County has no record of prior communications about this class action 
c2 11J 384-3708 settlement. 

zoningdept@co.champaign. ii. us 
www. co. champaign. i I.us/zo ning 

Champaign County is part of the "monitoring fund group". The funds are apparently 
intended to be used as follows: 

The funds are intended to pay for PCB sampling and/or any other mitigation 
efforts in the Settlement Class Member' s sole discretion, as part of compliance 
with applicable law. 

A link in the internet article to "Exhibit A" also includes an Exhibit B that lists the 
water bodies that the USEP A lists as impaired by PCBs. The stream segments in 
Champaign County listed in Exhibit B are the following: 

• Kaskaskia River segment IL_O-37 (7.93 miles) 
• Boneyard Creek segment ILBPJC06_BPJCA (3 .28 miles) 

Staff will keep on the lookout for additional information which may be forthcoming 
regarding appropriate uses of the funds. 

In the meantime, the check will be treated as "deferred revenue" until such time as the 
Board decides how to spend it. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A Internet article regarding Monsanto Class Action Settlement 
(https:/ /pcbclassaction.com/) 



10

In Re: Monsanto Cl ss Action Settleme 
City of Long Beach, et al. v. Monsanto Company, et al. 

United States District Court, Central District of California -
Western Division 

Case No. 2:16-cv-03493-Ff\/1O-AS 

MFNU 

This proposed Class Action Settlement impacts all NPDES 

Phase I and II city, town, village, borough, township, and 

independent port district MS4 permittees with 

jurisdictional boundaries within a HUC 12 Watershed that 

contains and/or is immediately adjoining a 303(d) water 

body impaired by PCBs and all NPDES Phase I and II 

county MS4 permittees with urbanized, unincorporated 

boundaries within a HUC 12 Watershed that contains 

and/or is immediately adjoining a 303(d) water body 

impaired by PCBs, as of lune 24, 2020 only, but not later. 

Important Dates 

March 14, 2022 - Date of Entry of Order Certifying Settlement Class, Preliminarily 

Approving Class Action Settlement, Approving Notice Plan, Appointing Class Action 

Settlement Administrator, and Appointing Class Counsel. 

January 23, 2023 - Deadline to submit Sediment Sites AP-P-lication . 



11

January 23, 2023 - Deadline to submit Special Needs Fund, Part A Am~lication . 

1 year and 14 days after the Settlement Administrator's mailing of Monitoring 

Fund Payments - Deadline to submit Special Needs Fund, Part B AP-P-lication . 

July 25, 2022 - All opt-outs must be postmarked and mailed to the Settlement 

Administrator. 

July 25, 2022 - Any objections must be hand-delivered or postmarked and mailed to the 

Court and hand-delivered or postmarked and mailed to Class Counsel and Defendant's 

Counsel. 

September 15, 2022 - Any notices of appearances and motions must be hand-delivered or 

postmarked and mailed to the Court and hand-delivered or postmarked and mailed to Class 

Counsel and Defendant's Counsel. 

September 15, 2022 - Any other motions or submissions concerning the Action of the 

Settlement must be properly filed with supporting documents with the Clerk of the Court and 

must be mailed or personally delivered to Class Counsel and Counsel for the Defendant. 

September 1, 2022 - Deadline for Plaintiffs' Motion For Final Approval. 

October 13, 2022 - Court Approval Hearing in the United States District Court, Central 

District of California - Western Division. 

Plaintiffs City of Long Beach, Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, City of Berkeley, City of Chula 

Vista, County of Los Angeles, City of Oakland, City of Portland, Port of Portland, City of San Diego, 

City of San Jose, and City of Spokane filed lawsuits against Defendant in district courts in their 

respective jurisdictions. In their complaints, Plaintiffs asserted that Defendant manufactured a class 

of industrial chemicals called polychlorinated biphenyls C'PCBs'') between the 1930s and 1977 and 

stated various causes of action against Defendant for alleged PCB-related impairments to the 

environment, including to water bodies. Plaintiffs alleged that PCBs are present at sites and public 

properties, including in stormwater, stormwater and wastewater systems, water bodies, sediment, 

natural resources, fish and wildlife. Plaintiffs sought compensatory damages and injunctive and 

equitable relief. 



12

On March 14, 2022, the Court entered an order certifying the Action as a class action, and specifically 

certifying a Nationwide Class. If you received a Notice of Pendencv. of Class-Action Proposed 

Settlement and Court-Approved Hearing (the "Notice'') in the mail, then you have been identified as 

an Initial Settlement Class Member according to the parties' records. 

The claims certified for class-action treatment include claims that Monsanto's PCBs and PCB

containing products were defectively designed, that the risks of environmental harm associated with 

PCBs and PCB-containing products outweighed the benefits of their uses, that Monsanto failed to 

warn of the risks of harm associated with PCBs and PCB-containing products, and that Plaintiffs and 

the Settlement Class Members suffered property damage as a result of PCB contamination. 

In the Class Action Settlement Agreement between the parties, Monsanto has agreed to pay up to 

five hundred and fifty million dollars ($550,000,000) as the total and maximum dollar amount 

Monsanto will be obligated to pay as a net class benefit if the Court grants final approval and all other 

contingencies are met. This amount includes all payments (i) to Settlement Class Members in 

exchange for the Release as described in the Notice, and (ii) to the Plaintiffs as class-representative 

awards. 

Monsanto denies that class certification was or remains appropriate ( except for purposes of the 

proposed settlement), denies that its PCBs and PCB-containing products were defectively designed, 

denies that the risks of environmental harm associated with PCBs and PCB-containing products 

outweigh their benefits, denies that it acted unlawfully, and asserts various legal and factual defenses 

against Plaintiffs' claims. 

The parties reached a settlement before the Court resolved the claims and defenses of the parties in 

the Action. Therefore, the Court never resolved whether Monsanto did anything wrong. The Notice 

should not be understood as an expression of any opinion by the Court as to the merits of the 

Plaintiffs' claims or Defendant's defenses. Plaintiffs and Defendant recognize that to resolve these and 

other important issues would be time-consuming, uncertain, and expensive, which is part of the 

reason for the Settlement. 

Each Settlement Class Member who has not excluded itself from the Class will be eligible to receive a 

settlement check(s) from the Class Action Settlement Administrator based on the Settlement Class 

Allocation method developed by Lead Class Counsel, the Special Master, and the Named Class 

Plaintiffs' consulting experts, which has been approved by the Court as fair and reasonable. 

The Settlement Amount will be allocated among four separate funds for Class Members. Any amount 

allocated to a Settlement Class Member in the Monitoring Fund or TMDL Fund that opts out of the 



13

Settlement, will be reallocated to Settlement Class Members pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. 

You may be eligible to receive a payment from one or more of these funds. You are 

required to apply to receive payment from certain funds. 

SETTLEMENT FUNDS- DISTRIBUTION AND APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

MONITORING 

FUND 

{$42,895,000) 

Every Settlement Class Member will receive a minimum payment from 

the Monitoring Fund as consideration for a Release. The funds are 

intended to pay for PCB sampling and/or any other mitigation efforts in 

the Settlement Class Member's sole discretion, as part of compliance 

with applicable law. 

The amount of Monitoring Fund payments are based on each Settlement 

Class Member's NDPES Permittee status as Phase I or Phase II and each 

Settlement Class Member's population as follows: 

1. Phase I ~ 100,000 pop. and Phase I independent port districts: 68 x 

$32,024.47 = $2,177,663.96 

2. Phase I < 100,000 pop.: 68 x $22,024.47 = $1,497,663.96 

3. Phase II ~ 100,000 pop. and Phase II independent port districts: 214 

X $27,024.47 = $5,783,236.58 

4. Phase II < 100,000 pop.: 1,956 x $17,024.47 = $33,299,863.32 

Monitoring Fund Partial Payments: TMDL Entities receiving TMDL Funds 

between fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) and one hundred thousand 

dollars ($100,000) will receive a Monitoring Fund Partial Payment. The 

fourteen (14) TMDL Entities receiving a Monitoring Fund Partial Payment 

are identified HERE, for a total of $136,565.61. 

Refer to the Class Action Settlement Agreement, Exhibit A -

Initial Settlement Class Members for the MS4 NPDES Phase I or II 

by Population identification and Settlement Amount under the Monitoring 

Fund. 



14

TMDL FUND 

{$250,000,000) 

SEDIMENT SITES 

FUND 

{$150,000,000) 

A Settlement Class Member will receive a payment from the TMDL Fund 

if the Settlement Class Member is subject to and/or responsible for a 

TMDL, TMDL Alternative, or TMDL Direct-to-Implementation regulation, 

promulgated or updated after January 1, 2010, wherein PCB is a named 

constituent. Not every Settlement Class Member is eligible to 

receive payment from the TMDL Fund. 

Refer to the Class Action Settlement Agreement, Exhibit D -

TMDL Fund Entities List with Allocation to determine if you are a 

TMDL Fund Entity and the TMDL Fund Allocation amount. 

The Sediment Sites Fund will be allocated among Qualifying Sediment 

Site Entities identified in Paragraph 79( c) of the Settlement Agreement, 

other than any Opt-Out Litigating Entity, by a court-appointed Special 

Master. Not every Settlement Class Member is eligible to receive 

payment from the TMDL Fund. 

A Settlement Class Member will receive a payment from the Sediment 

Sites Fund if the Settlement Class Member is a Noticed Party/Potentially 

Responsible Party or named Responsible Party in at least one of three 

types of regulated Sediment Sites wherein PCBs have contaminated 

sediments due to stormwater contribution. The three types of Sediments 

Sites include only the following: (1) U.S. EPA Superfund Sites, (2) U.S. 

EPA Large Sediment Sites, and/or (3) Clean Water Act Category 4b 

Sites/Waters. 

Refer to the Notice for a list of Sediment Sites wherein at least one 

Initial Settlement Class Member is a Noticed Party/Potentially 

Responsible Party or named Responsible Party due to stormwater 

contribution of PCBs. Class Members who are eligible for Sediment Sites 

Fund payments are "Qualifying Sediment Site Entities" and must 

complete and submit the Sediment Sites AP-P-lication within 65 days 

after the Final Approval Order or by January 23, 2023. 



15

SPECIAL NEEDS 

FUND, 

PART A 

($57,105,000) 

SPECIAL NEEDS 

FUND, 

PARTB 

($50,000,000) 

Special Needs Fund, Part A will compensate and accommodate those 

Litigating Entities whose time, energy, effort, attorney work product, 

costs, expenses, and risk of litigation helped to cause the entire Class 

Settlement, for the benefit of all Initial Settlement Class Members. 

Payment from Special Needs Fund, Part A is available only to those Initial 

Settlement Class Members that are "Litigating Entities," i.e., Class 

Members that (1) have filed tort, public nuisance, and/or product liability 

lawsuits against Defendant for PCB contamination of stormwater and 

sediment, and/or (2) that are Named Class Members. 

Refer to the Notice for a list of Litigating Entities and eligibility for 

payment from this Fund. Qualifying Litigating Entities must complete and 

submit the .Special Needs Fund, Part A Application within 65 days 

after the Final Approval Order or by January 23, 2023. 

Special Needs Fund, Part B will compensate those Settlement Class 

Members who apply and make a showing, in the discretion of the Special 

Master, of a significant regional, state, or national benefit, cost, or 

contribution regarding 303(d) bodies of water impaired by PCBs through 

stormwater and/or dry weather runoff, and such benefit, cost, or 

contribution is not otherwise encompassed within any other part of the 

Settlement Allocation. 

The Special Master will equitably and reasonably allocate Part B funds 

among only those Settlement Class Members who apply for funds. 

Settlement Class Members that do not timely return a completed 

application forfeit any right to Part B Funds. Application does not 

guarantee that the Special Master will allocate Part B Funds to the 

applicant. Some Part B applicants may not receive any Part B Funds. 

Refer to the Notice for more information on applying for payment from 

this Fund. Applicants must complete and submit the .Special Needs 

Fund, Part B Application within 1 year and 14 days after the 

Settlement Administrator's mailing of Monitoring Fund payments. 



16

DO NOT WRITE OR TELEPHONE THE COURT, THE CLERK'S OFFICE, OR DEFENDANT WITH 

ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS NOTICE, THE SETTLEMENT, OR THE SETTLEMENT 

AGREEMENT. 

Privacy Policy 



17

RECEIVED 
APR 2 7 2023 Illinois Environmental Protection Agency 

CHAMPAIGN co. p & z DEPARTMENT Public Notice 

Proposed Renewal of the Clean Air Act Permit Program Permit 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company in Fisher · 

The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company Manlove Storage Field has requested that the 
Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (Illinois EPA) renew the Clean Air Act Permit 
Program (CAAPP) permit regulating air emissions from its facility located at 230 County 
Road 2800 North in Fisher. The source is a natural gas storage and transmission facility. 
Based on its review of the application, the Illinois EPA has made a preliminary 
determination that the application meets the standards for issuance and has prepared a 
draft permit for public review. 

The Illinois EPA is accepting comments on the draft permit. Comments must be received 
by 11: 59 PM on May 21, 2023. If sufficient interest is expressed in the draft permit, a 
hearing or other informational meeting may be held. Requests for information, 
comments, and questions should be directed to Cassandra Metz, Office of Community 
Relations, Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, 1021 North Grand Ave. East, PO 
Box 19506, Springfield, Illinois 62794-9506, phone 217/785-7491, TDD phone number 
866/273-5488, Cassandra.Metz@Illinois.gov. 

The repositories for the draft permit documents will be made available at the Illinois 
EPA's office at 2125 South First Street in Champaign, 217/278-5800 and 1021 North 
Grand A venue East, Springfield, 217/785-7491 (please call ahead to assure that someone 
will be available to assist you). Copies of the draft permit and other documents may also 
be available at http://bit.ly/3ZGEy5c. Copies of the documents will be made available 
upon request. 

The CAAPP is Illinois' operating permit program for major sources of emissions, as 
required by Title V of the Clean Air Act (Act). The conditions of CAAPP permits are 
enforceable by the public, as well as by the USEP A and Illinois EPA. In addition to 
implementing Title V of the Act, CAAPP permits may contain "Title I Conditions," i.e., 
conditions established under the permit programs for new and modified emission units, 
pursuant to Title I of the Act. The permit contains no Tl conditions that are being newly 
established or revised by this application. 

The beginning of this public comment period also serves as the beginning date of the 
U.S. EPA 45 day review period, provided the U.S. EPA does not seek a separate 
proposed period. 



Champaign County 
Department of 

Brookens Administrative 
Center 

1776 E. Washington Street 
Urbana, Illinois 61802 

(217) 384-3708 
zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us 
www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning

PLANNING & 
ZONING 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

The petitioner would like to construct a 5-megawatt (MW) PV Solar Farm, which requires a County 
Board Special Use Permit.  

STATUS 

The Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) voted 4-3 to “RECOMMEND DENIAL” of this County Board Special 
Use Permit at its March 16, 2023 meeting.  

• Those voting in opposition noted that the PV Solar Farm was too close to the Village of Homer and
would not be compatible with adjacent uses and its proximity would be injurious to the
neighborhood or to the public health, safety and welfare.

To: Champaign County Environment & Land Use Committee 

From: John Hall, Zoning Administrator 
Susan Burgstrom, Senior Planner 

Date: March 27, 2023 

RE: Recommendation for County Board Special Use Permit 
Case 074-S-22 

Request: Authorize a Community PV Solar Farm with a total nameplate 
capacity of 5 megawatts (MW), including access roads and wiring, 
in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture Zoning Districts, and including 
the following waivers of standard conditions: 

Part A:  A waiver for a distance of 0 feet between a PV Solar 
Farm and a municipal boundary in lieu of the minimum 
required one-half mile (2,640 feet), per Section 6.1.5 B.(2)a. of 
the Zoning Ordinance. 

Part B: A waiver for not providing a Decommissioning and 
Site Reclamation Plan that includes cost estimates prepared 
by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer prior to 
consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per 
Section 6.1.1 A.3. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Part C: A waiver for not entering into a Roadway Upgrade 
and Maintenance Agreement or waiver therefrom with the 
relevant local highway authority prior to consideration of the 
Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 G. of the 
Zoning Ordinance.   

Part D: A waiver for not completing consultation with the 
State Historic Preservation Officer of the Illinois Department 
of Natural Resources prior to consideration of the Special Use 
Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 K. of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Petitioner: Medanos Solar LLC, via agent Kiera Gavin 

18

mailto:zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us
file://asdctdc1/zoning/schavarria/Map%20Amendment/Text%20Amendment/733-AT-12%20ZA/www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning


2      Case 074-S-22 
Medanos Solar 

MARCH 27, 2023 
 

• Those voting in favor cited that the petitioner has made numerous changes to the Site Plan that
mitigated concerns raised by the Village, including adding vegetative screening, noise reduction
fencing around inverters, moving power poles away from the village hall, and moving the solar farm
farther north away from the village.

The subject property is located within the one and one-half mile extraterritorial jurisdiction of the Village 
of Homer, a municipality with zoning. The subject property is located within South Homer Township, 
which does not have a Plan Commission.  

A PV Solar Farm County Board Special Use Permit typically must go through two ELUC meetings before 
it can move on to final determination by the County Board. However, Section 6.1.5 B(2)(g) of the Zoning 
Ordinance allows the project to only have one ELUC meeting if the relevant municipality waives this 
requirement in writing. The Village of Homer has not waived this requirement, so two ELUC meetings are 
necessary. 

There are 13 approved special conditions for case 074-S-22 listed below. 

PUBLIC INPUT RECEIVED 

(1) At the December 29, 2023 ZBA meeting, cross-examination of the petitioner’s agent
touched on concerns about noise, visual blight, the possibility of increasing setbacks to
residential neighbors, property values, vegetation management, decommissioning plan,
screening, and protection of drainage tile.

(2) On January 26, 2023, Village of Homer Resolution 2023 – R-2 opposing the solar farm
project was received (Attachment C). The Resolution listed the following reasons for
opposing the development:
a. The Solar Project is in very close proximity to the Village precluding natural and

desirable development in one of the limited directions for expansion for the Village
and contrary to Village plans.

b. The Solar Project will create noise from its inverters and any transformer thereby
being a nuisance.

c. Due to its proximity to the Village, the Solar Project will create visual blight
reducing views, disrupt local habitat, and expose those in proximity to
electromagnetic waves/radiation which do not already exist.

d. The Solar Project will negatively affect area property values.

(3) At the February 16, 2023 ZBA meeting, the following testimony was received:
a. Ted Hartke testified regarding concerns about noise and the location of power poles

adjacent to the Village Hall.

b. Jim White, Interim Mayor of Homer, testified regarding concerns about the
location of the power poles adjacents to the Village Hall and screening for the solar
farm.

19



Case 074-S-22 3 
Medanos Solar 
MARCH 27, 2023 

(4) At the March 2, 2023 ZBA meeting, the following testimony was received:
a. Suzanne Smith said she appreciated all the proposed upgrades. She asked about the

types of plants that would be used in the vegetative screening and asked if plants
would be replaced if they die. She asked about the noise fence and its durability for
the life of the project. She said she lives on a farm north of the subject property.
She said she is an advocate for renewable energy but hopes that time will be taken
to learn about the solar industry. She said our area is being inundated by wind and
solar projects and she hopes we take time to understand these things prior to
making decisions. She expressed concerns about waiving regulations such as the
waiver for locating within one-half mile of a municipality. She said that
decommissioning plans are very important and she hopes there will be a very
thorough decommissioning plan so they will not be left with a mess of a retired
solar array in the future.

(5) At the March 16, 2023 ZBA meeting, the following testimony was received:
a. Jim White, Mayor of Homer, said that he appreciated the changes that had been

made to the site plan, but speaking on behalf of the Village, the proposed PV Solar
Farm was not wanted. He cited continued concerns about visual blight, protection
of drainage tile, and limiting the growth of the Village.

APPROVED SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR CASE 074-S-22 

A. The approved site plan consists of the following documents:
• Revised Site Plan received February 28, 2023.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:   
The constructed PV SOLAR FARM is consistent with the special use permit 
approval. 

B. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit Application or
issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate on the subject property until the lighting
specifications in Paragraph 6.1.2.A. of the Zoning Ordinance have been met.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That exterior lighting for the proposed Special Use meets the requirements 
established for Special Uses in the Zoning Ordinance.  

C. The Zoning Administrator shall not issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate for the
proposed PV SOLAR FARM until the petitioner has demonstrated that the proposed
Special Use complies with the Illinois Accessibility Code, if necessary.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That the proposed Special Use meets applicable state requirements for 
accessibility.  

D. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit until the
petitioner submits a copy of an executed Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement

20



4      Case 074-S-22 
Medanos Solar 

MARCH 27, 2023 
 

with the Illinois Department of Agriculture per the requirements established in 
Paragraph 6.1.5 R. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:   
That the land affected by PV SOLAR FARM is restored to its pre-
construction capabilities. 

E.  A signed Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that has been approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee is required at the time of application for a
Zoning Use Permit that complies with Section 6.1.1 A. and Section 6.1.5 Q. of the
Zoning Ordinance, including a decommissioning cost estimate prepared by an Illinois
Professional Engineer.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
The Special Use Permit complies with Ordinance requirements and as 
authorized by waiver. 

F. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received from the Village) A Roadway Upgrade and
Maintenance Agreement signed by the Village of Homer and approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee, shall be submitted at the time of application
for a Zoning Use Permit.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure full compliance with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance in a timely 
manner that meets the needs of the applicant. 

G. The following submittals are required prior to the approval of any Zoning Use Permit
for a PV SOLAR FARM:
1. Documentation of the solar module’s unlimited 10-year warranty and the 25-

year limited power warranty.

2. Certification by an Illinois Professional Engineer that any relocation of
drainage district tile conforms to the Champaign County Storm Water
Management and Erosion Control Ordinance.

3. An irrevocable letter of credit to be drawn upon a federally insured financial
institution with a minimum acceptable long term corporate debt (credit)
rating of the proposed financial institution shall be a rating of “A” by S&P or
a rating of “A2” by Moody’s or a rating of “A-” by Kroll’s within 200 miles of
Urbana or reasonable anticipated travel costs shall be added to the amount of
the letter of credit.

4. A permanent soil erosion and sedimentation plan for the PV SOLAR FARM
including any access road that conforms to the relevant Natural Resources
Conservation Service guidelines and that is prepared by an Illinois Licensed
Professional Engineer.

21



Case 074-S-22 5 
Medanos Solar 
MARCH 27, 2023 

5. Documentation regarding the seed to be used for the pollinator planting, per
6.1.5 F.(9).

6. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received) A Transportation Impact Analysis
provided by the applicant that is mutually acceptable to the Applicant and the
County Engineer and State’s Attorney; or Township Highway Commissioner;
or municipality where relevant, as required by 6.1.5 G. 2.

7. An agency action report from the State Historic Preservation Office regarding
historic and archaeological resources review, as required by 6.1.5 K.

8. The telephone number for the complaint hotline required by 6.1.5 S.

9. Any updates to the approved Site Plan from Case 074-S-22 per the Site Plan
requirements provided in Section 6.1.5 U.1.c.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:   
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed consistent with the Special Use Permit 
approval and in compliance with the Ordinance requirements.   

H. A Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be required for the PV SOLAR FARM prior
to going into commercial production of energy.  Approval of a Zoning Compliance
Certificate shall require the following:
1. An as-built site plan of the PV SOLAR FARM including structures, property

lines (including identification of adjoining properties), as-built separations,
public access road and turnout locations, substation(s), electrical cabling from
the PV SOLAR FARM to the substations(s), and layout of all structures within
the geographical boundaries of any applicable setback.

2. As-built documentation of all permanent soil erosion and sedimentation
improvements for all PV SOLAR FARM including any access road prepared
by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer.

3. An executed interconnection agreement with the appropriate electric utility as
required by Section 6.1.5 B.(3)b.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:   
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed consistent with the special use permit 
approval and in compliance with the Ordinance requirements.   

I. The Applicant or Owner or Operator of the PV SOLAR FARM shall comply with the
following specific requirements that apply even after the PV SOLAR FARM goes into
commercial operation:
1. Maintain the pollinator plantings in perpetuity.

2. Cooperate with local Fire Protection District to develop the District’s
emergency response plan as required by 6.1.5 H.(2).

22



6      Case 074-S-22 
Medanos Solar 

MARCH 27, 2023 
 

3. Cooperate fully with Champaign County and in resolving any noise
complaints including reimbursing Champaign County any costs for the
services of a qualified noise consultant pursuant to any proven violation of the
I.P.C.B. noise regulations as required by 6.1.5 I.(4).

4. Maintain a current general liability policy as required by 6.1.5 O.

5. Submit annual summary of operation and maintenance reports to the
Environment and Land Use Committee as required by 6.1.5 P.(1)a.

6. Maintain compliance with the approved Decommissioning and Site
Reclamation Plan including financial assurances.

7. Submit to the Zoning Administrator copies of all complaints to the telephone
hotline on a monthly basis and take all necessary actions to resolve all
legitimate complaints as required by 6.1.5 S.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:   
Future requirements are clearly identified for all successors of title, lessees, 
any operator and/or owner of the PV SOLAR FARM.  

J. The PV SOLAR FARM COUNTY Board SPECIAL USE Permit designation shall
expire in 10 years if no Zoning Use Permit is granted.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed in compliance with the Ordinance 
requirements.   

K. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of
agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
Conformance with Policy 4.2.3 of the Land Resource Management Plan.  

L. Within the boundary of the solar farm, the petitioner shall:
1. Complete a survey identifying all drainage tile and stake off all tile

encountered prior to construction;

2. Replace or repair all privately owned underground drainage tile that are
identified and encountered consistent with both the Champaign County Storm
Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance and with the Agriculture
Impact Mitigation Agreement; and

3. No Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be authorized by the Zoning
Administrator until all required “as-built” drawings showing the location of
all drainage tile within the boundary of the solar farm have been filed with the

23



Case 074-S-22 7 
Medanos Solar 
MARCH 27, 2023 

Illinois Department of Agriculture and the Champaign County Soil and Water 
Conservation District.  

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
To ensure conformance with all relevant requirements for replacement of 
underground drainage tile within the area of the special use permit. 

M. The petitioner shall maintain the privately owned underground drainage tiles within
the boundary of the solar farm for the lifetime of the special use permit including any
repairs that may be necessary for up to one year after decommissioning and site
reclamation.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure maintenance of underground drainage tile within the area of the 
special use permit for the lifetime of the special use permit. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A Case Maps (Location, Land Use, Zoning) 

B Revised Site Plan received February 28, 2023 

C Village of Homer Resolution of Protest received January 26, 2023 

D Finding of Fact and Final Determination for Case 074-S-22 as approved by the ZBA on March 16, 
2023 

24



26
00

E

27
00

E

28
00

E

1050N

1175N

1250N

1000N

1200N

1100N
S 

M
ai

n 
S

t

1025N

S Hom
er Lake Rd

W First St

Flicker Dr

26
50

E

27
48

E

1200N

28
00

E

1050N

27
00

E

25
00

E
25

00
E

N
 M

ai
n 

S
t

E Second St

1150N

1225N

Salt Fork River

HomerHomer

´

Location Map

0 0.25 0.50.125
Miles

Salt F
ork

 River

Little Vermilion River

Co
nk

ey
 Br

an
ch

§̈¦74

24
00

E

700N

I-74 E I-74 W

900N

23
00

E

28
00

E

27
00

E

22
00

E

800N

25
00

E

21
25

E

600N

1050N

26
00

E

1300N

26
50

E

25
50

EHomer Lake Rd

1100N

1000N

1600N

1350N

750N

1175N

23
50

E

22
50

E

1200N

1150N

1400N

23
75

E

1225N

1550N

22
75

E

E Warren St

1500N

1150N

1200N

28
00

E

22
00

E

600N

28
00

E

800N

27
00

E

25
00

E

¬«49

")14

")13

St Joseph

Homer

Ogden

Sidney

Subject Property Property location in Champaign County

0 1 20.5
MilesSubject Properties

Parcels

Municipal Boundary

Fenced solar area (approx)

Case 074-S-22
December 29, 2022

£¤150

VE
R

M
IL

IO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
VE

R
M

IL
IO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

VE
R

M
IL

IO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
VE

R
M

IL
IO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 1 of 3

25

D 
J 
•• -■ -. 

i •• ■- ~ 

Champaign County 
Department of 



¬«49

")15 NORFOLK SOUTHERN R.R.

26
00

E

1175N

27
00

E

28
00

E

1050N

1100N

W First St

W Third St

W Fourth St

E First St

E Second St

N
 M

ai
n 

S
t

N
 E

lle
n 

S
t

S 
M

ai
n 

S
t

S 
E

lle
n 

S
t

N
 W

es
t S

t

N
 E

as
t S

t

E Coffeen St

E Mary St

N
 C

hu
rc

h 
S

t

S 
W

es
t S

t

N
 W

hi
te

 S
tH o m erH o m er

´

Land Use Map

0 600 1,200300
Feet

Case 074-S-22
December 29, 2022

Subject Properties

Municipal Boundary

Parcels

Fenced solar area (approx)

Agriculture

Residential

Utility

VE
R

M
IL

IO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
VE

R
M

IL
IO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 2 of 3

26

CJ ,,.. .. -.. 
■ I '-··--

CJ 
1111 
1111 

··-· .l 

rJ 
■-----■■---■ ··---··-··---··-J!-" .. 

Champaign County 
Department of 



¬«49

26
00

E

1175N

27
00

E

28
00

E

1050N

1100N

W First St

W Third St

W Fourth St

E First St

E Second StN
 M

ai
n 

St
W Second St

E Coffeen St

S 
M

ai
n 

S
t

S 
E

lle
n 

St

Ka
y 

D
r

S 
Ly

nn
 S

t

S 
W

es
t S

t

G
le

nd
al

e 
D

r
N

 W
hite St

Sc
ho

ol
vi

ew
 D

r
N

 M
ild

re
d 

St

")15

")15

H o m e rH o m e r

´

Zoning Map

0 600 1,200300
Feet

Subject Properties

Municipal Boundary

Fenced solar area (approx)

CR Conservation Recreation

AG-1 Agriculture

AG-2 Agriculture

R-1 Single Family Residence

B-4 General Business

Case 074-S-22
December 29, 2022

VE
R

M
IL

IO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
VE

R
M

IL
IO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

Case 922-S-18
SUP for community
PV Solar Farm
Approved 1/31/19

Case 833-AM-16
Rezoning AG-2 to B-4
Approved 8/18/16

Case 126-AM-97
Rezoning AG-1 to B-4
Approved 1/20/98

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 3 of 3

27

CJ 1111 
---■■--- 1111 ■ I 
'-•■-r/J 

~ 1111 

r··-.. -··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-·· : 
I 

! .... 
I 
I 

··-··· .l 

1111 
1111 

:-·j 
..... i 

! 
! 

··-· i i i ,.. : 

i...■-■•-··-··-··' 

Champaign County 
Department of 



COUNTY RD 1100 N

C
U

LT
IV

AT
E 

PO
W

ER
M

ED
AN

O
S 

SO
LA

R
,

LL
C

©

Jason C. Cooper

Date of Expiration: 11-30-23

062-066282

EX-1

VICINITY MAP

SCALE 1" = 2000'

PROJECT LOCATION

NORTH

COUNTY ROAD 1100

ST
AT

E 
R

O
U

TE
 4

9

SITE DATA TABLE
LEGEND

IL-251

ZO
N

IN
G

 S
IT

E
PL

AN
(O

PT
IO

N
 2

)
C

U
LT

IV
AT

E
PO

W
ER

PLANT_SCHEDULE

NOTES

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment B Page 1 of 1

28

PROPERTYUNE(PER 
Clj""!PAIGl<CO<.JNTYGIS) 

Rl~T Of'WAY 
(ASWMED) 

(M'PRO)<IIIATE) 

E)l DR/JNTll.EC(:RRIDOf! 
(APPROXIMATE) 

51:TBACK(ASSIJIIED) 

- R/W-----

( )lQ\oERHEA.OELECTRI C - EXOHE -
(F'E~ AERIAL) 

E)lfLOW(DIRECTOI 
ANOSLOPE) --=--

0 

D 

l2l 
PR. 11!:GETATl\oE !k.lf'FE~ ~ 

PROPOSED NOISE FENCE DETAIi 

Trex·Seclusions· sRF::.-.. 

Composite:;c~ hr 1.,.:::;:..,,• 
.g, D • • / ..... =-... ' 

-~ "':" ==ii □ ' ... . 
• • - • TT ' .. . 

:;;;: :: 
: : -
;;;_ -
=- -.,. 

-;-;; • 
, __ ,, __ _ 
·::..-=-....:==-=-:=.:-= ---

TREX SECLUSIONS FENCING PROFILE VIEW 

=:=:::.=-.::=--===- ~ ,._ ~ 

!i I ! 
·, 

2710COUNTY ll011 00 N, f!OMER.L&13'9 

SOUi>< IKMER, L 01"48•<)<""'PAIClNC<UITY 

• z~•NCSITEPI.AN ISBEINGSUBMITTE0FOllSPECIALUSEPERIIITT0 
CONSTRI.ICT/OF'ERATE ASOlAR FARM ENtllOYSYSTDI 

1. l1£ P\JRPOSE'X lHISPIMIS ""SPC<:IAI. US£~ W>N'l'ROVAI.HY CH...,,,. ... OJI.NTY ro co,,.11,,•:1 •""'""" '"'"....,.,.. ,,..,.., 
2. lllS.,_,,.. W,..Plt0DUCEl)U11J1lMO<:ISA£""""""'-"""""'TIONf"""'MUI.TIPI.£ 

...-oio,,,,iio,, OCHAAIPA<>N<XU<TY.""""--E[Mllt,""°USOS--0 

J. SUO.CCTPROPERTYDOCSMOT l£ .. 111N ASPECAl.fl.OOO H>ZAADASSl<O'ON OH l1£ 
Fl.OOlllfSUIWf<:l:R>TEMAl'(IXlllllll,.TYPANEl. 11010CMOOO)PUIIUSIEl8V TII[ 
rID[•AI.BE<OD«:Y W•l<AO,:"°'T ""°"""(ITWAi 

t.111: LOCATIONS 'XPIIQ>OSEC"'""""'"°'T!, IHCUOIIG !IIJTNOT UIIITOTO:rnlCNG. 

~===~:&t:Fa5fi.~::3TI~~ 
S.PROJl:CTAAU,.N<:l.l.lOffl)(;(:<ISTIIUCT1<:IIST•C,NG AAUS,..U.!ltCl.£AAEOW> 

"""""°AS NEC£SSNtY,O[JAMMl:Pll[- OE'ol"'°""""'°""""""PU11'••SRl TI<[ 
ll£ST[X][HJPOSS8.LOONSlllUCTl0NST,....G-AA£ASSU8LCTRlRUTTNG - •GCCNslRUCTICfl .... l[ lDIPO, .. ,..c,sr ... uuc .. lH OIIA\U 5011. C"""'TICHS 
.. Otwf'<IE>HCO,,OS .. U.DETElblll'EF't'All>E!a<lf' 

O. ALLOIIENSIONSSH-AA[AT OODE<HESUNUSS0TIIER .. S£MOm>. 

T. OON1RACTOft 9<ALL CALL AT LUST>? >IOURS-:ARl8E-OONST!l.lCIIOHCA 
D:CAVATIONRlH>¥[[....,,.GU1WJTl[5L!)""°'T10MALLY,C""TltACTOR ... All. 
OONTACTANYL.OCN..U11JTl[5 lHM PIIO"""llDI0 .. LOCATORS£""<£S. 

0. 00N1RACTOft 9<ALL W .... T .... ACCE$SW, U11.JTYSO-..CCSTQ .. yrt[W .... Jt(: 
....,,..C(S)""""-"""•l m lS)OIR<>..<:HOJ TJ11[ D£MOJ TIOH
OONSlRUCTION"""SES.OOSl"NG.,Plt<MIIENTIID....,.,DCIUllHOOONSllllCl1°"Sl<ALL 

~l>OU: "" lH< O,,....o,:["'l15fACllOH 0fl1£°"""'8Y M C°"lRAClOO 

. 11£ C°"lRACTORSHALL!EF\llY A£SPOHSlOU:TQPIIO~D[SICM5,B"""""""'• 

~"'=~~~11€~~~::=":r.,,=·=oc,,ca. 
10 S,T!:'"'--'-H,V[ NO CEDCAT10MSf"OROPEJ<>PACC.,...TU• AI.NtU,.IOS"'"1C 

""-""'•C(S)/STltUCT\JM(S), °"S"""'W>lD! W-<NTFACIU TU. 

11. STOl< .... A11'1! M- Cl'IIENT r"""-""" Rl 8E""""DmASO[QJlltmftYCOJNT1' 

0£WIID'D'lll ro 8E Ot:""""IHD> DUtftG F't'Al D<(:IN<DtftG. (....,.S) PE"""""O 

1~.KTIIAC><S9<00NOHlHIS.,_,,..AACBASCD°"C><Mf'"'Gf'COJMT1'COOE0f 
"""""""'-"'CTIOHror t,OHTCOLllrmJNT1'."- """""'"'""'""-""""'"CY 
,......_ .. D sa.Nt GRAC£ 00Nl)IT10MS 

1'.AlL M[C£SS""YPEIIMITSl'CASOl.EIIO$IOM OON TROl-OAl>t'WAY COMSTlll!CTI°" 
.. U..,Ol!TAINECAS•""'"'"""'-,_rn1NC......,....,.roca,s111tJCT10M 

17.1.J<KlllCAPElll..f'fU - MACIIEENll'EES""0I.AAOEDEOCIUOUSl>fUISTQIIE 
N$TAll.EO""OtJNJ11£ ...... t11'• CX 11£ l>TE 1ll<Dl[ [l0$11N(;',COCTAIIOH IS MOT 
SUTAll.£fCAfUlUR[5CA£INll0.Pll<lPOS[J)¥[<£T•IIOHSP£CUlAA[SUIIJ[C1Rl 
<1<"""8AS£D°" ... "'-"""°" .. OI.OCAI.AV"'IJJ!IUTY . 

RECEIVED 
FEB28, 2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

C: 
~ 

0 
::c 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 1 of 6

29

January 24, 2023 

Dear Mr. Hall, 

Vtllageof HO.MER 
500 E.\ST SECo>s.:D STREET• Hm1rn, lLu:--; 01s 618-1-9 • Tr,:u.::PJ 10:--:~ (217) 896-2521 

E-mail: ,·illageofhomer@6>mai1.com • F,x (217) 8%-2559 
\X'cbsite: homen-illage.com 

Thi..- I 11.rtit11!io11 i.,· t111 1:q11,1/ Oppor!1111itr Pro,id,r ,111d I'.111plorei: 

RECEIVED 
JAN 2 6 2023 

CHAMPAIGN CO. P & Z DEPARTMENT 

Enclosed is a Resolution that was passed on January 23, 2023 by the Village of Homer Board of Trustees 

in opposition of the proposed solar farm North East of the Village adjacent to Village Property. 

Sincerely, 

Jim White, Mayor 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 2 of 6

30

VILLAGE OF HOMER 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - R-2 

RECEIVED 
JAN 2 6 2023 

CHAMPAIGN CO. p & z DEPARTMENT 

A RESOLUTION OBJECTING TO A PROPOSED SOLAR FARM PURSUANT TO 
55 ILCS 5/5-120/4 AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAW 

Adopted by the 
Board of Trustees of the Village of Homer 

this 23rd day of January 2023 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Homer, Champaign County, Illinois, this 23rd day of January 2023. 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 3 of 6

31

Resolution No. 2023-R-2 

VILLAGE OF HOMER 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

January 23, 2023 

A RESOLUTION OBJECTING TO A PROPOSED SOLAR FARM PURSUANT TO 
55 ILCS 5/5-120/4 AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAW 

WHEREAS, the Village of Homer, Champaign County, State of Illinois (the "Village") is a duly 
organized and existing Village created under the provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, and is 
now operating under the provisions of the Illinois Municipal Code, and all laws amendatory thereof 
and supplementary thereto with full powers to enact ordinances and resolutions for the benefit of the 
residents of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Homer previously established the Village of Homer Zoning Ordinance, 
the Village of Homer Subdivision Ordinance and a Village Comprehensive Plan encompassing the 
one-and-a-half-mile area outside of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to ILCS 5/11-12-4, the Illinois Constitution, applicable case law and all other 
laws, the Village has extra-territorial jurisdiction over the territory extending 1.5 miles from the 
Village corporate limits; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a meetings held by the Champaign County ELUC in 2022 with plans for 
upcoming meetings in 2023 all relating to a proposed SOLAR GARDEN/SOLAR FARM/SOLAR 
DEVELOPMENT ("Solar Project") located within the Village of Homer extraterritorial jurisdiction; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Solar Project is also located within the½ mile perimeter of the Village and is 
almost contiguous to the Village boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, approval of the Solar Project by the County of Champaign may require potential text 
amendments and/or other processes of approval by the County; and 

WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/5-12014 (b) provides that text amendments to a County Zoning Ordinance 
must be approved by a" ... favorable vote of¾ of all the members of the county board ... in the case 
of a proposed text amendment to the Zoning Ordinance, by resolution of the corporate authorities of 
the zoned municipality with limits nearest adjacent, filed with the county clerk ... "; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Homer desires to put on record its objection to said Solar Project; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 55 ILCS 5/5-12014 and other applicable law, the Village of Homer is 
entitled, by the within Resolution, to provide this written protest of any approval of said Solar 
Project and its written protest of any proposed text amendment or other amendment related thereto 
thereby triggering said ¾ vote of all of the members of the County Board to approve any such 
amendment; and 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 4 of 6

32

WHEREAS, the public address for Champaign County is listed as 1779 E. Washington Street, 
Urbana, Illinois 61802; and 

WHEREAS, the Attorney representing Champaign County is its State's Attorney, nJLIA RIETZ 
with a publicly posted address of 101 E. Main Street #2, Urbana, Illinois 61801; and 

WHEREAS, in support of the within Village of Homer objection to the above referenced Solar 
Project and any related amendments and/or zoning changes, the Village asserts that: 

A. The Solar Project is in very close proximity to the Village precluding natural and desirable 
development in one of the limited directions for expansion for the Village and contrary to 
Village plans. 

B. The Solar Project will create noise from its inverters and any transformer thereby being a 
nmsance. 

C. Due to its proximity to the Village, the Solar Project will create visual blight reducing views, 
disrupt local habitat, and expose those in proximity to electromagnetic waves/radiation which do 
not already exist. 

D. The Solar Project will negatively affect area property values. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF HOMER, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

1. The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Homer hereby find that all recitals 
hereinbefore stated as contained in the preambles to this Resolution are full, true and correct and do 
hereby, by reference, incorporate and make them part of this Resolution. 

2. The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Homer hereby decree, pursuant to 55 ILCS 
5/5-12014, County ordinances, and other applicable law, that the Village of Homer and its Board of 
Trustees objects to approval of the Solar Project and any text, ordinance or other amendment to the 
Champaign County Zoning Ordinance. 

3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon passage and approval, as provided by the 
Illinois Municipal Code, as amended. 

4. The Village Clerk is hereby directed and authorized to file a copy of the within Resolution with• 
the Champaign County Clerk with a copy to be sent to JOHN HALL, Zoning Administrator as 
Petitioner/Applicant by certified mail at 1776 E. Washington Street, Urbana, Illinois 61802 with an 
informational copy to also be mailed to him by USPS First Class Mail with an informational copy to 
also be sent to nJLIA REITZ as his attorney as being JULIA REITZ, State's Attorney, 101 E. Main 
Street #2, Urbana, Illinois 61801 by certified mail and also by USPS First Class Mail. 

5. The Village Board President is further authorized to direct, carry out, and/or perform such actions 
as are necessary, in his opinion, to carry out this Resolution and its underlying intent. 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 5 of 6

33

The foregoing R~lution was moved by {/)ikf -:5-ohosP 11 , seconded by 
..Sj;.; p Ja tn es and appfoved by roll call vote: 

Trustee Aye Nay 

Guy James, Trustee 

Skip James, Trustee 

Mike Johnson, Trustee 

Ray Ryerson, Trustee 

John Dodd, Trustee 

Herb Lacey, Trustee 

President, Jim White 

Approved this 23rd day of January 2023. 

APPROVED: 

Ji ·te 
Village President 

ATTEST: 

~ 
Sharon Jeffers 
Village Clerk 



Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment C Page 6 of 6

34

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF CHAMPAIGN 

) 

) ss 
) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, Sharon Jeffers, certify that I am the duly appointed and acting municipal clerk of the 
Village of Homer, Champaign County Illinois. 

I further certify that on January 23, 2023 the Corporate Authorities of such municipality 
passed and approved Resolution No. 2023-R-2 entitled: 

A RESOLUTION OBJECTING TO A PROPOSED SOLAR FARM PURSUANT TO 
55 ILCS 5/5-120/4 AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAW 

I further certify that the attached copy of said resolution is a true and correct copy of said resolution, 
as appears from the records of the Village of Homer, Illinois. 
DATED at Homer, Illinois, this 23rd day of January 2023 . 

. ~ M-lfa✓ 
SharonJef7s 
Village Clerk 
Village of Homer, Illinois 



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

From the documents of record and the testimony and exhibits received at the public hearing for zoning case 
074-S-22 held on December 29, 2022, February 16, 2023, March 2, 2023 and March 16, 2023, the
Zoning Board of Appeals of Champaign County finds that:

1. The requested Special Use Permit IS necessary for the public convenience at this location because:
the State of Illinois has adopted a Renewable Portfolio Standard that established a goal of 25% of
the State’s energy coming from renewable sources by the year 2025. The Illinois Future Energy
Jobs Act requires installation of 3,000 MW of new solar capacity by the year 2030.There is an
existing power line along the south side of CR 1100N (County Highway 15) where they can attach
themselves to the grid.

2. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED
HEREIN, is so designed, located, and proposed to be operated so that it WILL NOT be injurious
to the district in which it shall be located or otherwise detrimental to the public health, safety, and
welfare because:
a. The street has ADEQUATE traffic capacity and the entrance location has ADEQUATE

visibility.

b. Emergency services availability is ADEQUATE because: the subject properties are
approximately 0.5 mile from the Village of Homer fire station. In an email received
November 21, 2022, Fire Chief Don Happ acknowledged receipt of the site plan for the
proposed PV Solar Farm. The Homer Fire Protection District was notified of this case and
no comments have been received.

c. The Special Use WILL NOT be compatible with adjacent uses because: a resolution of
protest was received from the Village of Homer on January 26, 2023, citing
incompatibility concerns with the proximity of the project to the village. Input received at
public hearings everyone voiced concerns about that.

d. Surface and subsurface drainage will be ADEQUATE because: no part of the subject
property is in the Special Flood Hazard Area. The proposed project must comply with the
Storm Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance. The petitioners, in coordination
with the Village of Homer, have established a drain tile corridor and setback for the village
tile that crosses the subject property.

e. Public safety will be ADEQUATE because: Homer Fire Protection District has already
been working and has their comments as far as training and what they’re asking for.

f. The provisions for parking will be ADEQUATE because: no parking is required for a PV
SOLAR FARM.

g. The property IS NOT WELL SUITED OVERALL for the proposed improvements due to
its proximity to the Village of Homer.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 1 of 13

35



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

h. Existing public services ARE available to support the proposed SPECIAL USE without
undue public expense because: no additional public services are necessary for the proposed
development.

i. Existing public infrastructure together with the proposed development IS adequate to
support the proposed development effectively and safely without undue public expense
because: no new public infrastructure is required for the proposed development.

(Note the Board may include other relevant considerations as necessary or desirable in each case.) 
*The Board may include additional justification if desired, but it is not required.

3a. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED 
HEREIN, DOES conform to the applicable regulations and standards of the DISTRICT in which 
it is located, subject to approval of the requested waivers. 

3b. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED 
HEREIN, DOES preserve the essential character of the DISTRICT in which it is located because: 
a. The Special Use will be designed to CONFORM to all relevant County ordinances and

codes.
b. The Special Use WILL be compatible with adjacent uses.
c. Public safety will be ADEQUATE.

4. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED
HEREIN, IS in harmony with the general purpose and intent of the Ordinance because:
a. The Special Use is authorized in the District.
b. The requested Special Use Permit IS NOT necessary for the public convenience at this

location.
c. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS

IMPOSED HEREIN, is so designed, located, and proposed to be operated so that it
WILL NOT be injurious to the district in which it shall be located or otherwise
detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare.

d. The requested Special Use Permit, SUBJECT TO THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS
IMPOSED HEREIN, DOES preserve the essential character of the DISTRICT in which
it is located.

5. The requested Special Use IS NOT an existing nonconforming use.

6. Regarding necessary waivers of standard conditions:

Per Section 7.15 of the Champaign County ZBA Bylaws, “waivers may be approved individually or
en masse by the affirmative vote of a majority of those members voting on the issue, and shall be
incorporated into the Findings of Fact with the reason for granting each waiver described.”
A. Regarding Part A of the proposed waivers, for a distance of 0 feet between a PV Solar

Farm and a municipal boundary in lieu of the minimum required one-half mile (2,640
feet):
(1) The waiver IS NOT in accordance with the general purpose and intent of the

Zoning Ordinance and WILL be injurious to the neighborhood or to the public

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 2 of 13

36



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

health, safety, and welfare because: the petitioners have held public meetings with 
the Village of Homer Board of Trustees, and concerns have not been resolved. 

(2) Special conditions and circumstances DO exist which are peculiar to the land or
structure involved, which are not applicable to other similarly situated land and
structures elsewhere in the same district because: on January 26, 2023, Village of
Homer Resolution 2023 – R-2 opposing the solar farm project was received. At
ZBA meetings, testimony touched on concerns about noise, visual blight, the
possibility of increasing setbacks to residential neighbors, property values,
vegetation management, decommissioning plan, screening, power pole locations,
and protection of drainage tile.

(3) Practical difficulties or hardships created by carrying out the strict letter of the
regulations sought to be varied WILL prevent reasonable or otherwise permitted
use of the land or structure or construction because: without Part A of the proposed
waivers, the applicant would have to consider a different configuration for the PV
SOLAR FARM only on the eastern 197-acre subject property. Without the waiver,
the applicant would not have restrictions according to Public Act 102-1123.

(4) The special conditions, circumstances, hardships, or practical difficulties DO result
from actions of the applicant because: the petitioners have held public meetings
with the Village of Homer Board of Trustees, and the petitioners have made
adjustments to their site plan based on concerns raised by the Village Board. The
petitioner has also held meetings at the ZBA. The solar array could be moved to a
location farther away from the Village of Homer.

(5) The requested waiver, SUBJECT TO THE PROPOSED SPECIAL
CONDITION, IS NOT the minimum variation that will make possible the
reasonable use of the land/structure because: the solar array can be moved farther
away from the Village boundaries.

B. Regarding Part B of the proposed waivers, for not providing a Decommissioning and Site
Reclamation Plan that includes cost estimates prepared by an Illinois Licensed Professional
Engineer prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board:
(1) The waiver IS in accordance with the general purpose and intent of the Zoning

Ordinance and WILL NOT be injurious to the neighborhood or to the public
health, safety, and welfare because: the petitioner will still need to provide this
document prior to receiving a Zoning Use Permit.

(2) Special conditions and circumstances DO exist which are peculiar to the land or
structure involved, which are not applicable to other similarly situated land and
structures elsewhere in the same district because: cost estimates for the DSRP are
unique to each solar project.

(3) Practical difficulties or hardships created by carrying out the strict letter of the
regulations sought to be varied WILL prevent reasonable or otherwise permitted
use of the land or structure or construction because: the Special Use Permit process
might have to be extended in order to have sufficient time to prepare these

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 3 of 13

37



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

documents, and they might lack the accuracy that can only be secured in the 
construction permitting phase. 

(4) The special conditions, circumstances, hardships, or practical difficulties DO NOT
result from actions of the applicant because: some details such as cost estimates are
not available until closer to construction.

(5) The requested waiver, SUBJECT TO THE PROPOSED SPECIAL
CONDITION, IS the minimum variation that will make possible the reasonable
use of the land/structure.

C. Regarding Part C of the proposed waivers, for not entering into a Roadway Upgrade and
Maintenance Agreement or waiver therefrom with the relevant local highway authority
prior to consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board:
(1) The waiver IS in accordance with the general purpose and intent of the Zoning

Ordinance and WILL NOT be injurious to the neighborhood or to the public
health, safety, and welfare because: the petitioner will still need to provide this
documentation prior to receiving a Zoning Use Permit.

(2) Special conditions and circumstances DO exist which are peculiar to the land or
structure involved, which are not applicable to other similarly situated land and
structures elsewhere in the same district because: the petitioner has been working
with the Village of Homer on either a waiver or a Roadway Upgrade and
Maintenance Agreement. A special condition has been added requiring the
applicant to submit a Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement or waiver
therefrom and approved by ELUC at the time of application for a Zoning Use
Permit from the Village of Homer.

(3) Practical difficulties or hardships created by carrying out the strict letter of the
regulations sought to be varied WILL prevent reasonable or otherwise permitted
use of the land or structure or construction because: the Special Use Permit process
might have to be extended in order to have sufficient time to prepare these
documents, and they might lack the accuracy that can only be secured in the
construction permitting phase.

(4) The special conditions, circumstances, hardships, or practical difficulties DO NOT
result from actions of the applicant because: the petitioner is working with the
Village of Homer to receive either an agreement or a waiver from the Village.

(5) The requested waiver, SUBJECT TO THE PROPOSED SPECIAL
CONDITION, IS the minimum variation that will make possible the reasonable
use of the land/structure.

D. Regarding Part D of the proposed waivers, for not completing consultation with the State
Historic Preservation Officer of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources prior to
consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board:
(1) The waiver IS in accordance with the general purpose and intent of the Zoning

Ordinance and WILL NOT be injurious to the neighborhood or to the public

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 4 of 13

38



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

health, safety, and welfare because: a special condition has been added that the 
petitioner must submit this information as part of their Zoning Use Permit 
application.  

(2) Special conditions and circumstances DO exist which are peculiar to the land or
structure involved, which are not applicable to other similarly situated land and
structures elsewhere in the same district because: the State Historic Preservation
Office is experiencing a backlog.

(3) Practical difficulties or hardships created by carrying out the strict letter of the
regulations sought to be varied WILL prevent reasonable or otherwise permitted
use of the land or structure or construction because: without the waiver, the Special
Use Permit process would have to be extended until the State Historic Preservation
Office overcomes its backlog.

(4) The special conditions, circumstances, hardships, or practical difficulties DO NOT
result from actions of the applicant because: the State Historic Preservation Office
is experiencing a backlog.

(5) The requested waiver, SUBJECT TO THE PROPOSED SPECIAL
CONDITION, IS the minimum variation that will make possible the reasonable
use of the land/structure.

7. THE SPECIAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED HEREIN ARE REQUIRED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CRITERIA FOR SPECIAL USE PERMITS AND FOR THE
PARTICULAR PURPOSES DESCRIBED BELOW:

A. The approved site plan consists of the following documents:
• Revised Site Plan received February 28, 2023.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
The constructed PV SOLAR FARM is consistent with the special use permit 
approval. 

B. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit Application or
issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate on the subject property until the lighting
specifications in Paragraph 6.1.2.A. of the Zoning Ordinance have been met.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That exterior lighting for the proposed Special Use meets the requirements 
established for Special Uses in the Zoning Ordinance.  

C. The Zoning Administrator shall not issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate for the
proposed PV SOLAR FARM until the petitioner has demonstrated that the proposed
Special Use complies with the Illinois Accessibility Code, if necessary.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 5 of 13

39



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

That the proposed Special Use meets applicable state requirements for 
accessibility.  

D. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit until the
petitioner submits a copy of an executed Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement
with the Illinois Department of Agriculture per the requirements established in
Paragraph 6.1.5 R. of the Zoning Ordinance.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That the land affected by PV SOLAR FARM is restored to its pre-
construction capabilities. 

E.  A signed Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that has been approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee is required at the time of application for a
Zoning Use Permit that complies with Section 6.1.1 A. and Section 6.1.5 Q. of the
Zoning Ordinance, including a decommissioning cost estimate prepared by an Illinois
Professional Engineer.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
The Special Use Permit complies with Ordinance requirements and as 
authorized by waiver. 

F. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received) A Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance
Agreement or waiver therefrom signed by the Village of Homer and approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee, shall be submitted at the time of application
for a Zoning Use Permit.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure full compliance with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance in a timely 
manner that meets the needs of the applicant. 

G. The following submittals are required prior to the approval of any Zoning Use Permit
for a PV SOLAR FARM:
1. Documentation of the solar module’s unlimited 10-year warranty and the 25-

year limited power warranty.

2. Certification by an Illinois Professional Engineer that any relocation of
drainage district tile conforms to the Champaign County Storm Water
Management and Erosion Control Ordinance.

3. An irrevocable letter of credit to be drawn upon a federally insured financial
institution with a minimum acceptable long term corporate debt (credit)
rating of the proposed financial institution shall be a rating of “A” by S&P or
a rating of “A2” by Moody’s or a rating of “A-” by Kroll’s within 200 miles of
Urbana or reasonable anticipated travel costs shall be added to the amount of
the letter of credit.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 6 of 13

40



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

4. A permanent soil erosion and sedimentation plan for the PV SOLAR FARM
including any access road that conforms to the relevant Natural Resources
Conservation Service guidelines and that is prepared by an Illinois Licensed
Professional Engineer.

5. Documentation regarding the seed to be used for the pollinator planting, per
6.1.5 F.(9).

6. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received) A Transportation Impact Analysis
provided by the applicant that is mutually acceptable to the Applicant and the
County Engineer and State’s Attorney; or Township Highway Commissioner;
or municipality where relevant, as required by 6.1.5 G. 2.

7. An agency action report from the State Historic Preservation Office regarding
historic and archaeological resources review, as required by 6.1.5 K.

8. The telephone number for the complaint hotline required by 6.1.5 S.

9. Any updates to the approved Site Plan from Case 074-S-22 per the Site Plan
requirements provided in Section 6.1.5 U.1.c.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed consistent with the Special Use Permit 
approval and in compliance with the Ordinance requirements.   

H. A Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be required for the PV SOLAR FARM prior
to going into commercial production of energy. Approval of a Zoning Compliance
Certificate shall require the following:
1. An as-built site plan of the PV SOLAR FARM including structures, property

lines (including identification of adjoining properties), as-built separations,
public access road and turnout locations, substation(s), electrical cabling from
the PV SOLAR FARM to the substations(s), and layout of all structures within
the geographical boundaries of any applicable setback.

2. As-built documentation of all permanent soil erosion and sedimentation
improvements for all PV SOLAR FARM including any access road prepared
by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer.

3. An executed interconnection agreement with the appropriate electric utility as
required by Section 6.1.5 B.(3)b.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed consistent with the special use permit 
approval and in compliance with the Ordinance requirements.   

I. The Applicant or Owner or Operator of the PV SOLAR FARM shall comply with the
following specific requirements that apply even after the PV SOLAR FARM goes into
commercial operation:
1. Maintain the pollinator plantings in perpetuity.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 7 of 13

41



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

2. Cooperate with local Fire Protection District to develop the District’s
emergency response plan as required by 6.1.5 H.(2).

3. Cooperate fully with Champaign County and in resolving any noise
complaints including reimbursing Champaign County any costs for the
services of a qualified noise consultant pursuant to any proven violation of the
I.P.C.B. noise regulations as required by 6.1.5 I.(4).

4. Maintain a current general liability policy as required by 6.1.5 O.

5. Submit annual summary of operation and maintenance reports to the
Environment and Land Use Committee as required by 6.1.5 P.(1)a.

6. Maintain compliance with the approved Decommissioning and Site
Reclamation Plan including financial assurances.

7. Submit to the Zoning Administrator copies of all complaints to the telephone
hotline on a monthly basis and take all necessary actions to resolve all
legitimate complaints as required by 6.1.5 S.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
Future requirements are clearly identified for all successors of title, lessees, 
any operator and/or owner of the PV SOLAR FARM.  

J. The PV SOLAR FARM COUNTY Board SPECIAL USE Permit designation shall
expire in 10 years if no Zoning Use Permit is granted.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
The PV SOLAR FARM is constructed in compliance with the Ordinance 
requirements.   

K. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of
agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
Conformance with Policy 4.2.3 of the Land Resource Management Plan.  

L. Within the boundary of the solar farm, the petitioner shall:
1. Complete a survey identifying all drainage tile and stake off all tile

encountered prior to construction;

2. Replace or repair all privately owned underground drainage tile that are
identified and encountered consistent with both the Champaign County Storm
Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance and with the Agriculture
Impact Mitigation Agreement; and

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 8 of 13

42



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

3. No Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be authorized by the Zoning
Administrator until all required “as-built” drawings showing the location of
all drainage tile within the boundary of the solar farm have been filed with the
Illinois Department of Agriculture and the Champaign County Soil and Water
Conservation District.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following: 
To ensure conformance with all relevant requirements for replacement of 
underground drainage tile within the area of the special use permit. 

M. The petitioner shall maintain the privately owned underground drainage tiles within
the boundary of the solar farm for the lifetime of the special use permit including any
repairs that may be necessary for up to one year after decommissioning and site
reclamation.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure maintenance of underground drainage tile within the area of the 
special use permit for the lifetime of the special use permit. 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 9 of 13

43



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

FINAL DETERMINATION 

The Champaign County Zoning Board of Appeals finds that, based upon the application, testimony, and 
other evidence received in this case, that the requirements for approval of Section 9.1.11B. HAVE NOT 
been met, and pursuant to the authority granted by Section 9.1.6 B. of the Champaign County Zoning 
Ordinance, recommends that: 

The Special Use requested in Case 074-S-22 is hereby DENIED to the applicant, Medanos Solar 
LLC, to authorize the following as a Special Use on land in the AG-1 and AG-2 Agriculture 
Zoning Districts:  

Authorize a Community PV Solar Farm with a total nameplate capacity of 5 
megawatts (MW), including access roads and wiring, and 

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING WAIVERS OF STANDARD CONDITIONS: 

Part A:  A waiver for a distance of 0 feet between a PV Solar Farm and a municipal boundary in 
lieu of the minimum required one-half mile (2,640 feet), per Section 6.1.5 B.(2)a. of the 
Zoning Ordinance. 

Part B: A waiver for not providing a Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that includes 
cost estimates prepared by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer prior to 
consideration of the Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.1 A.3. of the 
Zoning Ordinance. 

Part C: A waiver for not entering into a Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement or 
waiver therefrom with the relevant local highway authority prior to consideration of the 
Special Use Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 G. of the Zoning Ordinance.   

Part D: A waiver for not completing consultation with the State Historic Preservation Officer of 
the Illinois Department of Natural Resources prior to consideration of the Special Use 
Permit by the Board, per Section 6.1.5 K. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING SPECIAL CONDITIONS: 

A. The approved site plan consists of the following documents:
• Revised Site Plan received February 28, 2023.

B. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit Application or
issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate on the subject property until the lighting
specifications in Paragraph 6.1.2.A. of the Zoning Ordinance have been met.

C. The Zoning Administrator shall not issue a Zoning Compliance Certificate for the
proposed PV SOLAR FARM until the petitioner has demonstrated that the proposed
Special Use complies with the Illinois Accessibility Code, if necessary.

D. The Zoning Administrator shall not authorize a Zoning Use Permit until the
petitioner submits a copy of an executed Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 10 of 13

44



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

with the Illinois Department of Agriculture per the requirements established in 
Paragraph 6.1.5 R. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

E. A signed Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that has been approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee is required at the time of application for a
Zoning Use Permit that complies with Section 6.1.1 A. and Section 6.1.5 Q. of the
Zoning Ordinance, including a decommissioning cost estimate prepared by an Illinois
Professional Engineer.

F. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received) A Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance
Agreement or waiver therefrom signed by the Village of Homer and approved by the
Environment and Land Use Committee, shall be submitted at the time of application
for a Zoning Use Permit.

G. The following submittals are required prior to the approval of any Zoning Use Permit
for a PV SOLAR FARM:
1. Documentation of the solar module’s unlimited 10-year warranty and the 25-

year limited power warranty.

2. Certification by an Illinois Professional Engineer that any relocation of
drainage district tile conforms to the Champaign County Storm Water
Management and Erosion Control Ordinance.

3. An irrevocable letter of credit to be drawn upon a federally insured financial
institution with a minimum acceptable long term corporate debt (credit)
rating of the proposed financial institution shall be a rating of “A” by S&P or
a rating of “A2” by Moody’s or a rating of “A-” by Kroll’s within 200 miles of
Urbana or reasonable anticipated travel costs shall be added to the amount of
the letter of credit.

4. A permanent soil erosion and sedimentation plan for the PV SOLAR FARM
including any access road that conforms to the relevant Natural Resources
Conservation Service guidelines and that is prepared by an Illinois Licensed
Professional Engineer.

5. Documentation regarding the seed to be used for the pollinator planting, per
6.1.5 F.(9).

6. (Note: not needed if a waiver is received) A Transportation Impact Analysis
provided by the applicant that is mutually acceptable to the Applicant and the
County Engineer and State’s Attorney; or Township Highway Commissioner;
or municipality where relevant, as required by 6.1.5 G. 2.

7. An agency action report from the State Historic Preservation Office regarding
historic and archaeological resources review, as required by 6.1.5 K.

8. The telephone number for the complaint hotline required by 6.1.5 S.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 11 of 13

45



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

9. Any updates to the approved Site Plan from Case 074-S-22 per the Site Plan
requirements provided in Section 6.1.5 U.1.c.

H. A Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be required for the PV SOLAR FARM prior
to going into commercial production of energy. Approval of a Zoning Compliance
Certificate shall require the following:
1. An as-built site plan of the PV SOLAR FARM including structures, property

lines (including identification of adjoining properties), as-built separations,
public access road and turnout locations, substation(s), electrical cabling from
the PV SOLAR FARM to the substations(s), and layout of all structures within
the geographical boundaries of any applicable setback.

2. As-built documentation of all permanent soil erosion and sedimentation
improvements for all PV SOLAR FARM including any access road prepared
by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer.

3. An executed interconnection agreement with the appropriate electric utility as
required by Section 6.1.5 B.(3)b.

I. The Applicant or Owner or Operator of the PV SOLAR FARM shall comply with the
following specific requirements that apply even after the PV SOLAR FARM goes into
commercial operation:
1. Maintain the pollinator plantings in perpetuity.

2. Cooperate with local Fire Protection District to develop the District’s
emergency response plan as required by 6.1.5 H.(2).

3. Cooperate fully with Champaign County and in resolving any noise
complaints including reimbursing Champaign County any costs for the
services of a qualified noise consultant pursuant to any proven violation of the
I.P.C.B. noise regulations as required by 6.1.5 I.(4).

4. Maintain a current general liability policy as required by 6.1.5 O.

5. Submit annual summary of operation and maintenance reports to the
Environment and Land Use Committee as required by 6.1.5 P.(1)a.

6. Maintain compliance with the approved Decommissioning and Site
Reclamation Plan including financial assurances.

7. Submit to the Zoning Administrator copies of all complaints to the telephone
hotline on a monthly basis and take all necessary actions to resolve all
legitimate complaints as required by 6.1.5 S.

J. The PV SOLAR FARM COUNTY Board SPECIAL USE Permit designation shall
expire in 10 years if no Zoning Use Permit is granted.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 12 of 13

46



FINDINGS OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 074-S-22 
As approved by the ZBA on March 16, 2023 

K. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of
agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

L. Within the boundary of the solar farm, the petitioner shall:
1. Complete a survey identifying all drainage tile and stake off all tile

encountered prior to construction;

2. Replace or repair all privately owned underground drainage tile that are
identified and encountered consistent with both the Champaign County Storm
Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance and with the Agriculture
Impact Mitigation Agreement; and

3. No Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be authorized by the Zoning
Administrator until all required “as-built” drawings showing the location of
all drainage tile within the boundary of the solar farm have been filed with the
Illinois Department of Agriculture and the Champaign County Soil and Water
Conservation District.

M. The petitioner shall maintain the privately owned underground drainage tiles within
the boundary of the solar farm for the lifetime of the special use permit including any
repairs that may be necessary for up to one year after decommissioning and site
reclamation.

The foregoing is an accurate and complete record of the Findings and Determination of the Zoning Board 
of Appeals of Champaign County. 

SIGNED: 

Ryan Elwell, Chair 
Champaign County Zoning Board of Appeals 

ATTEST: 

Secretary to the Zoning Board of Appeals 

Date 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment D Page 13 of 13

47



Champaign County 
Department of 

Brookens Administrative 
Center 

1776 E. Washington Street 
Urbana, Illinois 61802 

(217) 384-3708 
zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us 
www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning

PLANNING & 
ZONING 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

The petitioner, Medanos Solar LLC, seeks Special Use Permit approval from the Champaign County 
Board at its May 18, 2023 meeting to construct a 5-megawatt (MW) Photovoltaic (PV) Solar Farm 
northeast of the Village of Homer.  

There is one document required by the Zoning Ordinance that could only be completed closer to 
construction time and therefore was not included in the initial Special Use Permit approval. The Zoning 
Board of Appeals approved a special condition as part of Case 074-S-22 to ensure that this document 
would be reviewed and approved by ELUC at a later date.  

• Special Condition E. states: “A signed Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan that has been
approved by ELUC is required at the time of application for a Zoning Use Permit that complies
with Section 6.1.1 A. and Section 6.1.5 Q. of the Zoning Ordinance, including a decommissioning
cost estimate prepared by an Illinois Professional Engineer.”

DECOMMISSIONING AND SITE RECLAMATION PLAN 

P&Z Staff reviewed the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan (DSRP) received on March 24, 
2023 against the Zoning Ordinance requirements in Section 6.1.5 Q. Staff found the narrative in the 
DSRP to be in compliance with the Zoning Ordinance.  

Staff reviewed the cost estimates in the DSRP and compared them with previously approved cost 
estimates from Zoning Cases 064-S-22 and 080-S-22. The cost estimates from 064-S-22 were approved 
by ELUC in November 2022 and the costs for 080-S-22 seek approval at the April 6, 2023 ELUC 
meeting. Staff found that the cost estimates for the current case 074-S-22 were approximately 12% less 
per megawatt than those in case 064-S-22, and the cost estimates for case 080-S-22 were approximately 
8.5% less per megawatt than those in case 064-S-22. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A          Case 074-S-22 Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan with decommissioning cost estimate 
received March 24, 2023 

To: Champaign County Environment & Land Use Committee 

From: John Hall, Zoning Administrator 
Susan Burgstrom, Senior Planner 

Date: March 27, 2023 

RE: Medanos Solar LLC document requiring ELUC approval from 
Zoning Case 074-S-22 

Request: ELUC approval of a Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan 
including cost estimates for the 5 MW PV Solar Farm that is the 
subject of Zoning Case 074-S-22 

Petitioner: Medanos Solar LLC, via agent Kiera Gavin 

48

mailto:zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us
file://asdctdc1/zoning/schavarria/Map%20Amendment/Text%20Amendment/733-AT-12%20ZA/www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning


Page 1 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Medanos Solar 
DECOMMISSIONING AND SITE RECLAMATION PLAN 

March 2023 

Purpose 
This decommissioning and site reclamation plan is provided by Medanos Solar, LLC (the “Project 

Company”) and will detail the projected decommissioning demands associated with the proposed 

project.  

The purpose of this decommissioning plan is to provide procedures and an approximate opinion of 

probable construction cost for partial or full closure of the solar facility. Champaign County Zoning 

Ordinance requires a decommissioning plan and performance guarantees to supplement plans 

submitted as part of the Special Use Permit Package. This decommissioning plan details provisions for 

facility deconstruction and site restoration to satisfy the specific guidelines set forth in the Project’s 

Special Use Permit. This decommissioning plan shall take effect upon facility abandonment, 

discontinuation of operation, or expiration of the use permit as defined by Champaign County Zoning 

Ordinance. 

Site Location 
Medanos Solar proposes to build a photovoltaic (PV) solar facility (“Solar Facility”) with a nameplate 

capacity of approximately 5 MWAC (“Project”), in Champaign County, IL. The Facility is located 2710 

County Road 1100 N, Homer, IL 61849, Champaign County and within tax parcel identification numbers 

26-30-04-300-005, 26-30-04-400-019, and 26-30-04-126-003 (“Property”).

Anticipated Service Life of the Project 
The facility shall be decommissioned in accordance with this Decommissioning Plan (“Plan”), restoring 

the site to its agreed-upon post-decommissioned state upon expiration or termination of the Power 

Purchase Agreement or within twelve (12) months after the end of the useful life of the facility. It is 

anticipated the Solar Facility will have a maturity date of twenty (20) years but carries an expected 

useful lifetime of 40 years. 

Decommissioning responsibilities include the removal of any perimeter fences, any concrete pads, all 

metal structures (mounting racks and trackers), all photovoltaic (PV) modules, pipelines, alternators, 

generators, aboveground and underground cables, transformers, inverters, fans, switch boxes, fixtures, 

etc. and otherwise restoring the premises to its original condition or mutually agreed upon state. Other 

Plan activities include the management of materials and waste, projected costs, and a 

decommissioning fund agreement overview. 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 1 of 14

49

Kimley>>> Horn 

RECEIVED 
MAR 24, 2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 



Page 2 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Decommissioning Risk Over the Lifecycle of a Project 
The probability of an event that would lead to abandonment or long-term interruption is extremely low 

during the first 15 to 20 years of the Project life. Accordingly, the risk of decommissioning the Project 

is extremely low during this time frame. The reasons why the risk to decommission the Project is 

extremely low in the early phases of the Project include, but are not limited to: 

• Project owners have sophisticated financing structures that allow the lender or tax equity

partner to step in and rectify the event that may lead to abandonment.

• Most critical solar components have original equipment manufacturer (OEM) warranties

with terms exceeding five years that include labor and parts. A warranty is an agreement

or guarantee outlined by a manufacturer to a customer that defines performance

requirements for a product or service. Warranties give customers a form of insurance if

the purchased product or service does not adhere to quality standards. These warranties

assure the Project owner, financing parties, and other stakeholders, that equipment will

perform as expected which minimizes the risk of a decommissioning event. Average

warranty lengths for critical solar components range from 5 to 10 years, with production

warranties on solar panels extending to 20 to 25 years.

• Solar projects consist of many networked components designed to convert solar radiation

into electrical energy. The failure of any single component will not result in a substantial

reduction of energy generation that could lead to a decommissioning event.

• Solar projects are required to maintain replacement value property damage insurance

coverage and business interruption insurance coverage. Business interruption insurance

covers the loss of income that a business suffers after a disaster or equipment failure.

Typical solar business interruption insurance covers income loss for twelve months from

the date of the event triggering the loss.

• The replacement costs of solar components will typically decline over time, and

accordingly, costs to replace failed or damaged equipment after lapsed OEM warranties

will not create large financial hurdles for the Project.

• In the early stages of the Project, the resale value of the equipment is significantly higher

than the decommissioning costs, resulting in a net positive (revenue).

Considering the reasons stated above, a decommissioning bond early in the life of a solar project life 

is not required to assure the coverage facility removal and site restoration costs.  However, it is noted 

that the Champaign County Zoning Ordinance requires Financial Assurance be provided to the 

County.  

Solar power is an increasingly popular form of renewable energy around the world and as an 

alternative to the burning of fossil fuels, solar ranks alongside wind and hydropower as essential 

energy options for the future of the planet. Solar also offers the additional benefit of being easier to 

build, operate, and decommission with minimal environmental risks. Recent rises in popularity and 

use can be linked to lower installation and operation costs and it is expected that this pattern will 

continue, further reducing the risk of a decommissioning event. 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 2 of 14

50

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 3 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.1A.4a-d, the decommissioning and site 

reclamation plan shall provide for: 

a) Removal of above-ground portion of any structure on the subject site; site grading; and

interim soil erosion control

b) Below-ground restoration, including final grading and surface treatment

c) Any environmental remediation required by State or Federal law

d) Provision and maintenance of a letter of credit, as set forth in Section 6.1.1A.5

Financial Assurance 
To maintain compliance with section 6.1.1A.5 of the Champaign County Zoning Ordinance, the 

applicant must maintain an irrevocable letter of Credit (LOC) as a form of financial assurance. The 

Owner shall deliver the LOC to Champaign County prior to project approval.  

Per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.5Q.4a(a-c), no zoning permit to authorize 

construction of the PV SOLAR FARM shall be authorized until the PV SOLAR FARM owner shall 

provide the Champaign County with financial assurance to cover 12.5% of the decommissioning cost. 

On or before the sixth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date, the PV SOLAR FARM Owner 

shall provide the Champaign County with Financial Assurance to cover 62.5% of the 

decommissioning cost, and on or before the eleventh anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date, 

shall provide Champaign County with Financial Assurance to cover 125% of the decommissioning 

cost. The decommissioning cost is determined as the independent engineer’s cost estimate to 

complete the decommissioning work described in Sections 6.1.1A.4a. and 6.1.1A.4b. and 6.1.1A.4c. 

and otherwise compliant with Section 6.1.1A.5. 

Per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.5Q.4d(a),  the Applicant shall provide financial 

assurance in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit as follows: at least once every three years for 

the first 12 years of the financial assurance and at least once every two years thereafter or, if the PV 

SOLAR FARM modules have an unlimited warranty of a least 10 years and also have a limited power 

warranty to provide not less than 80% nominal power output up to 25 years and proof of that warranty 

is provided at the time of Zoning Use Permit approval, then at least once every five years for the first 

25 years of the financial assurance and at least once every two years thereafter, the Applicant, its 

successors in interest, and all parties to the decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall use an 

independent Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer to provide updated estimates of 

decommissioning costs and salvage value, by including any changes due to inflation and/or change in 

salvage price. The Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to the decommissioning and 

site reclamation plan shall, upon receipt, provide a copy of the adjusted Professional Engineer’s 

report to the Zoning Administrator. 

The Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan must also include provisions for anticipated repairs 

to any public STREET that is used during the reclamation process, in accordance with Section 

6.1.5Q.2. No negative impacts to public streets is anticipated; per 6.1.5G.3, when decommissioning 

takes place, the Applicant or its successors in interest shall enter into a Roadway Use and Repair 

Agreement with the appropriate highway authority. 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 3 of 14

51

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 4 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.5Q.4b(f), notes that salvage values must be capped 

at 70% of the total net estimated salvage value when considering deducting salvage value from the 

total estimated decommissioning cost. In the event that decommissioning is required, the full salvage 

value shall be available. 

As required by Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.1A.3, Exhibit A, The Engineer’s Cost 

Estimate, outlines itemized costs that include separate estimates for the items in Sections 6.1.1A.4a-c. 

Further Stipulations for Decommissioning 
Champaign County Zoning Ordinance section 6.1.1A and 6.1.5Q contains additional stipulations and 

requirements regarding the decommissioning process. Per 6.1.5Q.3, the decommissioning and site 

reclamation plan required in paragraph 6.1.1A. shall also include the following: 

a) A stipulation that the applicant or successor shall notify the GOVERNING BODY by certified

mail of the commencement of voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceeding, naming the

applicant as debtor, within ten days of commencement of proceeding.

b) A stipulation that the applicant shall agree that the sale, assignment in fact or law, or such

other transfer of applicant’s financial interest in the PV SOLAR FARM shall in no way affect

or change the applicant’s obligation to continue to comply with the terms of this plan. Any

successor in interest, assignee, and all parties to the decommissioning and site reclamation

plan shall assume the terms, covenants, and obligations of this plan and agrees to assume

all reclamation liability and responsibility for the PV SOLAR FARM.

c) Authorization for the GOVERNING BODY and its authorized representatives for right of entry

onto the PV SOLAR FARM premises for the purpose of inspecting the methods of

reclamation or for performing actual reclamation if necessary.

d) A stipulation that at such time as decommissioning takes place the Applicant, its successors

in interest, and all parties to the decommissioning and site reclamation plan are required to

enter into a Roadway Use and Repair Agreement with the relevant highway authority.

e) A stipulation that the Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to the

decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall provide evidence of any new, additional, or

substitute financing or security agreement to the Zoning Administrator throughout the

operating lifetime of the project.

f) A stipulation that the Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to the

decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall be obliged to perform the work in the

decommissioning and site reclamation plan before abandoning the PV SOLAR FARM or prior

to ceasing production of electricity from the PV SOLAR FARM, after it has begun, other than

in the ordinary course of business. This obligation shall be independent of the obligation to

pay financial assurance and shall not be limited by the amount of financial assurance. The

obligation to perform the reclamation work shall constitute a covenant running with the land.

g) The decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall provide for payment of any associated

costs that Champaign COUNTY may incur in the event that decommissioning is actually

required. Associated costs include all administrative and ancillary costs associated with

drawing upon the financial assurance and performing the reclamation work and shall include

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 4 of 14

52

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 5 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

but not be limited to: attorney’s fees; construction management and other professional fees; 

and, the costs of preparing requests for proposals and bidding documents required to comply 

with State law or Champaign COUNTY purchasing policies. 

h) The depth of removal of foundation concrete below ground shall be a minimum of 54 inches.

The depth of removal of foundation concrete shall be certified in writing by an Illinois

Licensed Professional Engineer and the certification shall be submitted to the Zoning

Administrator.

i) Underground electrical cables of a depth of 5 feet or greater may be left in place.

j) The hole resulting from the removal of foundation concrete during decommissioning shall be

backfilled as follows:

a. The excavation resulting from the removal of foundation concrete shall only be

backfilled with subsoil and topsoil in similar depths and similar types as existed at the

time of the original PV SOLAR FARM construction except that a lesser quality topsoil

or a combination of a lesser quality topsoil and a subsoil that is similar to the native

subsoil may be used at depths corresponding to the native subsoil but not less than

12 inches below grade.

b. The native soils excavated at the time of the original PV SOLAR FARM construction

may be used to backfill the concrete foundation excavations at the time of

decommissioning provided that the soils are adequately stored throughout the

operating lifetime of the PV SOLAR FARM. The methods for storing the excavated

native soils during the operating lifetime of the PV SOLAR FARM shall be included in

the decommissioning and site reclamation plan.

c. If the excavated native soils are not stored for use for backfilling the concrete

foundation excavations, a qualified soil scientist of Illinois Licensed Professional

Engineer shall certify that the actual soils used to backfill the concrete foundation

excavations are of equal or greater quality than the native soils or that, in the case of

subsoil, the backfill soil meets the requirements of this paragraph. The certification

shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator.

d. An Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer shall certify in writing that the concrete

foundation excavations have been backfilled with soil to such a depth and with a

minimum of compaction that is consistent with the restoration of productive

agricultural use such that the depth of soil is expected to be no less than 54 inches

within one year after backfilling.

k) A stipulation that should the decommissioning and site reclamation plan be deemed invalid

by a court of competent jurisdiction the PV SOLAR FARM SPECIAL USE Permit shall be

deemed void.

l) A stipulation that the Applicant’s obligation to complete the decommissioning and site

reclamation plan and to pay all associated costs shall be independent of the Applicant’s

obligation to provide financial assurance.

m) A stipulation that the liability of the Applicant’s failure to complete the decommissioning and

site reclamation plan or any breach of the decommissioning and site reclamation plan

requirement shall not be capped by the amount of financial assurance.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 5 of 14

53

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 6 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

n) If the Applicant desires to remove equipment or property credited to the estimated salvage

value without the concurrent replacement of the property with property of equal or greater

salvage value, or if the Applicant installs equipment or property increasing the cost of

decommissioning after the PV SOLAR FARM begins to produce electricity, at any point, the

Applicant shall first obtain the consent of the Zoning Administrator. If the Applicant’s lien

holders remove equipment or property credited to the salvage value, the Applicant shall

promptly notify the Zoning Administrator. In either of these events, the total financial

assurance shall be adjusted to reflect any change in total salvage value and total

decommissioning costs resulting from any such removal or installation.

Additionally, per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.5Q.4b(c), the Applicant, its 

successors in interest, and all parties to the decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall provide 

in the decommissioning and site reclamation plan for legal transfer of the STRUCTURE to the 

demolisher to pay the costs of reclamation work, should the reclamation work be performed. 

Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.1A.9 states that the Zoning Administrator may 

draw on the funds to have said NON-ADAPTABLE STRUCTURE removed as per Section 6.1.1A.4. 

of the decommissioning and site reclamation plan when any of the following occur: 

a) no response is received from the land owner within thirty (30) days from initial notification by

the Zoning Administrator;

b) the land owner does not enter, or breaches any term of a written agreement with the

COUNTY to remove said NON-ADAPTABLE STRUCTURE as provided in Section 6.1.1A.8.;

c) any breach or performance failure of any provision of the decommissioning and site

reclamation plan;

d) the owner of record has filed a bankruptcy petition, or compromised the COUNTY’s interest in

the letter of credit in any way not specifically allowed by the decommissioning and site

reclamation plan;

e) a court of law has made a finding that a NON-ADAPTABLE STRUCTURE constitutes a

public nuisance;

f) the owner of record has failed to replace an expiring letter of credit within the deadlines set

forth in Section 6.1.1A.6.; or

g) any other conditions to which the COUNTY and the land owner mutually agree, as set forth in

the decommissioning and site reclamation plan.

According to Section 6.1.5Q.5, in addition to the conditions listed in subparagraph 6.1.1A.9, the 

Zoning Administrator may also draw on the funds for the following reasons: 

a) In the event that any PV SOLAR FARM or component thereof ceases to be functional for

more than six consecutive months after it starts producing electricity and the Owner is not

diligently repairing such PV SOLAR FARM or component.

b) In the event that the Owner declares the PV SOLAR FARM or any PV SOLAR FARM

component to be functionally obsolete for tax purposes.

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 6 of 14

54

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 7 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

c) There is a delay in the construction of any PV SOLAR FARM of more than 6 months after

construction on that PV SOLAR FARM begins.

d) Any PV SOLAR FARM or component thereof that appears in a state of disrepair or imminent

collapse and/or creates an imminent threat to the health or safety of the public or any person.

e) Any PV SOLAR FARM or component thereof that is otherwise derelict for a period of 6

months.

f) The PV SOLAR FARM is in violation of the terms of the PV SOLAR FARM SPECIAL USE

Permit for a period exceeding ninety (90) days.

g) The Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to the decommissioning and site

reclamation plan has failed to maintain financial assurance in the form and amount required

by the SPECIAL USE Permit or compromised the COUNTY’s interest in the decommissioning

and site reclamation plan.

h) The COUNTY discovers any material misstatement of fact of misleading omission of fact

made by the Applicant in the course of the SPECIAL USE Permit Zoning Case.

i) The Applicant has either failed to receive a copy of the certification of design compliance

required by paragraph 6.1.5D. or failed to submit it to the COUNTY within 12 consecutive

months of receiving a Zoning Use Permit regardless of the efforts of the Applicant to obtain

such certification.

Decommissioning Cost Estimate and Bonding 
An engineer’s opinion of probable construction cost and analysis of material salvage value were 

prepared as part of this decommissioning plan. Exhibit A summarizes probable costs associated with 

decommissioning including the allowable deduction of salvage values. 

Per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.1A.2, the decommissioning and site reclamation 

plan shall be binding upon all successors of title, lessees, to any operator and/or owner of Medanos 

Solar, LLC, and to all parties to the decommissioning and site reclamation plan. Prior to the issuance 

of a SPECIAL USE Permit, the landowner or applicant shall also record a covenant incorporating the 

provisions of the decommissioning and site reclamation plan on the deed subject to the LOT, requiring 

that the reclamation work be performed and that a letter of credit be provided for financial assurance. 

Champaign County Zoning Ordinance requires Medanos Solar, LLC to provide a faithful performance 

bond as a financial guarantee for proper decommissioning. Per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance 

Section 6.1.5Q.4a(c), the irrevocable letter of credit shall be in the amount of one hundred twenty five 

percent (125%) of an independent engineer’s cost estimate. Furthermore, Medanos Solar, LLC will be 

required to submit detailed engineering plans at the time of decommissioning, and obtain construction 

permits as required by appropriate authorities. 

Expenses associated with decommissioning the Project will be dependent on labor costs at the time of 

decommissioning. For the purposes of this report, current RSMeans data was used to estimate labor, 

material, and equipment expenses.  

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 7 of 14

55

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 8 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

As required by Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.1A.3, Exhibit A (estimate including 

salvage) outline itemized costs that include separate estimates for the items in Sections 6.1.1A.4a-c. 

Exhibits B and C show 5-year average salvage values for steel and copper wire. 

Total probable cost of decommissioning in Year 20 (including salvage) is estimated to be $169,929. 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit per Champaign County Zoning Ordinance Section 6.1.5Q.4a(c) for 

decommissioning in Year 20 (including salvage) is estimated to be $212,412. 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 8 of 14

56

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 9 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

EXHIBIT A 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 9 of 14

57

Kimley>>> Horn 



Champaign County, Illinois 

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price
Salvage Deduction 

(70% of Total)

Total Price (incl. 

markups)
 Total Price 

General Items

Mobilization 1 LS -$   $16,540.00 (16,540.00)$          

Supervision 210 HR 96.00000$  -$   $20,160.00 (20,160.00)$          

Temporary Facilities 1 LS -$   $2,010.00 (2,010.00)$  

Safety 1 LS -$   $1,360.00 (1,360.00)$  

Legal Expenses 1 LS -$   $360.00 (360.00)$  

General Liability Insurance 1 LS -$   $1,460.00 (1,460.00)$  

Contractor's G&A 1 LS -$   $2,760.00 (2,760.00)$  

General Items Subtotal (44,650.00)$          

Civil Items

SWPPP, Erosion Control 

Measures (Disturbed Area)
53 Ac $670.00000 -$   $35,175.00 (35,175.00)$          

Seeding 3 Ac $1,932.45200 -$   $5,797.36 (5,797.36)$  

Tilling 6" topsoil/scarifying 

access road and rough grading 

existing soil

1 Ac $9,229.41000 -$   $9,229.41 (9,229.41)$  

Remove and Recyle Chainlink 

Fence, 8' High
7,364         LF $5.51329 4,330.03$  $40,599.84 (36,269.81)$          

Remove Power Pole 5 EA $869.53000 -$   $4,347.65 (4,347.65)$  

Civil Items Subtotal (90,819.23)$          

Electrical Items

Removal and Recycle AC 

Cables
1,799         LF $0.95983 54.78$  $1,726.74 (1,671.96)$  

Removal and Recycle DC 

Cables
171,173     LF $0.25764 5,212.23$  $44,101.90 (38,889.67)$          

Backfill AC and DC trenches 104,358     LF $0.32658 -$   $34,081.24 (34,081.24)$          

Remove and Recycle Inverters 2 EA $2,346.040000 7,560.00$  $4,692.08 2,867.92$  

Removed and Recycle 

Photovoltaic Modules
17,400       EA $6.11000 161,251.80$  $106,314.00 54,937.80$           

Electrical Items Subtotal (16,837.16)$          

Structural Items

Remove and Recycle Piles (10' 

W6x7 piles @ 25' OC assumed 

)

3,171         EA $6.5800 37,290.96$  $20,865.18 16,425.78$           

Remove and Recycle Support 

Assemblies 
385,809     LB $0.043618 40,509.95$  $16,828.26 23,681.69$           

Structural Items Subtotal 40,107.47$           

Reclamation Items

Contaminated Soils Testing 1 LS -$   $2,000.00 (2,000.00)$  

Reclamation Monitoring and 

Maintenance
1 LS -$   $5,000.00 (5,000.00)$  

Reclamation Items Subtotal (7,000.00)$  

Subtotal: 256,209.74$  $375,408.66 (119,198.92)$        

Inflation (1.5%/year): (41,344.74)$          

County Administration Costs (2.5% before Salvage) (9,385.22)$  

Total: (169,928.88)$        
Total Cost/MW: (33,985.78)$          

Notes:

Medanos Solar

10. Decommissioning quantities determined on 02/15/2023.

4. Material salvage values were based off of current US salvage exchange rates.

3. Labor, material, and equipment rates are based on the RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Champaign, IL.

The Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of determining prices or over 

competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on the information known to Engineer at this 

time and represent only the Engineer's judgment as a design professional familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and 

does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs. LS = Lump Sum, HR = 

Hours, EA = Each, LF = Linear Feet.

Decommissioning Estimate Pro Forma w/ Salvage

1. A site of similar size was used to derive potential quantities for erosion and sediment control (scaling from 36 MW to 5 MW). Quantities  were determined by comparing 

"unit/MW" quantities directly.

2. Labor productivity and unit rates were derived from RSMeans Online (Heavy Construction, 2022 data).

8. Material salvage values were determined using the most prevalent salvageable metal in each component. Copper Wire @$0.87/LB (AC and DC Cables) and Steel 

@0.84/LF of fence, @$1.05/pile, and @$0.15/LB.

7. For PV Module Removal/Recycle labor and equipment costs are computed at present values, while salvage value is computed at 20 year depreciated values.

6. Photovoltaic Module material salvage rate is based on straight-line depreciation of modules (-0.5% per year). 

5. Equipment rental rates were determined from local rental facilities.

9. Inverter resale value is dependent on the assumption that all inverters will be decommissioned and resold half way through their useful life (every 5 years).

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 10 of 14

58

I I 

I 
I 

--

Date of Expiration: 11 -30-23 



Page 10 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

EXHIBIT B 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 11 of 14

59

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 11 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Steel Salvage: 
Source: SteelBenchmarker.com 

#1 Heavy Melting Steel 
(SteelBenchmarker, 5-year average) 

$/gross ton $/lb 

Max (approx.) $540.00 $0.24 

Min (approx.) $180.00 $0.08 

Avg (approx.) $360.00 $0.15 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 12 of 14

60

Kimley>>> Horn 

900 

BOO 

700 

C: BOO 
s 
= 2 500 
"' 8. 
I!! 
!! 400 

8 
JOO 

200 

100 

0 

SteemenchmarkerTM Scrap Price 

A, delivered to steel plant 
(AMM scrap price data, Jan. 2002 • Jan. 2007; SteelBenclunarker data begins Feb. 2007) 

Jan 23, 2023 

441 
t--------::tt-------f,rl)----+.IS/f~~t4"-~t?..----~nt:------:lf-7 h-f 421 

338 



Page 12 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

EXHIBIT C 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 13 of 14

61

Kimley>>> Horn 



Page 13 

kimley-horn.com 570 Lake Cook Road, Suite 200, Deerfield, Illinois 847-260-7804

Copper Salvage: 
Source: Macrotrends.net, iscrapapp.com 

Item Price Unit Notes 

Copper (5-year average) $3.37 $/lb 
Source: Macrotrends.net 
(2/13/2023) 

Copper Wire (Feb. 2023) $1.06 $/lb 
Source: Iscrapapp.com 
(2/14/2023) 

Copper (Feb. 2023) $4.08 $/lb 
Source: Macrotrends.net 
(2/13/2023) 

Copper Wire/Copper Ratio 0.260 - 

Divided Feb. 2023 spot insulated 
copper wire price by copper Feb. 
2023 spot price ($1.06/$4.08) 

Copper Wire (5-year average) $0.87 $/lb 
Copper 5-year average multiplied 
by ratio 

Case 074-S-22, ELUC 04/06/23, Attachment A Page 14 of 14

62

Kimley>>> Horn 

ca Show Recessions ca Log Scale ♦ Download H1stoncal Data i"'■Mii::frl 
Click and drag in the plot area or select dates: YTD I 6 Months I 1 Year I 5 Years I 1 O Years I 20 Years I All Years 

$5 

$4.50 

$4 

$3 .50 

$3 

$ 2.50 

$2 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 



Champaign County 
Department of 

Brookens Administrative 
Center 

1776 E. Washington Street 
Urbana, Illinois 61802 

(217) 384-3708 
zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us 
www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning

PLANNING & 
ZONING 

 

 

 

 

STATUS 

The Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) voted 7-0 to “RECOMMEND ENACTMENT” of this map 
amendment at its April 13, 2023 meeting. The ZBA found that the rezoning achieved all relevant Goals, 
Objectives, and Policies from the Champaign County Land Resource Management Plan. 

There are three approved special conditions for the rezoning regarding acceptance of the Right to Farm 
Resolution 3425, that the map amendment approval is contingent upon related Special Use Permit case 036-
S-21, and that the petitioner will achieve full compliance with Illinois Department of Public Health.

Related Special Use Permit Case 036-S-21 was approved at the April 13, 2023 ZBA meeting.  

No negative comments were received from the public regarding the rezoning. 

BACKGROUND 

Petitioner Jeffrey Jenkins purchased the Walnut Grove Manufactured Home Community in 2019. The 
original 12 home sites were authorized under a permit from the Illinois Department of Public Health 
(IDPH) in 1972, and the manufactured home park has been operating since then.  

The petitioner received a license from IDPH to expand to 20 sites in 2021, but IDPH later corrected that 
only 12 sites are licensed, and any expansion would need to have a construction permit through IDPH. 
This has not yet occurred. In December 2021, IDPH sent a cease-and-desist letter to Mr. Jenkins 
indicating no additional homes could be placed without appropriate license and permits.  

Similarly, the County only recognizes 12 home sites for this manufactured home park. In the last couple 
of years, four additional homes have been added without Planning & Zoning Department permits. On 
November 30, 2021, P&Z Staff sent a First Notice of Violation to Mr. Jenkins telling him that additional 
homes are not authorized and that he would either need to remove the unauthorized homes or apply for a 
Map Amendment and Special Use Permit. R-5 Manufactured Home Park zoning and a Special Use Permit 
are both required for a manufactured home park to expand. 

Mr. Jenkins applied for the Map Amendment and Special Use Permit on December 20, 2021. Mr. Jenkins 
has maintained that he has successfully improved other manufactured home parks outside of Champaign 

To: Champaign County Environment & Land Use Committee 

From: John Hall, Zoning Administrator 
Susan Burgstrom, Senior Planner 

Date: April 24, 2023 

RE: Recommendation for rezoning Case 035-AM-21 

Request: Amend the Zoning Map to change the zoning district designation 
from the AG-1 Agriculture Zoning District to the R-5 
Manufactured Home Park Zoning District in order to operate the 
proposed Special Use with waivers in related Zoning Case 036-S-21. 

Petitioner: Jeffrey Jenkins, d.b.a. Walnut Grove MHC 

63

mailto:zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us
file://asdctdc1/zoning/schavarria/Map%20Amendment/Text%20Amendment/733-AT-12%20ZA/www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning


2      Case 035-AM-21 
Jeffrey Jenkins

APRIL 24, 2023
 

County, and simply was not aware of this County’s regulations. He seeks to bring Walnut Grove MHC 
into full compliance with the Zoning Ordinance. 

The subject property is not located within the one and one-half mile extraterritorial jurisdiction of a 
municipality with zoning. Municipalities with zoning have protest rights in Map Amendment cases. The 
subject property is located within Somer Township, which does not have a Planning Commission.   

PROPOSED SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

A. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of
agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
Conformance with Policy 4.2.3 of the Land Resource Management Plan.  

B. The Map Amendment is contingent upon approval of Case 036-S-21.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That the Special Use is consistent with the Zoning Ordinance and ZBA 
recommendations. 

C. The petitioner shall achieve full compliance with the Illinois Department of Public
Health within one year of approval of Map Amendment Case 035-AM-21 or the
rezoning will be void.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure compliance with IDPH regulations and licensing that provide a 
greater assurance of public health and safety and ensure that County 
regulations and IDPH regulations are coordinated in a reasonable manner. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A Case Maps (Location, Land Use, Zoning) 

B Four revised Site Plan sheets received March 13, 2023 

C 2020 aerial photo of Walnut Grove MHC 

D Copy of Right to Farm Resolution 3425 

E Summary Finding of Fact and Final Determination for Case 035-AM-21 as approved by the ZBA 
on April 13, 2023 

64



13
50

E

ThomasboroThomasboro

2200N

2300N

1
5
0

0
E

/U
S

 4
5

2400N

1
6
0

0
E

1
3
5
0
E

1
6
0

0
E

§̈¦57

£¤45

´
0 0.25 0.50.125

Miles

1
8

0
0

E

2700N

1
8

0
0

E

2200N

1
3

0
0

E

2400N

1
6

0
0

E

1
7

0
0

E

2500N

2600N

Leverett Rd

1
2

0
0

E

1
4

0
0

E

E Ford Harris Rd

Airport Rd

2800N

2100N

2000N

1
3
5
0
E

1850N

N
 H

ig
h

 C
ro

s
s
 R

d

Olympian Rd

N
 C

o
tt

o
n

w
o

o
d

 R
d

2300N

1
5

0
0

E

2850N

1900N

W
ill

o
w

 R
d 1950N

M
a
rt

in
 R

d

1
7

5
0

E

1
3

0
0

E

1
5

0
0

E
/U

S
 4

5

2600N

1
7

0
0

E

2850N

2500N

1
6

0
0

E

1
2

0
0

E

2400N

2300N

Rantoul

Champaign Urbana

Thomasboro

Rantoul

§̈¦57

§̈¦74

")11

")20

")11

Subject Property Property location in Champaign County

0 1 20.5
Miles

Subject Property

Parcels

Municipal Boundary

Location Map
Cases 035-AM-21, 036-S-21 & 041-V-22 
September 15, 2022

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 1 of 3

65

-
•• -■ .. 

I . 
··- ■- ■ 



2300N

1
5

0
0
E

1
6

0
0
E

1
3
5
0
E

Sa
line

 Br
anc

h D
rain

age
 Ditch

£¤45

CA
NA

DI
AN

 NA
TIO

NA
L R

.R
.

´0 600 1,200300
Feet

Land Use Map
Cases 035-AM-21, 036-S-21 & 041-V-22 
September 15, 2022

County Highways

Subject Property

Parcels

Tax Exempt

Agriculture

Ag/Residential

Residential

Commercial

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 2 of 3

66

CJ 
[ l 

-D 
D 

D 
D 

( t.ql;il,..vn f lllJl\ty 

OC-p:u tmr-ntnf 



Sa
line

 Br
anc

h D
rain

age
 Ditch

£¤45

2300N

1
5

0
0
E

1
6

0
0
E

1
3
5
0
E

´0 600 1,200300
Feet

Subject Property

Parcels

AG-1 Agriculture

Zoning Map
Cases 035-AM-21, 036-S-21 & 041-V-22 
September 15, 2022

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 3 of 3

67

CJ 
[ -

CMffipal,"ll Coonty 
Oll'p 1ut ml'ntof 



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment B Page 1 of 4

68

~ ... -
TOPOGRAPHIC CONCEPT PLAN AND EXHIBIT OF WALNUT GROVE MHC 

PART OF THE l'NV l/4 OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 9 EAST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

~

~:.:~'-:' ... 
' ,..,.,... .... 

[==-~ ~~-=-=== , .... ., .. 

• I 

I 

-.,.. ilMJIOIOIIIIICINlllllliPf,IQ:0,,_,,_.flCLlj 
.... O,IIASJl!lf.....u!,O .... I IOII....: .....,,.., 

--- ~.,_,"'"''''0_,IJJl,ll~Nll 
::.~· QfTitNQI 10-.1 tCM ~ 

•aai fCll'Ol'~AIIGIAITOlt ... """lll'WCtAt'9ai. 
DIWll!llctlfflJIClflrllCa.l .... f'IIM .......... 

.. _.., 

L 

---

. 
"' 

~•••IIIIM""'°'_ .. 
.- ----~ 

I . . ---_....,..,, 

-----~---.... LEGEND 

..... 

-lt"rr---• 

... 
--m• . . 

' .. 
~ -w 

------l'OUIC)"'Olt..,_."'-'. -----~f .... CDIIUt -----~,.-.~ .....,.lOI -·Caal~• ..... ...,.., .... 
""'" ......... ~ ----..c,wlC"ltlffTM. ---.....eawn/111.ClCIIIIIIW. •tow---lP.IC'ffllCIM.,,.... ---------~CIJI,---,....._ 
IC,lll,CIIU,,tf • ._...,_ ......,.....,...,.. __ --_ .. ,,. -~H--•OfOl 
~111,,--.no 
""""'°"°JO"OCNCIIITI..,,..,_ 
.-..,o,,slotNllflUilllltt 

1 nlll»-'l•N:llll~~t#IOIIMO'IO•CIOlillfflllU!O 
MM ........ ~Ollaff!.PVlll,O,Ol)Ntn,u;Jl(INIIQIIICTIONI 
OfMOl'ONl'U'!Ullat.,....,_,~MMOClltCUlfrrlNiCllflKllof,t 

I ... ~'V,Jll(IIITlC~"'-Nf ......... o«M: 
CCIIM.INIT'W~.......,_Of'IOW'1B.aCIIIJIII091.-....0QIIIAMl,J1112, ... 
,Ail!Nf#Oll:PM~NC. 

J , .. f\#IOOll,M)f......,,,,,.,,,.........,.., • .tclQOIIIOMCI:"""' 
.. , ... .....,..,.n-.:ocim ........ ~ 

......................... aaa.1111••-~ 
IW'IUMtMJilN,.lll,liGQ._.t-..,.,.. 

t _.,...___, ... ~•IIICAo-~ 
~ ....... .-a ............... .O, .... ocu,m<IIOlllt-..,.....,._,_..,,... ... 

I LOCA.llOIIO,ftlllr...,,C~...__,~rtOMIM.NO 
allll',r,(JICWID<lf--~J0~1"ei.o;AtlQIII 

, """"~11f14lillOI.IOHM-LMll"'l;QO!rClRITl.~t111M1Mlill) 
l,IOllll"TW,,Jr,lf{I"~"°" IClGCT.11&,c:,tOQlltffl,IC;Q__,_ 
llfOCIM-.. .... tM.&mONMC~IMl'WNO- l'IM •a, 
"""""hON "-"'""""°"'fl.OCAffJN$MD"-~OOOCl!f'I ~-'""""°"""~,.. ...... ,. .. Q.8ff'S -- ._....,MellO ............... -•IIC•.,.,_..._,...., 

Farnsworth 
GROUP 
JJIIWtfteAAlJlO-'"°" 
ow-,it.toW.~'1111 
!J I I ,,.., ....,_.~ 

·-....................... ·-------·------•--..----, __ ..,,. __ _ 

RECEIVED 
MAR 13,2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

Walnut Grove MHC 

l51SC-.,NJJCION 
U.-..LI._ 

0111"'2022 

WJM --,W.,01001CNCL OIII. ttM1 

TOPOGRAPHIC 
CONCEPT PLAN AND 
EXHIBIT OF WALNUT 
GROVEMHC 

1 ... 



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment B Page 2 of 4

69

a::: 
t
u 
Lu 
-..I 
~ 

IC 

t 

' I 

TOPOGRAPHIC CONCEPT PLAN AND EXHIBIT OF WALNUT GROVE MHC 
PART OF THE NW 1/4 OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 9 EAST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

,, 
~-- ~..fill!'.__ 

......... -.. __ ,.., 

I 

-.... ~--..-"""1,AC:t:0,,..,,.-iflClla 
■MlO,&MttHfANCl,O...._,.._,_.. .... , . ., 

• ~ lll&IIQIIO.,_.,,..,,,,oa,,.,N11111911Q.l -....,o,,.,..llff'WC:llro......,-._,,~ 
. .. .__...,, .. -.n.,,.,_.._...,_,, 

MM9jCIJi!TMClf'IIOIUtOllaP'MC ....... 

~o....,.,--.. ........ 

-. 

i 

I 

---

-- ,..,., 

------

. . -

...... 

v,....,,....,,..,.1 
.,...a...-. ...... 11D-"4' .....,.......,..._"" 

I.AITtorcMOP_..1~ 

LEGEND ------flOUICI N __ ,.. -----0 -,C.f .... COl!al 

" --"• 'IMJlll,-MD~ 

~ l\.l'CftllC~-...-..OLO'I .. --~ --M , IJTUTVl"Ot.lWflol~ ....,_...,... 
~ 

,...__, ... 
"""-IOll"°'lr 
l'INDll!liK'I .. COIIW. .,... ... .,,..,. 
IUCTWCI.M,....,.... --------- ~flllCIIUllll)l,C ----·-MG.Ui'IO""""'"CICIINII --· ................. ~Oltl .... • --. ___ N,, • . --.. ....._,x,OltlC .. ,.,....ic .. -...tiO - ..._ .. ~~ 

~ -.. ... --~ 

...... vu.,.""~_.... __ ,, __ ..:n10•~ 
M,-.~.__.Ol'.,.,.I\MIIIQIII~~ -~,b:fUIWa-------~~ 

t ,._1'0JIOOIIN'tC91.ANC#H...-....... ~-.-
CICM!lutlt¥WM"'lllWIIIOMCWP'aDIMn~ ..... t _, fl'( 
•~~~IC 

l 1Mll'I..MIOCUIIIOT~AIOIJCllllllrt-...rY .. ~ ..... I.I.WClll~"""CCIOll_ff..,._ 
'==~~,.::o:,:::=,•· ..... "---" 
I w.rrt»JTCIIIOo'llilOIUto.~•l.«A'l9---~ =: ~~~Mn---0, ,t,ta__.....-..0_ 

&UXA.1'1DH01,.._4.l"YC~ ..... __,.... .. ~IIO 
....._a.NCIIJIJMIOIHt!OV#rt,._~ 

'...,.___..,..,,,~,. ....... --\OIIDUJClll'II....,... __ 

............ ~"°"""ClffM..'OI'~ ....... 
IIIIIONMIWU._,...UOON .... ~.,.,,...IIIO.,._..._ •• 
..,._,,_M'IIMf'Oflfl~10ltMOM.~--
...... 1111.llil.~llllillOHWMIIDMa&,-Oil~ - tlll'!Mf .... .. -....-.. .. ~ .. .... 

fMt,C,lk,,.,.._ ... ,.. .. 

Farnsworth 
GROUP 
Ul'fllUl-.i't'"""""--.,__ ..... ...,. 
121'1.W·~ ...... ... 

-·--..... 1 ..... .__._ 

...... ---1 ___ ,_, ___ ,..._ 
,, _____ ...,_ ·-----..... ._.___. __ 

RECEIVED 
MAR 13,2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

--
Walnut Grove MHC 

1&1:,eo..ie,111i1z:.N 
~ ... , . 
..,. .. ,,..,... 
.._ -'""'"" -·- -, 1(1.0IOOKHO -·-
TOPOGRAPHIC 
CONCEPT PLAN AND 
EXHIBIT OF WALNUT 
OROVEMHC 

1 
---,_ ______________________________________________________________________________ .,_,,.. 

02210,, 00 



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment B Page 3 of 4

70

~ 

~ 
~ 
V) 

TOPOGRAPHIC CONCEPT PLAN AND EXHIBIT OF WALNUT GROVE MHC 

._ ............... .. -~-------
PART OF THE NW 1/4 OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH. RANGE 9 EAST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

[ 
f-:::·,.,~,.... ... --...... ~• .,,..,,.'-':'---,,(_ 

§.~:rF=-= 

-P,'"W" O.Hf1t•tlf2"•141• 

- ~ -'!.·• 

-~ ,,-
,,. 

; 

i 

' I-

I 

-.... .......,.., .......... N(t(l' .... fVl'llflllQ.t 
wt•IMT9rTIIWG.n;i ......... HM ........ 

•a1 ~.,.li~,,u.o,N111,l'OWllltl'Oll. 
i!UlfJ#Vo&T OOIWCI. IOMCIIUMl)lll.l"MC --M 

.. Qllt 1~~'9'U,lll..,...,._t(lrll,_~4r(:IIIQ,I 
........ ~Ol--.&IO,II,.._ ........ 

----·-

:=.=:-~ 
......,__ 

-.....,.. __ _ 
,uca/1,,,•COIICJlll"lt ,_ ......,...,.,.._, 
.. tlO'III!-•· ----

--· 
..,., 
I, ftalDMM•l'Oll .......... ,-r,oeac:at..NC)•NOtt'OtlC0.1'tlla 

oldN,i~otaQIIIOll9't"-""'"Ot-:O:....n..lCtOI~ 
Of~tlA'1'1111-~~ ..... 0H~~ 

I.'"9~11\.AH0,"91[111SfM1W..,.,,.,IIICM,IIQ&AICJWI. 
0111iM,Mr,W....M~flllCMNlODATAOfT __ Clll..,_l.m2.9Y ,.....,...,,.~-= 

a ""'f'\MOOUJIIOT~•.,.,.....,.,.,,.,•illOCICJIIIDIIIIW'9o 
............... 'lllllcaa:-. ... ~ 

.. ---~~-... --... -~ ..... Udl IIJIII.WIID-~t~ 

• ......,. .... ~ ... «-,11111"1'•1.0aUm-~ 
....... IIUIIOe ........... ,,._,,,...,oo,,,,,NMWt,DDa ...... ~~----

• LOC"A,,._Olft4f'lll.-c~ ....... f'llllll¥IOIDrrrorMomlllllO ---"°'~ ... "Ol.l'Ot0....,.,n910C1t,'10III 

'·~~,.,.,..,.,.. ............. ~~-ttt,C, 
-..oMJ1-ffl#lil,IIWl,IITIO'lmcu.-..~OON1fflUC'l'ION01C....., 
ANCIIOIISWU. ... TIIU.rDOfrilllAG~SWITMNOuc:-a,._wo, 
~tlOH,....~,U)(An(INI..C,T,4f'l"IIIUi.~ 
~ .. , .......... ..,IIIIOli ............. ,at~ --

Farnsworth 
GROUP 
llll~l'MAO..f'IINUIUC 
1.~'"""UifoOllll:GI i l l ll ,. , ........ _ 

-··-- 1 __ ,_._.I!--. 

....... ~ ·--·-----• ·-----C.•"'.,._ •-""""'Yft\llljllM~---•-,,._,,..._ __ 
RECEIVED 

MAR 13,2023 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

--
Walnut Grove MHC 

ftlJC--,IW!laH 
1M111N.1.•1m 

"" ... 01'11w:Krn 

DU«lNEO WIM 

""""" ""' - -'1110-HO --
TOPOGRAPHIC 
CONCEPT PLAN AND 
EXHIBIT OF WALNUT 
GROVE MHC 

1 
"" '----------------------------------- ------- ---------------------------------- ----'--=""-



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment B Page 4 of 4

71

~2. ... 

TOPOGRAPHIC CONCEPT PLAN AND EXHIBIT OF WALNUT GROVE MHC 
PART OF THE tm 114 OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH. RANGE 9 EAST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILllNOIS 

~

~:?;'..t:..--:9,. 

,,....,.,.,,.. 1,100' 

t 
I 

! 

:~•~ol ·\::. ~~- :T~_,:;:--=1 
. l . \: I ~ .111 --~ u--

L !"= .r .. ..__ L ----- ____.I -
f 

.,.._.....,.. 9L-..~~ & 

•. ~® -· Lee i 
i ; I '- - --~-• ..,,., Ill " i 

jfo <-'~ -.. ':::, - ~ - ...,. @[·::,.~-,, la 

I -~~- - I /2 • ~~ 

I ~~ ·I \ =•~ • 
1

1, -----1 
•

• "- 0 =~J 

(._ ___ ....,._=,,,,=..-:.,.=.,,--- --r 

J, __ +.,..J----- ·-----ff ____L.....,.......,.,...,, ___,-I -~ Al"'"JIIIIIW 

I 

• ._, llilill.lDIO ... WIWHT~Jla.O,,._.,o.,.al(lll'G.I: 
&Ml(/IIMfltf!,wa,OMQ911.lOOIII .... flftl,o,.. 

lllffll ~9'1111!frtW8fHC(OIFalf'°""IIPCU 
-.intOl~~•o-a~,,_. .,.._...,w ... 

.... ,.. ............... Orl ..... >N'alWff/1,'~' ......................... --

....,,~1"'1-Y 

1----e---t--,::--+--e--t--~, -t1-

. -

. 

--+--.-

1-.~-=""" .. ~-~-~.--• .:..=+--.,,.,.,=+-=-~ ... :., ~ 

~-~-
LUll#'lf\lfHI 

... OflUMIIM•!WtOl·lt,Tf"NCCOOlalll.TW:SWJIM. 
IMflUN(.lll#G•M1•10Mtlllalfl 

LEGEND ------119,,c1;-.; ____ _ 

--------... _, 
_,lft~IWll'Mll'N'f 
MC'IIUCl911•-~o, 
Mc.fflle.•~ 
ClOl,al .......... ... ~ .... 
""""" ....... .,.,.C)lalllll -------.... ,., .... --. ~---&IICflC"LM..,... ... -_-_-_-_-_-_- =:-.== 

......,...,,.,. . . 
OIIOlNICGinul#11t .......... 
ClrtQA),TlO~OOIIINtll 

~&/IJWQ#fONl#Q ----..... --~···.....,._9/1.lll'MIIO ,,.,....,CDJGWIII_,. 
... i--. .... ...,...,. 

I ,,_.._. ... ~ ........ YMCl•NOt',O-tlOIIIIITIIMD --~----lft'l....-"'OII~~ -~ ..... ~--........... -Gli~OIIIICtOf 

...... ~""-'WOJN ...... ....,.,,.QIIOlll:.-&,OC 
CDIM,Nn,-S .......... ,....,_, ..... <-..... _ .. ,____.....,..:. 

I ~kANOOUMOf....._.A~~t.l~..W 
1.1,NN...,.,...,...JMCOD(_lf,...... 

♦ ~IHOW'l,_....OCfrlMt.l.Mlllll"tlll\Na~r& 
"11tY if,AtJ«lfC.JMDA,JOlt~u..NT 

• 'l'IW.Mll'MCl'o9MCaf'~COtM.H"'•LGU,IIOMf-~ 
~ U.-~MSA.,_..M!CaMO,ttl)~~flm 1111C11191~-...-.,_ 

. ===-=~=~"':.'=-"°"""'JG 
J ~ioan....,...■Ml.....,..~~---IIIO ---..-.~--,..-Clr'M._~--#OCNlllllll&•MT ...... Ot ... lU'l'Qlld'I ........... ,._._, 

~nc,1111 ,.._twl'll'Cla'llOtoll'!IOa .. JtenN:llt.CDICIIISS. =--~-11-aD---'1'0.~ 
....,...,.,.,.DIIO 
,w,iica.»1ot,,O.tCIMlt 
-1M.CN..,__A&..,flll 

Farnsworth 
GROUP 

lt'NP'tfaio,,nA .. Jril.il 
..,,,,._,,.~111,11 

•JI I w•G ..,,.___. 

' °"'"__,_ ·------, _____ _ 
, __ w_...,._ 
·----·---·-----•a.-_,,.. 

RECEIVED 
M\R 13,2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

--
Wolnut Grove MHC 

JIUC.-,NUQOM 
U,...,. l.11tol 

"""' o,11MtJH 
........, WJM - -..........,. .... 
...,1001(.., --
TOPOGRAPHIC 
CONCEPT PLAN AND 
EXHIBIT OF WALNUT 
GROVEMHC 

1 
"" '------------------------------------------------------------ - - ---- --------------'-"°- 0221Cl1100 



Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, FAO, NOAA, USGS, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User
Community, Champaign County GIS Consortium

This map was prepared with geographic information system (GIS) data created by the Champaign County GIS Consortium (CCGISC), or other CCGISC member agency. These entities do not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy or suitability of GIS data for any purpose. The GIS data within this map is intended to be used as a general index to spatial information and not intended for detailed, site-specific analysis
or resolution of legal matters. Users assume all risk arising from the use or misuse of this map and information contained herein. The use of this map constitutes acknowledgement of this disclaimer.

Date: Wednesday, April 19, 2023

25-15-10-100-015     2020 aerial     1:100

N0.01

mi

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment C Page 1 of 1

72

\.. 

, I 

794.14 

~ 

0 
■ 

LO 
O') 
LO 



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 1 of 2

73

RESOLlITION NO. 3425 

A RESOLUTION PERTAINING TO THE 

RIGHT TO FARM IN CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 

WHEREAS, the Cha!rman and the Bo~rd of Champaign County have determined 

that it is in the best interest of the residents of Champaign County to enact a Right to Farm 

Resolution which reflects the essence of the Farm Nuisance Suit Act as provided for in the 

Illinois Compiled Statutes, 740 ILCS 70 ( 1992); and 

WHEREAS, the County wishes to conserve, protect, and encourage development 

and improvement of its agricultural land for the production off ood and other agricultural 

products; and 

WHEREAS, when nonagricultural land uses extend into agricultural areas, farms 

often become the subject of nuisance suits. As a result, farms are sometimes forced to cease 

operations. Others are discouraged from making investments in farm improvements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Chairman and the 

Board of Champaign County as fallows: 

I. That the purpose of this resolution is to reduce the loss to the county of its 

agricultural resources by limiting the circumstances under which farming operations are 

deemed a nuisance. 

2. That the term "farm" as used in this resolution means that part of any parcel 

of land used for the growing and harvesting of crops, for the feeding, breeding, and 

management of 1i vestock; for dairying or oth,ir agricultural or horticultural use or 

combination thereof. 

3. That no farm or any of its appurtenances should be or become a private or 

public nuisance because of any changed conc~tions in the surrounding area occurring after 

the fann has been in operation for more than ,one year, when such farm was not a nuisance 

at the time it began operation. 



Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 2 of 2

74

RESOLlITION NO. 3..42.L Page2 

4. That these provisions shall not apply whenever a nuisance results from the 
negligent or improper operation of any fam, or its appurtenances. 

PRESENTED, ADQPTED, APPROVED AND RECORDED this .2.il.b day of 
May , A.O., 1994. 

ATTFST: 

rk of the County 

Chaian,County Board of the 
County of Champaign, Illinois 



SUMMARY FINDING OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 035-AM-21 
As approved by the ZBA on April 13, 2023 

SUMMARY FINDING OF FACT 

From the documents of record and the testimony and exhibits received at the public hearing conducted on 
September 15, 2022, December 1, 2022, February 16, 2023, March 16, 2023, and April 13, 2023, the 
Zoning Board of Appeals of Champaign County finds that: 

1. The proposed Zoning Ordinance map amendment will HELP ACHIEVE the Land Resource
Management Plan because:
A. Regarding Goal 3 Prosperity:

(1) Although the proposed rezoning is NOT DIRECTLY RELEVANT to any of the
Goal 3 objectives, the proposed rezoning will allow the petitioner to utilize the
property somewhat more intensively and continue business operations in Champaign
County.

(2) Based on achievement of the above and because it will either not impede or is not
relevant to the other Objectives and Policies under this goal, the proposed map
amendment WILL HELP ACHIEVE Goal 3 Prosperity.

B. Regarding Goal 4 Agriculture:
(1) It will HELP ACHIEVE Objective 4.1 requiring minimization of the

fragmentation of farmland, conservation of farmland, and stringent development
standards on best prime farmland because of the following:
a. Policy 4.1.1, which states that commercial agriculture is the highest and

best use of land in the areas of Champaign County that are by virtue of
topography, soil and drainage, suited to its pursuit. The County will not
accommodate other land uses except under very restricted conditions or in
areas of less productive soils (see Item 13.A.(1)).

b. Policy 4.1.6 requiring that the use, design, site and location are consistent
with policies regarding suitability, adequacy of infrastructure and public
services, conflict with agriculture, conversion of farmland, and disturbance
of natural areas (see Item 13.A.(2)).

c. Policy 4.1.8 requiring that the County consider the LESA rating for
farmland protection when making land use decisions regarding a
discretionary development (see Item 13.A.(3)).

(2) It will NOT IMPEDE Objective 4.2 requiring discretionary development to not
interfere with agriculture because of the following:
a. Policy 4.2.2 requiring discretionary development in a rural area to not

interfere with agriculture or negatively affect rural infrastructure (see Item
13.B.(1)).

b. Policy 4.2.3 requiring that each proposed discretionary development
explicitly recognize and provide for the right of agricultural activities to
continue on adjacent land (see Item 13.B.(2)).

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment E Page 1 of 4

75



SUMMARY FINDING OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 035-AM-21 
As approved by the ZBA on April 13, 2023 

c. Policy 4.2.4 requiring that all discretionary review consider whether a
buffer between existing agricultural operations and the proposed
development is necessary (see Item 13.B.(3)).

(3) It will HELP ACHIEVE Objective 4.3 requiring any discretionary development to
be on a suitable site because of the following:
a. Policy 4.3.2 requiring a discretionary development on best prime farmland

to be well-suited overall (see Item 13.C.(1)).

b. Policy 4.3.3 requiring existing public services be adequate to support the
proposed development effectively and safely without undue public expense
(see Item 13.C.(2)).

c. Policy 4.3.4 requiring existing public infrastructure be adequate to support
the proposed development effectively and safely without undue public
expense (see Item 13.C.(3)).

(4) It will HELP ACHIEVE Objective 4.7 requiring affirmation of the Champaign
County Right to Farm Resolution (see Item 13.D.(1)).

(5) Based on achievement of the above Objectives and Policies, the proposed map
amendment will HELP ACHIEVE Goal 4 Agriculture.

C Regarding Goal 6 Public Health and Public Safety: 
(1) It will HELP ACHIEVE Objective 6.1 requiring that development in

unincorporated areas of the County will not endanger public health or safety
because of the following:
a. Policy 6.1.2 requiring sufficient and safe wastewater disposal (see Item

15.A.(1)).

D. Regarding Goal 7 Transportation:
(1) The proposed amendment will HELP ACHIEVE Goal 7 Transportation because it

will HELP ACHIEVE the following:
a. Policy 7.1.1 requiring traffic impact analyses for projects with significant

traffic generation. (see Item 16.A.(1)).

E. The proposed amendment WILL NOT IMPEDE the following LRMP goal(s):
• Goal 1 Planning and Public Involvement
• Goal 2 Governmental Coordination
• Goal 5 Urban Land Use
• Goal 8 Natural Resources
• Goal 9 Energy Conservation
• Goal 10 Cultural Amenities

F. Overall, the proposed map amendment will HELP ACHIEVE the Land Resource
Management Plan.

2. The proposed Zoning Ordinance map amendment IS CONSISTENT with the LaSalle and
Sinclair factors because of the following:

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment E Page 2 of 4

76



SUMMARY FINDING OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 035-AM-21 
As approved by the ZBA on April 13, 2023 

A. It is impossible to establish property values without a formal real estate appraisal, which
has not been requested nor provided, and so any discussion of values is necessarily general.

B. There has been no evidence submitted regarding property values. This area is primarily
agricultural and residential in use, and the subject property has been a manufactured home
park since 1972.

C. The gain to the public of the proposed rezoning would be allow the petitioner to provide
lower cost housing for the community.

D. The subject property is occupied and in use as a manufactured home park.

E. The ZBA has recommended that the proposed rezoning will HELP ACHIEVE the
Champaign County Land Resource Management Plan.

3. The proposed Zoning Ordinance map amendment will HELP ACHIEVE the purpose of the
Zoning Ordinance because:
A. Establishing the special use as proposed by the Petitioner, which requires rezoning to R-5,

WILL lessen and avoid congestion in the public streets (Purpose 2.0 (c) see Item 21.C.).

B. Establishing the R-5 District at this location WILL help classify, regulate, and restrict the
location of the uses authorized in the R-5 District (Purpose 2.0 (i) see Item 21.G.).

C. The proposed rezoning and proposed Special Use WILL NOT hinder the development of
renewable energy sources (Purpose 2.0(r) Item 21.M).

4. The proposed Zoning Ordinance map amendment is subject to the following special conditions:
A. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of

agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
Conformance with Policy 4.2.3 of the Land Resource Management Plan.  

B. The Map Amendment is contingent upon approval of Case 036-S-21.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
That the Special Use is consistent with the Zoning Ordinance and ZBA 
recommendations. 

C. The petitioner shall achieve full compliance with the Illinois Department of Public
Health within one year of approval of Map Amendment Case 035-AM-21 or the
rezoning will be void.

The special condition stated above is required to ensure the following:
To ensure compliance with IDPH regulations and licensing that provide a 
greater assurance of public health and safety and ensure that County 
regulations and IDPH regulations are coordinated in a reasonable manner. 

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment E Page 3 of 4

77



SUMMARY FINDING OF FACT AND FINAL DETERMINATION FOR CASE 035-AM-21 
As approved by the ZBA on April 13, 2023 

FINAL DETERMINATION 

Pursuant to the authority granted by Section 9.2 of the Champaign County Zoning Ordinance, the Zoning 
Board of Appeals of Champaign County determines that: 

The Zoning Ordinance Amendment requested in Case 035-AM-21 should BE ENACTED by the 
County Board in the form attached hereto. 

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING SPECIAL CONDITIONS: 

A. The owners of the subject property hereby recognize and provide for the right of
agricultural activities to continue on adjacent land consistent with the Right to Farm
Resolution 3425.

B. The Map Amendment is contingent upon approval of Case 036-S-21.

C. The petitioner shall achieve full compliance with the Illinois Department of Public
Health within one year of approval of Map Amendment Case 035-AM-21 or the
rezoning will be void.

The foregoing is an accurate and complete record of the Findings and Determination of the Zoning Board 
of Appeals of Champaign County. 

SIGNED: 

Ryan Elwell, Chair 
Champaign County Zoning Board of Appeals 

ATTEST: 

Secretary to the Zoning Board of Appeals 

Date 

Case 035-AM-21, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment E Page 4 of 4

78



1 

To: Environment and Land Use Committee 

From: John Hall, Director & Zoning Administrator 
Susan Burgstrom, Senior Planner 

Date: April 24, 2023 

RE: Prairie Solar 1 documents requiring ELUC approval  

Request: ELUC acceptance of approval of three Roadway Upgrade and 
Maintenance Agreements, and ELUC approval of a 
Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan including cost 
estimates, vegetative screening, and an updated Noise Study for the 
135 MW utility-scale solar farm to be located southeast of the Village 
of Sidney approved in Zoning Case 898-S-18 

BACKGROUND 

The petitioner, BayWa r.e. Solar Projects LLC, received Special Use Permit approval 
under Ordinance 2019-1 from the Champaign County Board at its January 24, 2019 
meeting to construct a 150-megawatt (MW) Photovoltaic (PV) Utility-Scale Solar Farm 
southeast of the Village of Sidney on 22 participating properties totaling approximately 
1,609 acres. Since that approval, BayWa has reduced the area of the solar farm. 
Attachment B is a revised Site Plan received April 25, 2023. Attachment C is a map 
comparing an approximation of the solar farm fenced area as approved in 2019 and the 
current configuration of solar arrays as of April 25, 2023. 

There are several documents required by the Zoning Ordinance that could only be 
completed closer to construction time and therefore were not included in the initial Special 
Use Permit approval. The Zoning Board of Appeals approved special conditions as part of 
Case 898-S-18 to ensure that these documents would be reviewed and approved or 
accepted by ELUC at a later date.  

 Special Condition E. states: “A signed Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan
that has been approved by ELUC is required at the time of application for a
Zoning Use Permit that complies with Section 6.1.1 A. and Section 6.1.5 Q. of the
Zoning Ordinance, including a decommissioning cost estimate prepared by an
Illinois Professional Engineer.”

 Special Condition F. states: “Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreements
signed by the County Highway Engineer, Sidney Township Highway
Commissioner, and approved by the Environment and Land Use Committee,
shall be submitted at the time of application for a Zoning Use Permit.”

 Special Condition H. states, “The petitioner shall install sound reduction kits from
the inverter manufacturer to each of the inverters in the solar farm so that
operational sound levels for the duration of the solar farm will be less than 39
dBA at all existing residential lots within 1,500 feet of the project site and 39 dBA
shall be the sound level that shall be enforced by Champaign County subject to

Champaign County 
Department of 

Brookens Administrative 
Center 

1776 E. Washington Street 
Urbana, Illinois 61802 

(217) 384-3708 
zoningdept@co.champaign.il.us 
www.co.champaign.il.us/zoning

PLANNING & 

ZONING 

79



2 

the relevant standards of the Illinois Pollution Control Board and Illinois 
Environmental Protection Agency.” 

 Special Condition I. states: “A Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be required for
the PV SOLAR FARM prior to going into commercial production of energy.
Approval of a Zoning Compliance Certificate shall require the following: A noise
study to verify that the required sound reduction kits for all inverters result in
less than 39 dBA noise level at all existing residential lots within 1500 feet of the
project site.”

 Special Condition K. states: “The petitioner will consult with all land owners and
residents (both participating and non-participating in the solar farm project)
whose residences are within 1,000 feet of the solar farm regarding the types of
plantings to be used in the required vegetative screening to be planted along the
nearest solar farm fence line to the residence to minimize harm to existing
residential landscaping and the Environment and Land Use Committee shall
approve the proposed screening prior to the approval of the Zoning Use Permit.”

DECOMMISSIONING AND SITE RECLAMATION PLAN 

P&Z Staff reviewed the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan received on April 14, 2023 
against the Zoning Ordinance requirements in Section 6.1.5 Q. Staff found that estimated costs per 
megawatt are lower than other solar array projects that were recently approved, but given the larger 
scale of the Bay-wa project, it is difficult to compare with other smaller projects. 

Staff recommends that ELUC approve the Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan. 

ROADWAY UPGRADE AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 

P&Z Staff reviewed the Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreements against the Zoning 
Ordinance requirements in Section 6.1.5 G. and found them to be in compliance with the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 Champaign County Highway Department agreement executed June 30, 2021
 Sidney Township agreement executed March 29, 2022
 Village of Homer agreement executed July 7, 2022

Staff recommends that ELUC accept these executed agreements. 

NOISE STUDY 

An updated Noise Assessment Technical Report was prepared by Dudek in April 2023. The original 
report from October 2021 demonstrated that the inverters with sound reduction kits would generate 
noise that is below 39 dBA at sensitive receptor sites. Since that time, newer technology and a 
reduced project area have resulted in the use of fewer, quieter inverters. The updated report shows 
that noise levels with this newer inverter model will fall below 39 dBA at sensitive receptor sites 
even without using sound reduction kits.  

Staff recommends that ELUC approve the updated noise study and revise special condition I in Case 
898-S-18 in the following manner:

80



3 

“A Zoning Compliance Certificate shall be required for the PV SOLAR FARM prior to 
going into commercial production of energy.  Approval of a Zoning Compliance 
Certificate shall require the following: A noise study to verify that the noise level 
without the required sound reduction kits for all inverters result in is less than 39 dBA 
noise level at all existing residential lots within 1500 feet of the project site.”  

VEGETATIVE SCREENING 

P&Z Staff reviewed the vegetative screening plan received on April 14, 2023 against the Zoning 
Ordinance requirements in Section 6.1.5 M. The plan appears to comply with the Zoning Ordinance 
requirements. 

Resident input 
On April 20, 2023, P&Z Staff sent all landowners within 1,000 feet of the PV solar farm fenced area 
(as shown on the vegetative screening plan received on April 14, 2023) the proposed vegetative 
screening plan. They were provided with upcoming meeting dates before which their comments 
should be received by the P&Z Department for consideration by ELUC. 

Staff recommends that ELUC approve the vegetative screening plan. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A          Case Maps (Location Map, Land Use, and Zoning)  
B Revised Site Plan received April 25, 2023 
C Comparison map of solar farm fenced area approved in January 2019 with current 

configuration as of April 24, 2023 
D Revised Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan with decommissioning cost estimates 

received April 14, 2023 
E Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement executed by Champaign County 

(on ELUC meetings website) 
F Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement executed by Sidney Township  

(on ELUC meetings website) 
G Roadway Upgrade and Maintenance Agreement executed by Village of Homer  

(on ELUC meetings website) 
H Noise Assessment Technical Report prepared by Dudek received April 24, 2023 
I Vegetative Screening Plan received April 14, 2023 

81



900N
23

00
E

22
00

E

21
25

E

800N

1050N

21
00

E

1000N

23
00

E

S i d n e yS i d n e y

Champaign County GIS Consortium

´

Location Map

0 0.50.25
Miles

H o m e rH o m e r
S i d n e yS i d n e y

S t  J o s e p hS t  J o s e p h
O g d e nO g d e n

700N

I-74 E

900N

24
00

E

I-74 W

1700N

23
00

E

25
00

E

27
00

E

22
00

E

800N

1800N

21
25

E

1050N

26
00

E

1300N

26
50

E

1100N

25
50

EHomer Lake Rd

1600N

1000N

1400N

22
75

E

21
00

E

750N

20
75

E

1175N

23
50

E

22
50

E

1200N

1350N

1250N

1150N

23
75

E

1225N

1550N

E Warren St

S Homer Lake Rd

21
50

E

20
50

E

1325N

1500N
1475N

25
45

E

1150N

22
50

E

800N

1000N

27
00

E

1800N

23
50

E

22
00

E
22

00
E 2700E

22
75

E

1200N

26
00

E

21
00

E

1600N

25
00

E

22
00

E

Champaign County GIS Consortium

Subject Property Property location in Champaign County

0 1 20.5
Miles

Case 898-S-18
November 1, 2018

Legend
BayWa Participating Properties
Proposed Solar Farm Case 903-S-18
Municipal Boundary

Parcels
Streams

Railroad
Streets

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 1 of 3

82

CJ -+--+ 

,,.. .. -.. 
■ I '-··--



900N

24
00

E

22
00

E

23
00

E

21
00

E

1000N

1050N

E Main St

23
00

E

NORFOLK SOUTHERN R.R.
UN

IO
N P

AC
IFI

C R
.R.

S i d n e yS i d n e y

Champaign County GIS Consortium

´

Land Use Map

0 1,000 2,000500
Feet

Legend
BayWa Participating Properties
Proposed Solar Farm Case 903-S-18
Municipal Boundary

Streets
Railroad
Streams

Residential
Agriculture
Ag-Residential

Commercial/Industrial
Utility
Cemetery

Frito Lay

Ameren
Substation

Bliss
Cemetery

Case 898-S-18
November 1, 2018

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 2 of 3

83

Champaign County 

D CJ CJ 
Department of 

D ~ CJ CJ =··-··~ CJ CJ L •• - •• .i 



900N

22
00

E

24
00

E

1000N

21
00

E

23
00

E

E Main St 21
25

E

´

Zoning Map

0 1,000 2,000500
Feet

Legend
Municipal Boundary
BayWa Participating Properties

Proposed Solar Farm Case 903-S-18
Parcels

Case 898-S-18
November 1, 2018

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment A Page 3 of 3

84

:··--·~ 
L •. - •. .i 1111 

CJ 

AGRICULTURE 

AGRICULTURE 

CONSERVATION · RECREATION 

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE 

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE 

TWO FAMILY RESIDENCE 

MULTIPLE FAMILY RESIDENCE 

ii • ~ 
• 
■ -■ 

s 

B-1 RURAL TRADE CENTER 

B-2 NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS 

B-3 HIGHWAY BUSINESS 

B-4 GENERAL BUSINESS 

B- 5 CENTRAL BUSINESS 

1-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY 

1- 2 HEAVY INDUSTRY 

SPECIAL USE 

Champaign County 
Department of 



END

>>
EX

. 1
2"

 C
LA

Y 
D.

T.
>>

>>
EX

. 1
6"

 X
1 

CL
AY

 D
.T

.>
>

>>
EX

. 1
2"

 C
LA

Y 
D.

T.
>>

>>EX. 1
4" C

LAY D.T.
>>

>>EX. 1
4" C

LAY D.T.
>>

>>EX. 18" CLAY D.T.>>

>>EX. 18" CLAY D.T.>>

>>EX

>>EX.18" D
IST. M

AIN D.T.>>

>>EX.18" D
IST. M

AIN D.T.>>

>>
EX

.1
8"

 D
IS

T.
 M

AI
N 

D.
T.

>>

>>EX.14" D
IST. 

MAIN
 D

.T.
>>

>>
EX

.1
4"

 D
IS

T.
 M

AI
N 

D.
T.

>>

>>EX.14" DIST. MAIN D.T.>>

>>EX.12" D
IST. M

AIN
 D

.T.>>

>>EX.12" D. MAIN D.T.>>

>>  EX.10" DIST.      MAIN D.T.>>

>>EX. 8" CLAY D
.T.>>

>EX12"CL.D.T.>

>>EXIST. 1
2" X

1 DIST. D
.T.>>

>>EXIST. 12" X1DIST. D.T.>>
>EX6" POLY D T

>>
EX

.1
2"

 C
L.

D.
T.

>>
>>

EX
.1

2"
 C

L.
D.

T.
>>

>>EXIST. 
14" X

1 D
IST. 

D.T.
>>

ST 10" X1 DIST D T >>

>>
EX

. 1
4"

 X
1 

CL
AY

 D
.T

.>
>

>>EX.12"CL.D.T.>

>>EX. 15" POLY. D.T.>>

>
>

EX
. 8

" C
LA

Y 
D

.T
.>

>

>EX 5" CL.D.T.>>

>E
X.

4"
 C

L.
D.

T.
>>

>E
X.

4"
 C

L.
D.T

.>
>

PROPOSED NEW MAINLINE ROUTE @ 20FT. OFFSET

20.0000'

<
<

EX
IS

T.
 8

" C
LA

Y 
D

.T
.<

<

END

>>EX. 1
2" C

LAY D.T.
>>

AREA A

AREA B

AREA CAREA D

AREA E
AREA F

(E) 100' RAILROAD ROW

(E) 53' EASEMENT (E) 60' EASEMENT

(E) 78' EASEMENT

(E) 132' EASEMENT

(E) 5' EASEMENT

(E) CATCH BASIN

(E) 72' EASEMENT
(E) 84' EASEMENT

(E) 54' EASEMENT

(E) 5' EASEMENT

(E) 60' EASEMENT

(E) CULVERT

(E) CULVERT

(E) 150' EASEMENT(E) 150' EASEMENT

(E) EASEMENT
TO ILLINOIS
POWER CO

(E) CULVERT

20' (MIN.)
SETBACK FROM
CL OF DRAIN TILE

100' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM RAILROAD

26' (MIN.) SETBACK TO MODULE

26' (MIN.) SETBACK
TO MODULE

26' (MIN.)
SETBACK TO
MODULE

50' (MIN.) SETBACK FROM
CL OF SWALE

65' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM FENCE TO
ROAD

65' (MIN.) SETBACK FROM
FENCE TO ROAD

65' (MIN.)
SETBACK FROM
FENCE TO ROAD

75' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM CL OF
OVERHEAD LINES

75' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM CL OF
OVERHEAD LINES

75' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM CL OF
OVERHEAD LINES

75' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM CL OF
OVERHEAD LINES

240' (MIN.) SETBACK TO
RESIDENTIAL PARCEL (TYP)

(E) 20' EASEMENT

(E) 72' EASEMENT

BayWa r.e.

DR
AW

N:

CH
K'

D:

P.
M.

: PR
OJ

EC
T 

#:

52
76

74
-W

11
1

PR
IN

TE
D:

04
/14

/20
23

FI
LE

 N
AM

E:

dw
g

- I
NT

ER
NA

L U
SE

 O
NL

Y 
-

MM
S

MC
S

JT
G

TR
C

 - 
A

R
C

H
 D

 S
IZ

E
 - 

24
"x

36
" ©

 T
R

C
 C

O
M

P
A

N
IE

S

W-111

BA
YW

A 
R.

E.
 S

OL
AR

 P
RO

JE
CT

S,
 LL

C
PR

AI
RI

E 
SO

LA
R

C
H

A
M

P
A

IG
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
, I

LL
IN

O
IS

3947 Lennane Drive, Suite 130
Sacramento, CA 95834

www.TRCcompanies.com

 -
IS

SU
E 

FO
R 

BI
D

04
.14

.20
23

MM
S

APPROX.
NORTH

D

1

C

B

A

2 3 4

1 2 3 4

D

C

B

A

A
R

R
A

Y
 P

LA
N

N
0°

90°270°

180°
ARRAY
AZIMUTH

SCALE:

1,000'0 500'250'

1" = 500'

SYSTEM SUMMARY
AREA A AREA B AREA C AREA D AREA E AREA F

MODULE MODEL JKM570N-72HL4-TV JKM565N-72HL4-TV JKM570N-
72HL4-TV

JKM565N-
72HL4-TV

MODULE STC DC RATING 570W 565W 570W 565W

MODULES PER SOURCE CIRCUIT 26

MODULE COUNT 90,012 51,584 88,946 35,958 416 17,524 26,104

STC DC SYSTEM SIZE (PER AREA) 51.31 MW 29.40 MW 50.25 MW 20.32 MW 0.24 MW 9.99 MW 14.75 MW

INVERTER QTY (PER AREA) 11 6 10 4 2 3

AC SYSTEM SIZE (PER AREA) 48.40 MW 26.40 MW 44.00 MW 17.60 MW 8.80 MW 13.20 MW

TOTAL MODULE COUNT 310,544

TOTAL STC DC SYSTEM SIZE 176.25 MW

TOTAL AC SYSTEM SIZE 158.40 MW

TOTAL AC POWER RATING AT POI 135 MW

INVERTER MODEL (36) SUNGROW SG4400UD

RACKING SYSTEM ATI

ROW TO ROW SPACING [GCR] 20.2' [36.9%]

MODULE TILT ±52°

ARRAY AZIMUTH 180°

SITE LATITUDE 40°

(N) SUBSTATION
(BY OTHERS)

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

20.20' ROW TO ROW
SPACING (TYP) PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY 12.73' AISLE WIDTH

10' (TYP)

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

57' PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

(N) EQUIPMENT PAD (TYP)

(N) SITE ENTRANCE

(N) SITE ENTRANCE

(N) SITE ENTRANCE

(N) SITE ENTRANCE
(N) SITE ENTRANCE

(N) SITE ENTRANCE

(E) POWER POLE (TYP)

37' NORTH-SOUTH
SPACING (TYP)

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

(E) SUBSTATION

LEGEND

4 STRING TRACKER (570W 104 MODULE)

3 STRING TRACKER (570W 78 MODULE)

4 STRING TRACKER (565W 104 MODULE)

3 STRING TRACKER (565W78 MODULE)

EQUIPMENT PAD

POWER BLOCK FOOTPRINT

(P) FENCE

(P) 20' WIDE ROAD

(P) LANDSCAPE BUFFER

PROPERTY LINE

EASEMENT

SETBACK

FENCE SETBACK

(E) BUILDING

(E) ROAD ASPHALT

(E) DITCH

(E) STORM SEWER

(E) OVERHEAD POWER LINE

(E) ELECTRICAL UNDERGROUND - EIE

(E) ELECTRICAL OVERHEAD - EIE

(E) ELECTRICAL UNDERGROUND - AMEREN

(E) GAS - AMEREN

(E) COMMUNICATIONS - COMCAST

(E) FIBER/TELEPHONE - FRONTIER

(E) COPPER FIBER/TELEPHONE - FRONTIER

RAILROAD TRACKS

DRAIN TILE

X X X X X X X

GENERAL NOTES:
1. MINIMUM SETBACKS

1.1. 275' MIN. SETBACK TO INVERTER FROM FENCE
1.2. 240' MIN. SETBACK TO RESIDENTIAL PARCEL
1.3. 100' MIN. SETBACK FROM RAILROAD
1.4. 75' MIN. SETBACK FROM CL OF OVERHEAD LINES UNLESS (E)

EASEMENT NOTED
1.5. 65' MIN. SETBACK FROM FENCE TO ROAD
1.6. 50' MIN. SETBACK FROM CL OF SWALE
1.7. 26' MIN. SETBACK TO MODULE FROM PROPERTY LINE
1.8. 20' MIN. SETBACK FROM CL OF DRAIN TILE

2. REFER TO CIVIL PLANS FOR LOCATIONS FOR ALL GRADING AND
DRAINAGE FEATURES, PERIMETER FENCES, GATES, LANDSCAPE
BUFFER AND ALL OTHER CIVIL FEATURES.

3. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE AND
LOCAL REQUIREMENTS.

/

53' PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

53' PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

PROPERTY OF BLUE OAK ENERGY

FLOODPLAIN

APPROX. 75' (MIN.) SETBACK
FROM CL OF OVERHEAD LINES

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment B Page 1 of 1

85

- EIEUG -

- EIEOH-

RECEIVED 
APR 25, 2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 



Approximate Fenced Area Jan 2019

The blue and purple areas 
represent an approximation 
of the solar farm location as 
of April 25, 2023. The pink 

outline represents an 
approximation of the solar 

farm fenced area as approved 
in January 2019.

Created by P&Z Staff 04/24/23

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment C Page 1 of 1

86

D 



PREPARED BY: PREPARED FOR: 

A DECOMMISSIONING PLAN FOR 

Prairie Solar 1 
Champaign County, Illinois 
APRIL 14, 2023

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 1 of 17

87

BayWa r.e. Westwood 



Decommissioning 

Plan 

Prairie Solar Project 

Champaign County, Illinois 

Prepared for: 

BayWa r.e. Solar Projects, LLC 

18575 Jamboree Road, Suite 850 

Irvine, CA 92612 

Prepared by: 

Westwood Professional Services 

12701 Whitewater Drive, Suite 300 

Minnetonka, MN 55343 

(952) 937-5150

Project Number: 0028288.00 

Date: April 14, 2023 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 2 of 17

88

Westwood 

Multi-Disciplined Surveying & Engineering 
westwoodps.com 



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

iii 

Table of Contents 

1.0 Introduction / Project Description ......................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Project Background ....................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Objectives...................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Plan Conditions ............................................................................................................................. 1 

2.0 Decommissioning of Facility After Ceasing Operations ......................................................... 1 

2.1 General Environmental Protection ............................................................................................... 1 

2.2 Pre-Decommissioning Activities .................................................................................................... 1 

2.3 Equipment Decommissioning and Removal ................................................................................. 2 

2.4 PV Module Collection and Recycling ............................................................................................. 2 

2.5 Electrical Equipment and Inverters ............................................................................................... 2 

2.6 Roads, Parking Area ...................................................................................................................... 3 

2.7 Other Components ....................................................................................................................... 3 

2.8 Site Restoration ............................................................................................................................. 3 

2.8.1 General Restoration Activities ........................................................................................... 3 

2.8.2 Backfill of Excavations ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.9 Management of Wastes and Excess Materials ............................................................................. 4 

2.10 Emergency Response and Communication Plans ......................................................................... 4 

3.0 Project Decommissioning Cost Estimate................................................................................ 4 

3.1 Cost Estimate ................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.2 Security ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

3.3 Use of Funds .................................................................................................................................. 5 

3.4 Standard Conditions for Decommissioning .................................................................................. 6 

Attachments 

Attachment A: Decommissioning Cost Estimate

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 3 of 17

89

Westwood 



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

1  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

1.0 Introduction / Project Description 

1.1 Project Background 

Prairie Solar 1 is a 135-megawatt (MW) alternating current (AC) solar facility (“Project”) 

proposed for Champaign County, Illinois, spanning approximately 750 acres. The solar 

photovoltaic power array owned by Prairie Solar 1, LLC (or “Applicant”) is anticipated to have a 

total operation period of 40 years. At the completion of its operating life, the Project will either 

be redeveloped with modern equipment, or it will be decommissioned and removed from the 

site in accordance with this Decommissioning Plan (“Plan”). 

1.2 Objectives 

The objective of this Plan is to provide the requisite financial surety to guarantee 

decommissioning of the Project in accordance with the Champaign County Zoning Ordinance 

(“Ordinance”). 

1.3 Plan Conditions 

Prior to commencing decommissioning activities in accordance with this Plan, Prairie Solar 1, 

LLC will provide documentation to process the appropriate permit(s). If the Project is to be 

redeveloped, a new building plan permit will be processed before any installation of new 

equipment. Decommissioning the Project will allow the parcels that were changed under the 

Project’s Special Use Permit (SUP) to be returned to their original zone classifications. 

2.0 Decommissioning of Facility After Ceasing 

Operations 

2.1 General Environmental Protection 

During decommissioning and restoration activities, general environmental protection and 

mitigation measures will be implemented. Many activities during decommissioning will be 

comparable to the construction phase, including the use of heavy equipment on site, preparing 

staging areas, and restoring constructable areas. 

2.2 Pre-Decommissioning Activities 

Prior to engaging in decommissioning activities, Prairie Solar 1, LLC will provide documentation 

to process the appropriate permits in accordance with all relevant county, state, and federal 

statutes in place at the time of decommissioning. 

Prior to any decommissioning or removal of equipment, staging areas will be delineated as 

appropriate. At the end of the Project’s useful life, it will first be de-energized and isolated from 

all external electrical lines. All decommissioning activities will be conducted within designated 

areas; this includes ensuring that vehicles and personnel stay within the demarcated areas. 

Work to decommission the collector lines and Project-owned transmission lines will be 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 4 of 17

90



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

2  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

conducted within the boundaries of the municipal road allowance and appropriate private lands. 

2.3 Equipment Decommissioning and Removal 

The components of the Project are photovoltaic (PV) modules, a mechanical racking system, 

electrical cabling, inverter racks, transformers, and concrete pads, as described below. 

• Modules: The modules will be removed by hand and loaded in a truck to be returned
from recycling or disposal as described below in Section 2.4.

• Mechanical Racking System: The racking and posts will be removed by hand and
with an excavator with a demolition thumb. The recyclable metal will be loaded onto

trucks and hauled away in accordance with Section 2.9.

• Inverter Racks and Inverters: The inverters and their racks will be removed by hand

and loaded onto trucks for recycling in accordance with Section 2.5.

• Transformers: Transformers will be removed in accordance with Section 2.5 and then
loaded onto a truck with a crane and sent for recycling.

• Concrete Pads: The equipment will be disconnected and transported off site by truck.
Per Section 6.1.5Q(3)h of the Ordinance, the depth of removal of foundation concrete

below ground shall be a minimum of 54 inches. The depth of removal of foundation

concrete shall be certified in writing by an Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer and

the certification shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator. The concrete

foundations and support pads will be broken up by mechanical equipment

(backhoe/hydraulic hammer/shovel, jackhammer), loaded onto dump trucks, and

removed from the site. Smaller pre-cast concrete support pads and/or pre-manufactured

metal skids will be removed intact by cranes and loaded onto trucks for reuse, or will be

broken up and hauled away by dump trucks.

2.4 PV Module Collection and Recycling 

All modules will be disconnected, removed from the trackers, packaged and transported to a 

designated location for resale, recycling, or disposal. Any disposal or recycling will be done in 

accordance with applicable laws and requirements. The connecting underground cables and the 

junction boxes will be de-energized, disconnected, and removed. The mechanical racking system 

supporting the PV modules will be unbolted and dismantled by laborers using standard hand 

tools, possible assisted by small portable cranes. All support structures will be completely 

removed by mechanical equipment and transported off site for salvage or reuse. Any demolition 

debris that is not salvageable will be transported by truck to an approved disposal area. Other 

salvageable equipment and/or material will be removed for the site for resale, scrap value, or 

disposal. 

2.5 Electrical Equipment and Inverters 

All decommissioning of electrical devices, equipment, and wiring/cabling will be in accordance 

with local, state, and federal laws. Any electrical decommissioning will include obtaining 

required permits and following applicable safety procedures before de-energizing, isolating, and 

disconnecting electrical devices, equipment, and cabling. 

Decommissioning will require the removal of the electrical equipment, including inverters, 

transformers, underground/aboveground cables, and overhead lines. Per Section 6.1.5Q(3)i of 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 5 of 17

91



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

3  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

the Ordinance, underground electrical cables of a depth of 5 feet or greater may be left in place. 

The decommissioning cost estimate for this Project assumes that cables will be installed at a 

depth above 5 feet, therefore full removal of underground cables has been included. 

Equipment and material may be salvaged for resale or scrap value depending on the market 

conditions. 

2.6 Roads, Parking Area 

Access roads and the parking area will be removed to allow for the complete rehabilitation of 

these areas, unless the landowner provides written consent to retain these features. Typically, 

the granular base covering these areas will be removed. A wheel loader will be used to strip off 

the material, and dump trucks will haul the aggregate to a recycling facility or approved disposal 

facility. The underlying subsoil, if exhibiting significant compaction (more likely for the site 

entrance than interior access roads), will then be diced using a tractor and disc attachment to 

restore the soil structure and to aerate the soil. Clean topsoil will be imported to the site by 

dump truck, replaced over the areas and leveled to match the existing grade. 

2.7 Other Components 

Unless retained for other purposes, removal of all other facility components from the site will be 

completed, including but not limited to surface drains, access road culvert crossings, and 

fencing. Anything deemed usable shall be recovered and reused elsewhere. All other remaining 

components will be considered as waste and managed according to local, state, and federal laws. 

For safety and security, the security fence will be dismantled and removed from the site after all 

major components, PV modules, tracker system, and foundations have been removed. 

2.8 Site Restoration 

2.8.1 General Restoration Activities 

The following activities will be undertaken to restore the site substantially to its previous 

conditions: 

• Soil testing will be performed to determine if any contaminants from equipment are
present in the soil;

• The site will be cleaned up and regraded to its original contours and, if necessary, surface
drainage swales and ditches will be restored;

• Trenches/drains excavated as part of the Project will be filled with suitable materials and
leveled;

• Roads and parking areas will be removed completely, filled with suitable sub-grade
materials and leveled;

• Compacted ground will be tilled, mixed with suitable sub-grade materials and leveled;

• Topsoil will be spread as necessary to ensure suitable conditions for vegetative re-growth
and reseeded with native seed mix to promote vegetation.

The project fence and existing fire access roads may remain in place upon written consent of the 

landowner. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 6 of 17

92



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

4  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

2.8.2 Backfill of Excavations 

Per Section 6.1.5Q(3)k of the Ordinance, the excavation resulting from the removal of 

foundation concrete shall be backfilled with subsoil and topsoil in similar depths and similar 

types as existed at the time of the original Project construction. A lesser quality topsoil or a 

combination of a lesser quality topsoil and a subsoil that is similar to the native subsoil may be 

used at depths corresponding to the native subsoil but not less than 12 inches below grade. 

Native soils excavated during construction of the Project may be stockpiled and seeded 

throughout the operating lifetime of the Project. These native soils may then be used for backfill. 

If the excavated native soils are not stored for use for backfilling the concrete foundation 

excavations, a qualified soil scientist of Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer shall certify that 

the actual soils used to backfill the concrete foundation excavations are of equal or greater 

quality than the native soils or that, in the case of subsoil, the backfill soil meets the 

requirements of this paragraph. The certification shall be submitted to the Zoning 

Administrator.   

An Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer shall certify in writing that the concrete foundation 

excavations have been backfilled with soil to such a depth and with a minimum of compaction 

that is consistent with the restoration of productive agricultural use such that the depth of soil is 

expected to be no less than 54 inches within one year after backfilling.  

2.9 Management of Wastes and Excess Materials 

All wastes and excess materials will be disposed of in accordance with local, state, and federal 

laws. Waste that can be recycled under municipal programs will be done accordingly. Waste that 

requires disposal will be disposed of in state licensed facility be a state licensed hauler. 

2.10 Emergency Response and Communication Plans 

During decommissioning, Prairie Solar 1, LLC will coordinate with local authorities, the public, 

and others as required to provide them with information about the ongoing activities. Besides 

regular direct/indirect communication, signs will be posted at the Project facility to five 

information to the local public and visitors. The Prairie Solar 1, LLC contact information 

(telephone number, email, and mailing address) will be made public for those seeking more 

information about the decommissioning activities and/or reporting emergencies and 

complaints. All inquiries will be directed to the Prairie Solar 1, LLC representative who will 

respond to inquiries. In the event of an emergency, Prairie Solar 1, LLC will mobilize its 

resources to the site to respond to the event. Personnel involved in decommissioning will be 

trained in the emergency response and communication procedures. Emergency response 

procedures will be prepared prior to decommissioning. 

3.0 Project Decommissioning Cost Estimate 

3.1 Cost Estimate 

Prairie Solar 1, LLC shall provide a detailed Decommissioning Cost Estimate, prepared by an 

Illinois Licensed Engineer, prior to the issuance of building permits, which shall include the 

following: 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 7 of 17

93



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

5  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

a) Three (3) individual, gross estimated costs to perform decommissioning for:

aboveground restoration, belowground restoration, and environmental remediation as

set forth in Section 2 above (“Gross Cost”);

b) An increase of the Gross Cost by 25% to eliminate any discrepancy in cost estimation

techniques (“Contingency”);

c) The estimated resale and salvage values associated with the Project equipment (“Salvage

Value”);

d) A reduction from the Salvage Value by 30%, such that only 70% of the Salvage Value can

be used as a credit against the Gross Cost and Admin Factor. The Salvage Value

multiplied by the 70% is the (“Salvage Credit”).

Thus, the Decommissioning Cost Estimate formula is: 

Gross Cost + Contingency – Salvage Credit = the “Decommissioning Cost Estimate” 

3.2 Security 

Prairie Solar 1, LLC will provide an amount equal to the one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) 

the Decommissioning Cost Estimate (as determined by an Illinois-Licensed Engineer), 

(“Decommissioning Security”). All financial assurances required by the Agricultural Impact 

Mitigation Agreement with the Illinois Department of Agriculture shall count towards the total 

financial assurance. Decommissioning Security shall be provided by Prairie Solar 1, LLC prior to 

the Commercial Operation Date. 

The Decommissioning Security will be in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit and an 

escrow account with the Champaign County Board (“County”) as a beneficiary per Section 6.1.5 

Q(4) of the Solar Ordinance. The County has the right to require multiple letters of credit based 

on the regulations governing federal insurance for deposits, and the Applicant, its successors in 

interests, and all parties to decommissioning shall adjust the amount of financial assurance in 

escrow to ensure that it reflects current and accurate information. Unless the County states 

otherwise, the Champaign County State’s Attorney’s Office shall review and approve every Letter 

of Credit prior to Zoning Administrator Acceptance. Decommissioning estimates will be updated 

once every three (3) years for the first twelve (12) years of operation, and every other year 

thereafter. Estimates will be created by an Independent Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer. 

Payment of the Decommissioning Security is to be made in equal installments over the first 

thirteen (13) years of the facility’s life. 

3.3 Use of Funds 

Per Section 6.1.1A(9) of the Ordinance, the Zoning Administrator may draw on the funds for 

decommissioning of the solar facility when any of the following occur: 

a. No response is received from the landowner withing thirty (30) days from initial

notification by the Zoning Administrator;

b. The landowner does not enter, or breaches any term of a written agreement with the

County to remove the Project;

c. Any breach or performance failure of any provision of this Plan;

d. The owner of record has filed a bankruptcy petition, or compromised the County’s

interest in the letter of credit in any way not specifically allowed by this Plan;

e. A court of law has made a finding that the Project constitutes a public nuisance;

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 8 of 17

94



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

6  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

f. The owner of record has failed to replace an expiring letter of credit within the deadlines

set forth in Section 6.1.1A.6 of the Ordinance; or

g. Any other conditions to which to the County and the landowner mutually agree;

Additionally, per Section 6.1.5Q(5) of the Ordinance, the Zoning Administrator may draw on the 

funds for decommissioning of the project when any of the following occur: 

a. In the event that the Project or component thereof ceases to be functional for more than

six months after it starts producing electricity of the Owner is not diligently repairing the

Project or component;

b. In the event that the Owner declares the Project or any Project component to be

functionally obsolete for tax purposes.

c. There is a delay in the construction of the Project of more than 6 months after

construction on that Project begins.

d. The Project or any components thereof that appears in a state of disrepair or imminent

collapse and/or creates an imminent threat to the health or safety of the public or any

person.

e. The Project or any components thereof that is otherwise derelict for a period of 6

months.

f. The Project is in violation of the terms of the SUP for a period exceeding ninety (90)

days.

g. The Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to this Plan has failed to

maintain financial assurance in the form and amount required by the SUP or

compromised the County’s interest in this Plan.

h. The County discovers any material misstatement of fact of misleading omission of fact

made by the Applicant in the course of the SUP Zoning Case.

i. The Applicant has either failed to receive a copy of the certification of design compliance

required by paragraph 6.1.5D. of the Ordinance or failed to submit it to the County

within 12 consecutive months of receiving a Zoning Use Permit regardless of the efforts

of the Applicant to obtain such certification.

3.4 Standard Conditions for Decommissioning 

The following conditions shall apply, per Section 6.1.5Q(3) of the Ordinance: 

a. The applicant or successor shall notify the County by certified mail of the

commencement of voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceeding, naming the

applicant as debtor, within ten days of commencement of proceeding.

b. The applicant shall agree that the sale, assignment in fact or law, or such other transfer

of applicant’s financial interest in the Project shall in no way affect or change the

applicant’s obligation to continue to comply with the terms of this plan. Any successor in

interest, assignee, and all parties to this Plan shall assume the terms, covenants, and

obligations of this plan and agrees to assume all reclamation liability and responsibility

for the Project.

c. The County and its authorized representatives are authorized for right of entry onto the

Project premises for the purpose of inspecting the methods of reclamation or for

performing actual reclamation if necessary.

d. At such time as decommissioning takes place, the Applicant, its successors in interest,

and all parties to this Plan are required to enter into a Roadway Use and Repair

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 9 of 17

95



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

7  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

Agreement with the relevant highway authority. 

e. The Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to this Plan shall provide

evidence of any new, additional, or substitute financing or security agreement to the

Zoning Administrator throughout the operating lifetime of the project.

f. The Applicant, its successors in interest, and all parties to this Plan shall be obliged to

perform the work in this Plan before abandoning the Project or prior to ceasing

production of electricity from the Project, after it has begun, other than in the ordinary

course of business.  This obligation shall be independent of the obligation to pay

financial assurance and shall not be limited by the amount of financial assurance.  The

obligation to perform the reclamation work shall constitute a covenant running with the

land.

g. This plan shall provide for payment of any associated costs that Champaign County may

incur in the event that decommissioning is actually required.  Associated costs include all

administrative and ancillary costs associated with drawing upon the financial assurance

and performing the reclamation work and shall include but not be limited to: attorney’s

fees; construction management and other professional fees; and, the costs of preparing

requests for proposals and bidding documents required to comply with State law or

Champaign County purchasing policies.

h. The depth of removal of foundation concrete below ground shall be a minimum of 54

inches.  The depth of removal of foundation concrete shall be certified in writing by an

Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer and the certification shall be submitted to

the Zoning Administrator (see Section 2.3 of this Plan.)

i. Underground electrical cables of a depth of 5 feet or greater may be left in place (see

Section 2.5 of this Plan).

j. The hole resulting from the removal of foundation concrete during decommissioning

shall be backfilled as follows. Please see Section 2.8.2 of this Plan for this information as

it pertains to site restoration:

a. The excavation resulting from the removal of foundation concrete shall only be

backfilled with subsoil and topsoil in similar depths and similar types as existed

at the time of the original Project construction except that a lesser quality topsoil

or a combination of a lesser quality topsoil and a subsoil that is similar to the

native subsoil may be used at depths corresponding to the native subsoil but not

less than 12 inches below grade.

b. The native soils excavated at the time of the original Project construction may be

used to backfill the concrete foundation excavations at the time of

decommissioning provided that the soils are adequately stored throughout the

operating lifetime of the Project. The methods for storing the excavated native

soils during the operating lifetime of the Project shall be included in the

decommissioning and site reclamation plan.

c. If the excavated native soils are not stored for use for backfilling the concrete

foundation excavations, a qualified soil scientist of Illinois Licensed Professional

Engineer shall certify that the actual soils used to backfill the concrete foundation

excavations are of equal or greater quality than the native soils or that, in the case

of subsoil, the backfill soil meets the requirements of this paragraph. The

certification shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator.

d. An Illinois Licensed Professional Engineer shall certify in writing that the

concrete foundation excavations have been backfilled with soil to such a depth

and with a minimum of compaction that is consistent with the restoration of

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 10 of 17

96



Decommissioning Plan | Prairie Solar Project       April 14, 2023 

8  |  TBPLS Firm #10074302 

productive agricultural use such that the depth of soil is expected to be no less 

than 54 inches within one year after backfilling.  

k. Should this Plan be deemed invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Project’s

SUP shall be deemed void.

l. The Applicant’s obligation to complete this Plan and to pay all associated costs shall be

independent of the Applicant’s obligation to provide financial assurance.

m. The liability of the Applicant’s failure to complete the decommissioning and site

reclamation plan or any breach of this Plan’s requirements shall not be capped by the

amount of financial assurance.

n. If the Applicant desires to remove equipment or property credited to the estimated

salvage value without the concurrent replacement of the property with property of equal

or greater salvage value, or if the Applicant installs equipment or property increasing the

cost of decommissioning after the Project begins to produce electricity, at any point, the

Applicant shall first obtain the consent of the Zoning Administrator.  If the Applicant’s

lien holders remove equipment or property credited to the salvage value, the Applicant

shall promptly notify the Zoning Administrator.  In either of these events, the total

financial assurance shall be adjusted to reflect any change in total salvage value and total

decommissioning costs resulting from any such removal or installation.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 11 of 17

97



Attachment A 

Decommissioning 

Cost Estimate

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 12 of 17

98



Project Size 176.23 MW-DC 135.00 MW-AC

Area within Fence 603.53 Acres

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

Mobilization/Demobilization 1 Lump Sum $621,000.00 $621,000

Subtotal Mobilization/Demobilization $621,000

Mobilization was estimated to be approximately 7% of total cost of other items. 

Permitting

State Permits 1 Lump Sum $10,000.00 $10,000

Subtotal Permitting $10,000

Decommissioning will require a SWPPP and SPCC plan, cost is an estimate of the permit preparation cost

Civil Infrastructure

Removal Gravel Surfacing from Road 14,835 Cubic Yards (BV) $2.61 $38,726

Haul Gravel Removed from Road (Urbana, IL) 18,543 Cubic Yards (LV) $24.90 $461,718

Disposal of Gravel Removal from Road (Use as Daily Cover) 24,032 Tons $0.00 $0

Removal Geotextile Fabric from Road Area 78,366 Square Yards $1.40 $109,712

Haul Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 22 Tons $1.50 $32

Disposal of Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 22 Tons $81.00 $1,746

Remove and Load Culvert from Beneath Access Roads 25 Each $448.00 $11,200

Haul Culvert Removed from Access Roads 8 Tons $1.50 $11

Disposal of Culverts (Clifton, IL) 8 Tons $81.00 $608

Removal Low Water Crossing from Road 10 Each $3,400.00 $34,000

Haul Low Water Crossing Materials Removed from Access Road 400 Ton $1.50 $600

Disposal of Low Water Crossing Materials 400 Ton $30.00 $12,000

Grade Road Corridor (Re-spread Topsoil) 26,122 Linear Feet $2.08 $54,206

Decompaction on Road Area 14.39 Acres $418.71 $6,026

Removal of Security Fence (Agriculture Fence) 60,366 Linear Feet $3.17 $191,480

Removal of Security Fence (Chain Link Fence) 850 Linear Feet $6.99 $5,942

Subtotal Civil Infrastructure $928,007

Civil removal costs are a combination of IDOT unit costs where applicable, RS Means cost for Champaign, IL, and industry standards provided to Westwood

Structural InfrastructureRemoval Steel Foundation Posts and piles (Arrays, Equipment, Met

Towers) 190,585 Each $13.38 $2,549,315

Haul Array Steel Post (Urbana, IL) 3,212 Tons $11.69 $37,552

Removal of  Tracker Racking per String 12,437 Each $96.49 $1,200,052

Haul Tracker Racking (Urbana, IL) 18,181 Tons $11.69 $212,576

Subtotal Structural Infrastructure $3,999,494

Steel removal costs were calculated by using RS Means information for demolition of steel members.

Hauling calculations are based on the locations of metals recyclers.

Electrical Collection System

Removal of PV Panels 323,362 Each $5.27 $1,704,387

Haul PV 95% of Panels to Reseller (We Recycle Solar, Kentucky 10,700 Tons $90.70 $970,558

Haul 5% of  PV Panels for Disposal (Clifton, IL) 563 Tons $19.92 $11,218

Disposal of PV Panels 563 Tons $81.00 $45,618

Removal of Equipment Skids 33 Each $1,107.22 $36,538

Remove Equipment Pad Frames and Pile Foundations 33 Each $0.00 $0

Haul Equipment to Recycler (Urbana, IL) 33 Each $263.07 $8,681

Removal of Scada Equipment 1 Each $5,253.13 $5,253

Removal of DC Collector System Cables (MV) 94,373 Linear Feet $0.77 $72,252

Removal of Fiber Optic Cable 50,485 Linear Feet $1.45 $73,203

Removal of Underground (AC) Collector System Cables (HV) 52,901 Linear Feet $2.22 $117,207

Load and Haul Cables for Recycling 256 Tons $11.69 $2,998

Subtotal Electrical Collection $3,047,914

Electrical removal costs of PV Panels and Combiner Boxes were based industry standard installation rates. Equipment pads,

MV Equipment and Scada Equipment removal cost are based on removal of equipment, concrete pads, and conduits using a 

truck mounted crane and RS Means information on crew production rates.  

Prairie Solar Decommissioning

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 13 of 17

99

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

,, 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 



Transmission System Quantity Units Unit Cost Total Cost

Removal of Overhead  Cables (345 kV) 1,941 Feet $7.90 $15,333

Loadout Overhead Cables 8.82 Tons $37.00 $326

Haul Overhead Cables (345 kV) 8.82 Tons $11.69 $103

Disposal of Overhead Cables (345 kV) (See Salvage Value) 8.82 Tons $0.00 $0

Remove and Load Steel Transmission Poles 6.88 Each $931.86 $6,413

Haul Steel Poles for Recycling 6.88 Each $146.25 $1,006

Haul Hardware, Bracing, and Attachments for Disposal 6.88 Each $6.65 $46

Transmission Pole Component Disposal 1.00 Tons $81.00 $81

Topsoil and Revegetation at Removed Pole 6.88 Each $35.78 $246

Subtotal Transmission System $23,555

Substation

Disassembly and Removal of Main Power Transformer(s) 1 Each $4,500.00 $4,500

Freight Transformer(s) Offsite 118 Tons $10.52 $1,242

Freight Transformer Oil Offsite 12,830 Gallons $0.09 $1,155

Disposal of Transformer (Including Oil) (Salvage Value) 1 Each $0.00 $0

Excavate Around Transformer Foundation(s) 1 Each $2,146.32 $2,146

Remove Complete Transformer Foundation(s) 140 Cubic Yards $93.88 $13,143

Backfill Excavation Area from Transformer Foundation Removal 120 Cubic Yards $41.80 $5,016

Haul Concrete (Foundations Transformer, Switch Gear, etc.) 284 Tons $19.92 $5,661

Disposal of Concrete from Transformer Foundation 284 Tons $81.00 $23,020

Demolish Substation Site Improvements (fences, etc) 1 LS $3,500.00 $3,500

Demolish Control Building and Foundation 1 LS $12,000.00 $12,000

Remove Medium/High Voltage Equipment 1 LS $3,500.00 $3,500

Remove Structural Steel Substation Frame 1 LS $3,500.00 $3,500

Remove Copper Ground Grid 1 LS $6,533.10 $6,533

Load Copper Wire 20,000 Feet $0.70 $13,972

Haul Copper Wire to Recycling 6.5 Tons $11.69 $76

Haul - Demolition Materials, Removed Equipment & Structural Steel 10 Tons $11.69 $117

Disposal of Demolition Materials & Removed Equipment 10 Tons $81.00 $810

Remove and Load Gravel Surfacing from Substation Site 2,304 Cubic Yards (BV) $2.61 $6,016

Haul Gravel Removed from Substation Site 2,881 Cubic Yards (LV) $24.90 $71,724

Disposal of Gravel from Substation Site (Use as Daily Cover) 3,733 Tons $0.00 $0

Grade Substation Site 93,330 SF $0.07 $6,533

Erosion and Sediment Control at Substation Site 1,470 LF $3.73 $5,483

Decompact Substation Site (Subsoiling) 2.1 Acres $418.71 $897

Permanent Seeding at Substation Site 2.1 Acres $15,584.80 $33,391

Subtotal Substation $223,936

O&M Building - Assume resale of building

Site Restoration 

Stabilized Construction Entrance 9 Each $2,000.00 $18,000

Perimeter Controls (Erosion and Sediment Control) 60,366 Linear Feet $3.73 $225,164

Permanent Seeding on roadway areas 14.39 Acres $15,584.80 $224,301

Till to Farmable Condition on array areas 601.39 Acres $236.80 $142,409

Vegetative Screening Removal (Clear and Grub) 7.4 Acres $3,800.00 $28,120

Subtotal Site Restoration $637,994

Public Roads Restoration (Chip Seal) 5.0 Miles $30,000.00 $150,000

Project Management Quantity Units Unit Cost Total Cost

Project Manager 52 Weeks $3,749.00 $194,948

Superintendent 52 Weeks $3,525.00 $183,300

Field Engineer (2) 52 Weeks $3,269.00 $339,976

Clerk (2) 52 Weeks $750.00 $78,000

Subtotal Project Management $796,224

Standard industry weekly rates from RS Means.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 14 of 17

100

T ..,- + 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 
+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 

+ 



Cost Estimate Assumptions 

To develop a cost estimate for the decommissioning of the Project, following assumptions and 

pricing references were utilized: Costs were estimated based on current pricing, technology, and 

regulatory requirements. The assumptions are listed in order from top to bottom of the estimate 

spreadsheet. When publicly available bid prices or Department of Transportation (DOT) bid 

summaries were not available for particular work items, we developed time- and material-based 

estimates considering composition of work crews and equipment and material required using 

RS Means. When materials have a salvage value at the end of the project life, the construction 

activity costs and the hauling/freight cost are separated from the disposal costs or salvage value 

to make revisions to salvage values more transparent. Salvage and resale values are included in 

this estimate. 

1. The Project is anticipated to have a total operation period of 40 years.

2. This Cost Estimate is based on Site Development Plan, dated August 19, 2022.

3. Decommissioning will utilize a full time Project manager or support staff.

Subtotal Demolition/Removals $10,438,123

Administrative Costs (2.5%) $260,953

Contingency (25%) $2,609,531

Subtotal Demolition and Administration Costs $13,308,607

Salvage Quantity Units Unit Cost* Total Cost

Fencing (Agricultural) 94 Tons $229.16 $21,442

Fencing (Chain Link) 4 Tons $229.16 $866

Steel Posts 3,212 Tons $229.16 $736,010

Module Racking 18,181 Tons $229.16 $4,166,461

PV Modules 307,194 Each $36.96 $11,353,215

Transfomers and Inverters 1,018,545 Pounds $0.29 $290,285

Substation Transformers (Core and Coils) 141,018 Pounds $0.29 $40,190

Substation Transformers (Tanks and Fittings) 47 Tons $229.16 $10,879

Transformers (Oil) 43,520 Gallons $0.53 $22,848

Substation Ground Grid (Copper) 13,060 Pounds $2.77 $36,144

DC Collection Lines (Copper) 0 Pounds $1.03 $0

AC Collection Lines (Aluminum) 0 Pounds $0.75 $0

Steel Transmission Poles 0 Tons $229.16 $0

Transmissions Line (Steel) 3 Tons $229.16 $761

Transmission Lines (Aluminum) 11,007 Pounds $0.75 $8,255

Subtotal Salvage $16,678,340

70% of Net Salvage Value per Zoning Ordinance 6.5.1.Q.4.(b)(g) $11,674,838

Salvage values are a combination of the following factors; current market metal salvage prices, current secondary market

for solar panel module recycling, discussions with national companies that specialize in recycling and reselling electrical 

transformers and inverters, and the assumption that care is taken to prevent any damage or breakage of equipment.

Total Demolition Minus Salvage $1,633,769

Total Demolition Minus Salvage per acre $2,707.02

Minimum Financial Assurance 604 Acres $1,000.00 $604,000

Notes:

1. Prices used in analysis are estimated based on research of current average costs and salvage values.

2. Prices provided are estimates and may fluctuate over the life of the project.

3. Contractor means and methods may vary and price will be affected by these.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 15 of 17

101



4. Common labor will be used for most of the tasks except for heavy equipment operation.

5. Mobilization was estimated at approximately 7% of total cost of other items.

6. Permit applications required include the preparation of a Storm Water Pollution

Protection Plan (SWPPP) and a Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure (SPCC)

Plan.

7. Road gravel removal was estimated on a time and material basis using a 23-foot width

and an 8-inch thickness for the access roads. Substation aggregate is included in the

substation quantities. Because the material will not remain on site, a hauling cost is

added to the removal cost. Road aggregate can often be disposed of by giving to

landowners for use on driveways and parking areas. Many landfills will accept clean

aggregate for use as “daily cover” and do not charge for the disposal.

8. Grade Road Corridor reflects the cost of mobilizing and operating light equipment to

spread and smooth the topsoil stockpiled on site to replace the aggregate removed from

the road.

9. Erosion and sediment control along roads reflect the cost of silt fence on the downhill

side of the roads and surrounding all on-site wetlands.

10. Topsoil is required to be stockpiled on the Project site during construction, therefore this

topsoil is available to replace the road aggregate, once removed. Subsoiling cost to de-

compact roadway areas is estimated as $418.71 per acre (based on DOT bid prices for

similar items). Tilling to an agriculture ready condition is estimated as $236.80 per acre

(based on DOT bid prices for Soil Bed Preparation). The majority of the Project area is

assumed to be tilled to an agriculture ready condition. Because decommissioning

activities are expected to minimally impact the grasses and vegetation under the arrays

or heavily compact the soils, the restoration effort is expected to be limited. Array areas

left as pasture will require little restoration effort because the arrays will have been

planted with native plants and pollinator seed mixes.  As a result, the soils will have been

rejuvenated by having been removed from intense farming.

11. Fence removal includes loading, hauling, and recycling or disposal. Fence and posts

weigh approximately 10 pounds per foot.

12. Array support posts are generally lightweight “I” beam sections installed with a piece of

specialized tracked equipment. Crew productivity is approximately 240 posts per day,

and the same crew and equipment should have a similar productivity removing the

posts, resulting in a per post cost of approximately $13.38.

13. A metal recycling facility (Mervis Recycling) located in Urbana, IL is 17 miles from the

Project site. Five-year average pricing for metals was obtained from Pricing was acquired

from www.SteelBenchmarker.com and www.scrapmonster.com. The posts weigh

approximately 150 pounds each, and hauling costs were estimated at approximately

$0.70 per ton mile. The pricing from Steel Benchmarker and Scrapmonster has been

adjusted to 70 percent of the published price to reflect the processing required for the

posts to fit recycling requirements and Mervis Recycling’s margin.

14. Based on the review of a manufacturer’s details of typical array support structures, the

structures weigh approximately 15 pounds per linear foot or array. The facility has

323,363 modules, for a total module weight of 11,263 tons. The arrays are made of steel

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 16 of 17

102

http://www.steelbenchmarker.com/
http://www.scrapmonster.com/


pipes so a crew with hand tools can disassemble and cut the pieces to sizes for recycling 

at a rate of about 1800 pounds per person per hour, or about $100 per ton. 

15. Hauling the steel to Urbana, IL costs about $6.76 per ton (at $0.20 per ton mile).

16. The solar panels rated at 545 watts measure approximately 3.72 feet by 7.50 feet and

weigh 69.67 pounds so they can easily be disconnected, removed, and packed by a three-

person crew at a rate we estimate at 12 panels per hour

17. The solar panels will have a resale value in the early year of project life. Therefore, the

salvage value has been estimated as $0.07 per watt per recent decommissioning project

estimate given by We Recycle Solar. At the end of project life, the solar panels should be

hauled for disposal and the salvage value would be negligible. The panel resale value is

estimate based on the DC output.

18. The equipment cabinets contain copper and/or aluminum windings that have significant

salvage value. The transformers are typically oil filled, but most transformer recyclers

will accept them with oil. The estimated costs include removal of the metal frames and

conduits feeding the equipment. They must be lifted by a truck mounted crane for

transport to the recycler.

19. Medium voltage (MV) equipment and SCADA equipment are mounted on the same

equipment skid as the transformer and enclosed in weatherproof cabinets. Their size

requires light equipment to remove them. The costs shown include the removal of the

metal frame.

20. The underground collector system cables are placed in trenches with a minimum of five

feet of cover.

21. To reduce tracking of sediment off-site by trucks removing materials, we have included a

rock construction entrance priced based on state DOT bid prices for similar items.

22. Perimeter control pricing is based on a sediment fence placed on the downgrade side of

the work area perimeters and protecting wetlands and drainage swales within the project

area. Pricing is based on RS Means unit prices.

23. No topsoil will be removed from landowners’ properties or used on other landowners’

properties during decommissioning. The majority of the Project site is not anticipated to

have been compacted by heavy truck or equipment traffic so no topsoil will need to be

imported, and very few areas will need to be de-compacted.

24. According to Zoning ordinance section 6.15Q(4)b.(g), a financial assurance of $1,000 per

acre is required. Total area enclosed within the fence is approximately 603.53 acres.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment D Page 17 of 17

103



Attachment E: Champaign County Road Agreement 

can be found online at: http://www.co.champaign.il.us/CountyBoard/meetings_ELUC.php 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment E Page 1 of 1

104



Attachment F: Sidney Township Road Agreement 

can be found online at: http://www.co.champaign.il.us/CountyBoard/meetings_ELUC.php 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment F Page 1 of 1

105



Attachment G: Village of Homer Road Agreement 

can be found online at: http://www.co.champaign.il.us/CountyBoard/meetings_ELUC.php 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment G Page 1 of 1

106



NOISE ASSESSMENT TECHNICAL REPORT 

for the 

Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout, 

Sidney Area of Champagne County, Illinois 

Prepared for: 

Prairie Solar LLC 
17901 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 1050 

Irvine, CA 92614 

Prepared by: 

1630 San Pablo Ave Ste 300 

Oakland, California 94612 

Contact: Jonathan Leech, INCE 

APRIL 2023 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 1 of 48

107

DUDEK 



Printed on 30% post-consumer recycled material. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 2 of 48

108



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

i April 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section Page No. 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS .................................................................................... II 

1 INTRODUCTION..............................................................................................................1 

1.1 Report Purpose and Scope ...................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Regional and Local Setting ..................................................................................... 1 

1.2.1 Regional Location ....................................................................................... 1 

1.2.2 Project Setting ............................................................................................. 1 

1.3 Project Description.................................................................................................. 3 

1.4 Noise Background and Terminology ...................................................................... 5 

1.5 Noise Regulation and Management ........................................................................ 8 

2 EXISTING NOISE ENVIRONMENT ...........................................................................13 

2.1 Noise Levels.......................................................................................................... 13 

2.2 Sensitive Receptors - Residences.......................................................................... 14 

3 PROJECT NOISE LEVELS ...........................................................................................16 

3.1 Equipment Noise Source Descriptions ................................................................. 16 

3.2 Octave-Band Sound Levels Conversion to dBA .................................................. 17 

3.3 Equipment Noise Levels at Existing Sensitive Receptors .................................... 18 

3.3.2 Conclusions .................................................................................................. 23 

4 REFERENCES CITED ...................................................................................................25 

FIGURES 

Figure 1 Project Location .......................................................................................................2 

Figure 2 Site Plan ...................................................................................................................4 

Figure 3 Noise Measurement and Noise-Sensitive Receptor Locations ..............................15 

Figure 4 Noise Contour Map ................................................................................................22 

APPENDICES 

A Noise Measurement Data and Existing Day-Night Average Levels 

B Octave Band to A-Weighted Spectrum Worksheets 

C Mechanical Equipment Specification Sheets 

D NoisePro Model Inputs & Outputs 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 3 of 48

109

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

ii April 2023 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

Acronym/Abbreviation Meaning 

AC alternating current 

ANSI American National Standards Institute 

CFR Code of Federal Regulations 

CNEL community noise equivalent level 

dB decibel 

dBA A-weighted decibel

DC direct current 

gen-tie generator tie-in 

kV kilovolt 

Ldn day-night sound level 

Leq equivalent sound level 

Lmax maximum sound level 

Lmin minimum sound level 

LT long-term noise measurement location 

Lxx percentile-exceeded sound levels 

NSLU noise-sensitive land use 

O&M operations and maintenance 

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Act 

PV photovoltaic 

SCADA supervisory control and data acquisition 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 4 of 48

110

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

1 April 2023 

1 INTRODUCTION  

1.1 Report Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this technical report is to quantify the noise levels associated with operation of the 

updated site configuration layout for the previously approved project, and to compare these with 

restrictions established under the Illinois Pollution Control Board (IPCB) regulations (35 Illinois 

Administrative Code Subtitle H: Noise Parts 900, 901, 910).  This introductory section provides a 

description of the updated site layout and the project location. Section 2 describes noise-sensitive 

receptors, regulatory setting, and existing ambient noise levels in the project vicinity.  Section 3 

describes noise levels that could result with project implementation, and compares these to applicable 

regulations.  Section 4, References Cited, includes a list of the references cited. 

1.2 Regional and Local Setting 

1.2.1 Regional Location 

The Project site is located in Sidney Township, in northeastern Champaign County (County) Illinois 

(Figure 1, Project Location). The Project site is approximately 9 miles southeast of the City of 

Champaign and 0.25 miles southeast of the city of Sidney, and intersects the unincorporated 

community of Rutherford. The Project site is located east of S. Bryant Road. County Road 900 

traverses the site from east to west, and County Road 2200 E. and County Road 2300 E traverse the 

site from north to south. The Project site is located adjacent to the city of Sidney to the northwest, 

and agricultural operations to the north, east, south and west. A gen-tie line would extend west 

approximately 1,500 feet from the Project site to the existing Ameren Illinois substation located to 

the northwest of the project site.  

The location of the Project was selected because of its proximity to the existing Ameren Illinois 

transmission corridor, the site’s nearby access to existing roads, and the site’s excellent solar 

irradiance. Locally, site access to the Project would be located at three different locations along 

County Road 900 N, and three locations along County Road 2200E.   

1.2.2 Project Setting 

The Project site and surrounding properties are mostly composed of agricultural operations. An 

existing Ameren Illinois transmission line corridor exists along the northern edge of the project 

site, a second transmission corridor runs north to south along County Road 2200E, and two 

additional transmission corridors run east to west across the project site.  There are scattered 

residential structures in the project vicinity, some of which are immediately adjacent to the project 

boundaries.  Existing residences are depicted on report figures discussed below. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 5 of 48

111
DUDEK 



Project Location
Prairie Solar Project

SOURCE: USGS 7.5-Minute Series St. Joseph Quadrangle

Da
te:

 1
0/3

/20
18

  -
  L

as
t s

av
ed

 by
: m

wa
tso

n 
 - 

 P
ath

: Z
:\P

ro
jec

ts\
j11

07
80

1\
MA

PD
OC

\IS
\F

igu
re

1_
Pr

oje
ctL

oc
at

ion
.m

xd

FIGURE 1

57

74

72

105

54

130

10

47

9

49

150

136

Ogden Fithian

Homer

Tolono
Sadorus

Pesotum Broadlands

Ludlow
Foosland

Rantoul Gifford

Lake of the
Woods

Mahomet
Royal

Bondville
St. Joseph

Savoy

Sidney

Philo

Ivesdale

Fisher

Thomasboro

Longview

P i a t t
C o u n t y

F o r d  C o u n t y

D o u g l a s  C o u n t y

V e r m i l i o n
C o u n t y

C H A M P A I G N

C O U N T Y
Project Location

0 2,0001,000
Feet

Project Boundary Co
un

ty
 R

oa
d 

22
00

 E

Co
un

ty
 R

oa
d 

23
00

 E

County Road 900 N

S 
Br

ya
nt

 S
tre

et

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 6 of 48

112

---4-
J \ 

D 

DUDEK 6 

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Pencil

jleech
Pencil

jleech
Pencil

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

3 April 2023 

1.3 Project Description 

The Project includes up to a 135 MW solar power generating installation. The approximately 

700-acre site would house all structures, including solar panels, fixed-tilt or single-axis tracking

support structures, inverters, SCADA, and interconnection facilities (on-site substation), all of

which would be enclosed by a perimeter security fence. The proposed site plan is shown on Figure

2. Solar energy would be captured by PV panels mounted to a single-axis racking system. The

high-efficiency commercially available PV panels convert incoming sunlight to direct current

(DC) electrical energy. The panels are arranged in series to effectively increase output voltage to

approximately 1,500 volts. These series chains of panels are called “strings” in industry terms

and provide the basic building block of power conversion in the solar array. The strings are

combined in the solar field through an above- or belowground DC collection system, and then

further ganged together at the inverter stations, where the energy is converted to AC and then

stepped to an intermediate voltage, typically 34.5 kV. The chosen PV panel would be

monocrystalline silicon and would be well suited for the environment due to their durability and

reliability.

The racking system would be supported, when practical, by driven piers (piles) directly embedded 

into the ground, and would be parallel to the ground. Each rack would hold approximately 78 to 

104 panels (depending on final configuration) and at its highest edge would have a maximum 

height up to 12 feet above grade, depending on the dimensions of the chosen panel and racking 

technology. The minimum clearance from the lower edge of the panel to ground level would be 

approximately 18 to 24 inches, pending final design. The single-axis tracking system would rotate 

slowly throughout the day at a range of +/- 60 degrees facing east to west to stay perpendicular 

to the incoming solar rays so that energy production would be optimized.  

Inverter stations would consist of a prefabricated system contained in weather-proof cabinets, and 

would perform three critical functions for the solar facility: (1) collect DC power in a central location, 

(2) convert the DC power into AC power, and (3) convert low-voltage AC power to medium-voltage

AC power. The inverter station cabinets would house DC collection equipment, utility-scale

inverters, and a low- to medium-voltage transformer. The output power from the inverter stations is

then fed to the AC collection system through an above- or belowground collection system. This AC

collection system would deliver the electricity to the on-site substation, where the voltage would be

stepped up through a transformer to the interconnection voltage.

Proposed inverters stations would be from Sungrow Power Supply Co., Ltd (SG4400UD-MV). 

The inverter stations are proposed to be distributed throughout the site, on a total of 36 small 

concrete foundation pads.  The Site Plan (Figure 2) illustrates the locations of the inverter stations 

within the solar array fields. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 7 of 48

113

DUDEK 



DUDEK     Prairie Solar Project 

SOURCE:  Baywa 2023 FIGURE 2 

Site Plan 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 8 of 48

114

• 

SYSTSI SUUMARY 

LEGEND 

----- -~ 
- m.ll - 4i1Mmiia~ 

- mDl - 411~......,,.. - ~- · ---
--- -- .. - ·-
G AAL NOTES. 

,& _,__..__ ______ _ 

----------__ ...., __ _ 
.. -------------.. _,_.....,_, ___ .. ___ m:t&• 

:z~-------WI &.~-------..rill---PIM,aoin-"'fiq 

~ ~~ g 
J 

H 
~" ~ ~z 
8!!; ~,: 

~' II "' §'" a: 

W-121 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

5 April 2023 

On-Site Collector Substation 

The Project on-site substation would be the termination point of the collection system for 34.5 kV 

electricity. The output of the entire field would be passed through a final interconnection step-up 

transformer to convert it to the grid tie voltage at 138 kV. Additionally the Project on-site 

substation would host the grid intertie safety equipment and switches required to interconnect to 

the Ameren Illinois high-voltage substation. The footprint of the on-site substation would be 

approximately 300 feet by 200 feet. The Project on-site substation would consist of components 

up to 55 feet in height, and feeders would be overhead lines constructed with 48-foot-tall and 70-

foot-tall poles for the single and double circuits, respectively. 

Generator Tie-In Line 

The energy generated would be transmitted from the on-site step-up conversion facilities directly 

to the Ameren Illinois substation located to the northwest of the project site.  A project gen-tie line 

of  approximately 1,500 feet in length would be constructed from the on-site collection substation 

to the Ameren Illinois substation.  

1.4 Noise Background and Terminology 

Fundamentals of Environmental Noise 

Vibrations, traveling as waves through air from a source, exert a force perceived by the human 

ear as sound. Sound pressure level (referred to as sound level) is measured on a logarithmic scale 

in dB that represent the fluctuation of air pressure above and below atmospheric pressure. 

Frequency, or pitch, is a physical characteristic of sound and is expressed in units of cycles per 

second or hertz. The normal frequency range of hearing for most people extends from about 20 

to 20,000 hertz.  Sound pressure level may be measured in octave bands; an individual octave 

has a range of frequencies whose upper frequency limit is twice that of its lower frequency limit. 

For example, the 1000 Hertz octave band contains noise energy at all frequencies from 707 to 

1414 Hertz. The center frequencies of these octave bands are defined by the International 

Standards Organization (ISO) - 31.5 Hz, 63 Hz, 125 Hz, 250 Hz, 500 Hz, 1 kHz, 2 kHz, 4 kHz, 

8 kHz, 16 kHz to divide the audible spectrum into 10 equal parts. 

The human ear is more sensitive to middle and high frequencies, especially when the noise levels 

are quieter. As noise levels get louder, the human ear starts to hear the frequency spectrum more 

evenly. To accommodate for this phenomenon, a weighting system to evaluate how loud a noise 

level is to a human was developed. The frequency weighting, called “A” weighting, de-

emphasizes the low-frequency components of the sound in a manner similar to the response of a 

human ear. This A-weighted sound level is called the “noise level” and is referenced in units of 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 9 of 48

115
DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

6 April 2023 

dBA.  Sound level meters make this adjustment automatically, adding or subtracting an 

appropriate value to each of the 10 octave bands. 

Since sound is measured on a logarithmic scale, a doubling of sound energy results in a 3-dBA 

increase in the noise level. Changes in a community noise level of less than 3 dBA are not typically 

noticed by the human ear; changes from 3 to 5 dBA may be noticed by some individuals who are 

extremely sensitive to changes in noise; a 5-dBA increase is readily noticeable (U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency [EPA] 1974). The human ear perceives a 10-dBA increase in 

sound level as a doubling of the sound level (i.e., 65 dBA sounds twice as loud as 55 dBA to a 

human ear). 

An individual’s noise exposure occurs over a period of time; however, noise level is a measure of 

noise at a given instant in time. Community noise sources vary continuously, being the product of 

many noise sources at various distances, all of which constitute a relatively stable background or 

ambient noise environment. The background, or ambient, noise level gradually changes throughout 

a typical day, corresponding to distant noise sources such as traffic volume and changes in 

atmospheric conditions.  

Noise levels are generally higher during the daytime and early evening when traffic (including 

airplanes), commercial, and industrial activity is the greatest. However, noise sources experienced 

during night-time hours when background levels are generally lower can be potentially more 

conspicuous and irritating to the receiver. To evaluate noise in a way that considers periodic 

fluctuations experienced throughout the day and night, a concept termed the “day-night sound 

level” (Ldn) was developed, wherein noise measurements are weighted, added, and averaged over 

a 24-hour period to reflect magnitude, duration, frequency, and time of occurrence. 

Different types of measurements are used to characterize the time-varying nature of sound. 

These measurements include the equivalent sound level (Leq), the minimum and maximum 

sound levels (Lmin and Lmax, respectively), percentile-exceeded sound level (Lxx), the day-night 

sound level (Ldn), and CNEL. The following list provides brief definitions of noise terminology 

used in this report: 

• Daytime hours: 7:00 am to 10:00 pm, local time.

• Decibel (dB) is a unitless measure of sound on a logarithmic scale, which indicates the

squared ratio of sound pressure amplitude to a reference sound pressure amplitude. The

reference pressure is 20 micropascals.

• A-weighted decibel (dBA) is an overall frequency-weighted sound level in decibels that

approximates the frequency response of the human ear.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 10 of 48

116

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

7 April 2023 

• Equivalent sound level (Leq) is the constant level that, over a given time period, transmits

the same amount of acoustic energy as the actual time-varying sound. Equivalent sound

levels are the basis for the Ldn scale.

• Highly Impulsive Sound: either a single pressure peak or a single burst (multiple

pressure peaks) for a duration usually less than one second. Examples of highly

impulsive sound sources are drop forge hammer and explosive blasting.

• Maximum sound level (Lmax) is the maximum sound level measured during the

measurement period.

• Minimum sound level (Lmin) is the minimum sound level measured during the

measurement period.

• Nighttime hours: 10:00 pm to 7:00 am, local time.

• Octave band sound pressure level: the sound pressure level for the sound being measured

contained within the specified octave band. The reference pressure is 20 micronewtons per

square meter.

• Percentile-exceeded sound level (Lxx) is the sound level exceeded X% of a specific time

period. L10 is the sound level exceeded 10% of the time.

• Day-Night Average Sound Level (Ldn) The Ldn is a 24-hour average A-weighted sound

level with a 10 dB penalty added to the nighttime hours from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. The

10 dB penalty is applied to account for increased noise sensitivity during the nighttime

hours.

Exterior Noise Distance Attenuation 

Noise sources are classified in two forms: (1) point sources, such as stationary equipment or a 

group of construction vehicles and equipment working within a spatially limited area at a given 

time; and (2) line sources, such as a roadway with a large number of pass-by sources (motor 

vehicles). Sound generated by a point source typically diminishes (attenuates) at a rate of 6.0 dBA 

for each doubling of distance from the source to the receptor at acoustically “hard” sites and at a 

rate of 7.5 dBA for each doubling of distance from source to receptor at acoustically “soft” sites. 

Sound generated by a line source (i.e., a roadway) typically attenuates at a rate of 3 dBA and 4.5 

dBA per doubling distance, for hard and soft sites, respectively. Sound levels can also be attenuated 

by man-made or natural barriers. For the purpose of a sound attenuation discussion, a hard or 

reflective site does not provide any excess ground-effect attenuation and is characteristic of asphalt 

or concrete ground surfaces, as well as very hard-packed soils. An acoustically soft or absorptive 

site is characteristic of unpaved loose soil or vegetated ground.  

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 11 of 48

117
DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

8 April 2023 

With respect to examples of this distance-attenuation relationship for exterior noise, a 60-dBA 

noise level measured at 50 feet from a transformer within a paved substation site would diminish 

to 54 dBA at 100 feet from the source, and to 48 dBA at 200 feet from the source. This scenario is 

addressed by the point source attenuation for a hard site (6 dBA with each doubling of the 

distance). For the scenario where soft-site conditions exist between the point source and receptor, 

represented by a corridor of vegetation or open ground along the substation perimeter, an 

attenuation rate of 7.5 dBA per doubling of distance would apply; the transformer noise measured 

as a 60 dBA at 50 feet would diminish to 52.5 dBA at 100 feet from the source and to 45 dBA at 

200 feet from the source, where soft ground with or without vegetation exists between the sound 

source and the receptor location. 

Health Effects of Noise 

Noise is known to have a number of different adverse effects on humans. Based upon these 

recognized adverse effects of noise, criteria have been established to help protect the public health 

and safety and prevent disruption of certain human activities. These criteria are based on effects 

of noise on people such as hearing loss (not generally associated with community noise), 

communication interference, sleep interference, physiological responses, and annoyance. 

1.5 Noise Regulation and Management 

1.5.1 State of Illinois 

Illinois Pollution Control Board (IPCB) regulations  

(35 Illinois Administrative Code Subtitle H: Noise Parts 900, 901, 910). 

The Illinois Pollution Control Board regulates the level of allowable noise generation on the basis 

of the classification of the source land use and the receiver land use.  The land use classification 

system employed under Section 901 of Chapter 35, Subtitle H is the “Land-Based Classification 

Standards” [LBCS] published by the American Planning Association (APA 2001).  The applicable 

language from Section 901 regarding land classification is provided below. 

Section 901.101 Classification of Land According to Use 

b) Class A land includes all land used as specified by LBCS Codes 1000 through 1340, 2410

through 2455, 5200 through 5230, 5500, 6100 through 6145, 6222, 6510 through 6530, 6568

through 6600.

d) Class C land includes all land used as specified by LBCS Codes 3100 through 3440, 4120

through 4180, 4210 through 4212, 4300 through 4347, 7400 through 7450, 8000 through 8500,

and 9100 through 9520.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 12 of 48

118

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

9 April 2023 

Residences are included in LBCS codes 1000 to 1340, and are therefore considered a Class A land 

use.  Agricultural land and activity are included in codes 9100 to 9520; alternative energy 

production facilities are included in codes 4300 to 4347.  Consequently, the existing and proposed 

uses within the project site boundaries are considered Class C land uses.  Under these provisions 

of Section 901.101, the project sound emission would be from “Class C” land and the most 

restrictive limits would be applied to project noise at “Class A” land. Since residences exist in the 

project vicinity, these receivers are afforded the most protection under Section 901, as compared 

to land uses defined as belonging to Class B or Class C.  The pertinent noise level limitations for 

project-generated noise at vicinity residences in contained in Section 901.102.   

Section 901.102 Sound Emitted to Class A Land 

a) Except as elsewhere provided in this Part, no person shall cause or allow the emission

of sound during daytime hours from any property-line-noise-source located on any

Class A, B or C land to any receiving Class A land which exceeds any allowable octave

band sound pressure level specified in the following table, when measured at any point

within such receiving Class A land, provided, however, that no measurement of sound

pressure levels shall be made less than 25 feet from such property-line-noise-source.

Daytime Limits 

Octave Band Center Frequency (Hertz) Allowable Octave Band Sound Pressure 

Levels (dB) of Sound Emitted to any 

Receiving Class A Land from Class C Land 

31.5 75 

63 74 

125 69 

250 64 

500 58 

1000 52 

2000 47 

4000 43 

8000 40 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 13 of 48

119

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

10 April 2023 

b) Except as provided elsewhere in this Part, no person shall cause or allow the emission

of sound during nighttime hours from any property-line-noise-source located on any

Class A, B or C land to any receiving Class A land which exceeds any allowable octave

band sound pressure level specified in the following table, when measured at any point

within such receiving Class A land, provided, however, that no measurement of sound

pressure levels shall be made less than 25 feet from such property-line-noise-source.

Nighttime Limits 

Octave Band Center Frequency (Hertz) Allowable Octave Band Sound Pressure 

Levels (dB) of Sound Emitted to any 

Receiving Class A Land from Class C Land 

31.5 69 

63 67 

125 62 

250 54 

500 47 

1000 41 

2000 36 

4000 32 

8000 32 

Section 901.104 Highly-Impulsive Sound 

Except as provided elsewhere in this Part, no person shall cause or allow the emission of highly-

impulsive sound from any property-line-noise-source located on any Class A, B, or C land to any 

receiving Class A or B land which exceeds the allowable A-weighted sound levels, measured with 

fast dynamic characteristic, specified in the following table when measured in accordance with the 

procedure of 35 Ill. Adm. Code 900.103 at any point within such receiving Class A or B land, 

provided, however, that no measurement of sound levels shall be made less than 25 feet from such 

property-line-noise-source.   

Highly Impulsive Sound Limits 

Allowable A-weighted Sound Levels in Decibels of Highly-Impulsive Sound Emitted from 

Class C to Receiving Class A  

Daytime Nighttime 

53 43 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 14 of 48

120
DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

11 April 2023 

 1.5.1 Champagne County 

Zoning Ordinance Solar Farm Text Amendment 

On August 23, 2018 the Champaign County Board approved an amendment to the zoning 

ordinance to allow photovoltaic solar farms on certain agricultural properties.  Sub-section I of the 

text amendment addresses noise limitations (presented below). 

I. Standard Conditions for Allowable Noise Level

(1) Noise levels from any PV SOLAR FARM shall be in compliance with the applicable Illinois

Pollution Control Board (IPCB) regulations (35 Illinois Administrative Code Subtitle H:

Noise Parts 900, 901, 910).

(2) The Applicant shall submit manufacturer’s sound power level characteristics and other

relevant data regarding noise characteristics of proposed PV SOLAR FARM equipment

necessary for a competent noise analysis.

(3) The Applicant, through the use of a qualified professional, as part of the siting approval

application process, shall appropriately demonstrate compliance with the above noise

requirements as follows:

a. The SPECIAL USE permit application for other than a COMMUNITY PV SOLAR FARM

shall include a noise analysis that includes the following:

(a) The pre-development 24-hour ambient background sound level shall be identified at

representative locations near the site of the proposed PV SOLAR FARM.

(b) Computer modeling shall be used to generate the anticipated sound level resulting

from the operation of the proposed PV SOLAR FARM within 1,500 feet of the

proposed PV SOLAR FARM.

(c) Results of the ambient background sound level monitoring and the modeling of

anticipated sound levels shall be clearly stated in the application and the application

shall include a map of the modeled noise contours within 1,500 feet of the proposed

PV SOLAR FARM.

(d) The application shall also clearly state the assumptions of the computer model’s

construction and algorithms so that a competent and objective third party can as

simply as possible verify the anticipated sound data and sound levels.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 15 of 48

121
DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

12 April 2023 

Special Use Permit for Prairie Solar 1 (Ordinance No. 2019-1) 

On January 24, 2019, the Champaign County Board approved a Special Use Permit for the Prairie 

Solar 1 Project (adopted as Ordinance No. 2019-1). The conditions of approval for Ordinance No. 

2019-1 would also govern the currently proposed project re-configuration; specifically, the 

following noise condition applies. 

4. That the granting of the Special Use Permit in Zoning Case 898-S-18 include the following

special conditions of approval:

H. The petitioner shall install sound reduction kits from the inverter manufacturer to each

of the inverters in the solar farm so that operational sound levels for the duration of the

solar farm will be less than 39 dBA at all existing residential lots within 1,500 feet of the

project site and the 39 dBA shall be the sound level that shall be enforced by Champagne

County subject to the relevant standards of the Illinois Pollution Control Board and Illinois

Environmental Protection Agency.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 16 of 48

122

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

13 April 2023 

2 EXISTING NOISE ENVIRONMENT 

2.1 Noise Levels 

Existing (pre-project) noise conditions present in the study area were inventoried by Dudek in 

September 2018 for the original project. Recent aerial imagery (Google EarthPro 2023) indicates 

there has been no new development in the project area since 2018, and therefore local ambient 

noise levels documented in 2018 would also exist currently (in 2023).  

Sound-level measurements were performed using four SoftdB Piccolo Models, which are ANSI Type II. 

ANSI Type II sound-level meters have sufficient accuracy to be used for environmental noise evaluation. 

Sound level meters were operated on tri-pods at a height of 5 feet above ground level, consistent with 

standards for environmental noise assessment. The sound-level meters were calibrated before and after 

measurements using a Rion Laboratory Model NC-74 calibrator. 

The four selected locations for 24-hour measurements are depicted on Figure 3 as LT1 to LT4.  

Each measurement site was located on an existing residential property, between the residence and 

adjacent roadway.  A description of the measurement locations is provided below. 

Table 1 – Ambient Noise Measurement Locations 

Site Adjacent Road Measurement Site Description 

LT1 S. Bryant Street Closest residence to the west of the project boundaries, receiver R11 for 

modelling. 

LT2 E. Main Street Closest residence to the north of the project boundaries, receiver R15 for 

modelling. 

LT3 County Rd. 2400 E Closest residence to the east, not included in noise modelling (approximately 

2500 feet from project boundary) 

LT4 County Rd. 2200 E Closest residence to the south of the project boundaries, receiver R3 for 

modelling. 

A 24-hour measurement captures the fluctuations in sound levels throughout the daytime and overnight 

period, providing a good representation of the typical ambient noise conditions for these existing 

residential uses and the project vicinity in general.  Table 2 summarizes the range of daytime and 

nighttime hourly average values (Leq),  minimum (Lmin) and maximum (Lmax) sound levels recorded for 

each monitor location during the 24-hour measurement, as well as the calculated 24-hour weighted 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 17 of 48

123

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

14 April 2023 

average noise level (Ldn). The dates of the measurement and primary sound sources affecting the 

measurement are also provided in Table 5 for each long-term monitor location.  Appendix A 

contains the field data and Ldn calculations regarding the noise measurement program. 

Table 2 - Ambient Sound Level Measurement Results (dBA) 

Site Noise Sources Dates 

Day 

Leq Range 

Night 

Leq Range Ldn Lmax Lmin 

LT1 Traffic on S. Bryant Street, harvest activity 09.26.18 – 09.27.18 60 - 65 54 - 64 66 92 46 

LT2 Traffic on E. Main Street 09.26.18 – 09.27.18 67 - 73 64 - 72 74 94 33 

LT3 Traffic on County Rd. 2400 E, harvesting 09.26.18 – 09.27.18 49 - 59 39 - 56 58 85 36 

LT4 Traffic on County Rd. 2200 E 09.26.18 – 09.27.18 48 - 63 41 - 55 58 85 37 

Notes: dBA = decibel; LT = long-term roadway noise measurement location; Leq = equivalent sound level (hourly average); 
Ldn = day-night sound level; Lmax = maximum sound level; Lmin = minimum sound level. 

The results of the ambient noise survey from long-term measurements reflect daytime noise levels 

that range between 48 and 63 dBA Leq in the vicinity of existing noise-sensitive receptors along 

the two less-travelled roadways (LT3 and LT4).  Higher daytime noise levels, ranging from 60 to 

73 dBA Leq were recorded at LT1 and LT2, locations adjacent to highly-travelled roadways.  The 

day-night average noise levels were 58 dBA Ldn at LT3 and LT4, representative of areas influenced 

by both roadway traffic and light agricultural activity.  LT1 has a day-night average of 66 dBA Ldn 

which is reflective of moderate levels of roadway traffic along S. Bryan Street. LT2 has a day-

night average of 74 dBA Ldn which is reflective of heavy levels of roadway traffic along E. Main 

Street.    

Noise measurement data and existing Ldn calculation worksheets are provided in Appendix A. 

2.2 Sensitive Receptors - Residences 

Residences exist in the project vicinity, which are considered a noise sensitive land use.  Residences fall 

under “Class A” land uses with respect to the Illinois Pollution Control Board (IPCB) regulations (35 

Illinois Administrative Code Subtitle H: Noise Parts 900, 901, 910).  The noise limits are more stringent 

at Class A lands than at Class B or Class C lands, with respect to noise emanating from activities adjacent 

to such residences. 

Existing residences proximate to the project boundaries are illustrated on Figure 3.  Each of the existing 

residences in the project vicinity is identified with an “R” designation on Figure 3, which denotes that 

project operational noise has been modeled at this “Receiver” location.  

These closest residences to the project boundaries were selected for specific noise modeling, as 

being representative of the worst-case noise exposure levels from the proposed project. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 18 of 48

124
DUDEK 



Measurement and Modelled Receiver Locations
Prairie Solar Project

SOURCE: BING

D
a

te
: 

1
0/

8
/2

0
18

  
- 

 L
a

st
 s

a
ve

d
 b

y:
 k

ze
ch

er
  -

  
P

at
h

: Z
:\P

ro
je

ct
s\

j1
1

0
78

01
\M

A
P

D
O

C
\N

O
IS

E
\F

ig
u

re
3

_M
ea

su
re

m
e

nt
 a

n
d

 M
od

e
lle

d
 R

ec
e

iv
er

 L
o

ca
tio

ns
.m

xd

FIGURE 3

0 2,0001,000
Feet

Project Boundary

Noise Measurements and

Modelled Receivers

(Located at Residences in Project
Vicinity)

LT# - Long Term Measurement

R# - Modelled Receiver

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 19 of 48

125

D 

0 

DUDEK 

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Line

jleech
Placed Image

jleech
Line

jleech
Line

jleech
Line



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

16 April 2023 

3 PROJECT NOISE LEVELS 

3.1 Equipment Noise Source Descriptions 

On-site noise sources associated with the project would include inverter stations (each a 

prefabricated system consisting of DC collector, inverter, and transformer contained in weather-

proof cabinets), and a step-up transformer in the on-site sub-station. Inverter stations would be 

distributed throughout the site among the PV modules; the sub-station would be located at the 

western edge of the array area. These improvements are illustrated on Figure 2 (Site Plan).  

A description of each of the project components and noise-generating characteristics is provided 

below. 

Inverter Stations 

The PV panels would be electrically connected to adjacent panels to efficiently increase the output 

voltage to 1,500 volts. An above- or below-ground DC collection system will deliver the electricity 

to an inverter station, where the electricity is converted into AC and then fed into a field 

transformer to achieve an intermediate voltage, typically 34.5kV. From the inverter stations an 

above- or below-ground AC collection system will deliver the electricity to the on-site substation, 

where the voltage will be stepped-up to the interconnection voltage.  

The inverter stations are proposed to be located on 36 pads located throughout the project site. 

Proposed inverters stations would be from Sungrow Power Supply Co., Ltd (SG4400UD-MV). 

Sound level testing by the manufacturer for model SG4400UD-MV indicates a sound pressure 

level of 72 dBA at 5 meter (16.4 feet).  The noise assessment was performed using the published 

sound level results for the SG4400UD-MV (72 dBA at 16.4 feet). 

Step-up Transformer (at Substations) 

The output from the solar field would be passed through a final interconnection step-up 

transformer at the sub-station to convert it to the grid tie voltage at 138-kV. A typical step-up 

transformer that might be used for the sub-stations has a sound rating of 60 dB at 5 feet based on 

National Electric Manufactures Association ratings for the size of transformer anticipated to be 

used.   

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 20 of 48

126
DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

17 April 2023 

3.2 Octave-Band Sound Levels Conversion to dBA 

Unfortunately, Sungrow Power Co. Ltd and other manufacturers of central inverter equipment do not 

provide sound level data broken into octave band frequencies.  The specification sheet from Sungrow 

Power Supply Co., Ltd for the SG4400UD-MV is included in Appendix B and demonstrates that 

sound level values are reported only as single value A-weighted decibels.   

The single value dBA sound pressure level is derived by adding an adjustment factor to each octave 

band, and then summing the energy (sound pressure) from each octave band into a single value (using 

logarithmic addition).  The adjustments per octave band level from ISO are provided in the table below. 

Table 3 – Octave Band Adjustments for A-Weighted Spectrum 

Octave-band frequencies, Hz 
With dB Adjustments per Band 

Band 31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 

dB Adjustment -39.4 -26.2 -16.1 -8.6 -3.2 0.0 1.2 1.0 -1.1

If we use the maximum allowable sound pressure per octave band as specified in Section 901.102, and 

apply the above A-weighting adjustments, we arrive at a single value dBA pressure level.  Since 

inverter and transformer noise levels are reported in dBA pressure levels, dBA becomes the most 

appropriate/practical metric to use for sound level compliance evaluation.  Appendix C provides 

worksheets for the conversion into single value dBA pressure levels of the daytime and nighttime noise 

limits from Class C lands to Class A lands (which the regulation expresses according to octave band 

pressure levels). 

Applying the A-weighting conversion to the limits in Section 901.102 results in the limits expressed 

as single value dBA pressure levels, in Table 4. 

Table 4 – Section 109.102 Class C to Class A Land Use Noise Limits Converted to dBA 

Applicable Time Period Limit 

Daytime 60.7 dBA 

Nighttime 51.2 dBA 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 21 of 48

127

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

18 April 2023 

Highly impulsive sounds, characterized by a spike of sound occurring with less than one second 

duration, can be highly annoying.  Because of this potential annoyance, a separate (lower) limit is 

established in Section 109.103 for highly impulsive sound sources, expressed as a dBA pressure level 

(no conversion required).  The highly impulsive sound level limits are a useful reference in comparing 

the appropriateness of the conversion of Section 109.102 limits into dBA limits. 

Table 5 – Section 109.103 Highly Impulsive Sound Limits 

Allowable A-weighted Sound Levels in Decibels of Highly-Impulsive Sound Emitted from 

Class C to Receiving Class A 

Daytime Nighttime 

53 43 

In many community noise ordinances, a penalty of 5 dB is added to highly impulsive sound sources 

(which is the equivalent of enforcing a sound limit 5 dBA lower than for non-impulsive sound sources). 

In comparing the converted noise limits from Section 109.102 with the Section 109.103 highly 

impulsive noise source limits, there is a difference of 8 dBA between the non-impulsive and impulsive 

sound source limits.  This suggests that the converted non-impulsive limits are more conservative than 

the octave-band based restrictions native to Section 109.103. 

In this analysis, compliance with restrictions found in Section 109.102 is on the basis of the converted, 

single value dBA pressure level for daytime and nighttime. 

3.3 Equipment Noise Levels at Existing Sensitive Receptors 

Figure 3 depicts the existing residences within 1500 feet of the project boundaries, which were also 

selected for modeling of operational noise levels from on-site operations.  The existing residences are 

represented by an “R” designation on Figure 3.   

With respect to the selection of receivers for the noise modeling, Section 901.102 of the Illinois 

Pollution Code specifies that property-line sound may not exceed certain specified sound levels with 

respect to a Class A, B, or C land use sound source and a receiving Class A land use.  The land use of 

the involved properties, and not underlying zoning, is the basis of the noise restrictions. The solar 

project land use is classified as Class C, while residences are classified as Class A.  Thus operational 

noise levels of the proposed project are appropriately calculated or modeled at the property line 

separating the project from any immediately adjacent residences.  The Illinois Pollution Code also 

requires the calculation of noise level contours up to 1,500 feet from project boundaries.  For residences 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 22 of 48

128

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

19 April 2023 

which are separated from the project site by multiple property boundaries, the noise level was 

calculated near the residence itself, and not at the property boundary for that residence.  Accordingly, 

Figure 3 illustrates that for each residence immediately adjacent to the project boundary, the receptor 

point is on the project property boundary; for residences not immediately adjacent to the subject 

property boundary (out to the 1,500 foot radius) the receptor is located at the residence (because there 

is a closer property line that was evaluated under the "adjacent" scenario). The analysis of project 

operational noise levels also included calculation of composite noise levels at a distance of up to a 

minimum of 1,500 feet from each of the project boundaries (i.e, north, east, south, west).  The results 

of the noise level calculations are presented graphically as noise contours on Figure 4. 

To summarize, Illinois Pollution Code Section 901.102 requires calculation of project noise levels at 

the property boundary separating a source property and a receiver property.  This study provides 

calculation of Project operational noise levels at the property line of each residence immediately 

adjacent to the project boundaries, and therefore the study is in compliance with Illinois Pollution Code. 

The provided site plan and noise specifications for the noise-generating equipment anticipated to 

be employed in the proposed facility was utilized to model the operational noise from the proposed 

solar project.  The resulting project operational noise level at the identified proximate noise sensitive 

receivers was modeled based upon the published sound level for each piece of equipment, standard 

outdoor distance attenuation rates for point sources and hard-site conditions applied to the distance 

between each equipment location and the receiver locations, and the logarithmic sum of individual 

equipment noise levels at each of the separate receivers.  

As described in Section 1.4, outdoor attenuation at an acoustically hard site is characterized by a 

6 dBA loss with each doubling of distance from source to receiver, whereas the rate at an 

acoustically soft site is a loss of 7.5 dBA for each doubling of distance.  Using the hard site 

attenuation rate for the project is conservative (over-estimates sound levels at receivers) because 

ground surface within the facility and between the facility and receivers is likely to be covered in 

vegetation or tilled earth.  Calculated noise levels at receivers are therefore considered 

conservative and worst-case. 

Sound attenuation due to distance, for a point source (which is applicable to each piece of 

equipment in the proposed solar facility) under hard site conditions is calculated with the equation: 

SPL1 = SPL2 – 20log(D2/D1) 

Where: SPL1  is the calculated sound pressure level (in dB) at specified distance [D2] 

SPL2  is a known (measured) sound pressure level at a known distance [D1] 

D1  is distance from source to measured sound pressure level  

D2  is distance from source to location of calculated sound pressure level 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 23 of 48

129

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

20 April 2023 

Sound levels are expressed in decibels, which are a logarithmic function. The formula to add one 

sound level (LA) to another sound level (LB) expressed in dB is:  

LA + LB = 10log10 (10LA/10 + 10LB/10) dB 

Applying the above equations, and based upon supplied sound energy levels for each piece 

equipment proposed throughout the project, Dudek created an excel-based model to predict 

composite noise levels from simultaneous use of all of the equipment at each of the existing 

residential locations within 1500 feet of the project boundaries. 

The noise levels from all the noted equipment were combined and calculated at each of the receptor 

locations, assuming no shielding would be present (i.e., an absence of structures, barriers, or berms 

between the equipment locations and the receptor locations). The inverter containers would each 

provide some shielding between certain equipment noise sources and selected receptors, but this 

shielding effect was ignored to provide a conservative assessment of total operational noise levels at 

each receptor.   The results of the operation noise analysis are presented in Table 6. 

Table 6 - Project Operational Noise Level Summary for Existing Sensitive Receptors 

Receptor ID 

Predicted Noise Level 

(dBA Leq) 

Limit Daytime 

(dBA Leq) 
Limit 

Exceeded? 

Limit Nighttime 

(dBA Leq) 
Limit 

Exceeded? 

R1 23 

61 

NO 

51 

NO 

R2 28 NO NO 

R3 27 NO NO 

R4 30 NO NO 

R5 35 NO NO 

R6 35 NO NO 

R7 33 NO NO 

R8 33 NO NO 

R9 32 NO NO 

R10 28 NO NO 

R11 24 NO NO 

R12 30 NO NO 

R13 29 NO NO 

R14 32 NO NO 

R15 35 NO NO 

R16 35 NO NO 

    Notes: dBA = A-weighted decibel; Leq = equivalent sound level over a given period. 

As illustrated in Table 6, the one-hour average sound levels would range up to 35 dBA Leq at the 

worst-case receptors (R5, R6, R16). This would be the highest combined operational level for all 

equipment at any receptor location.  The facility would almost exclusively operate during daytime 

hours, when sunlight is available.  However, at certain times of the year, the sun would rise before 7 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 24 of 48

130

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 

21 April 2023 

AM, and inverters could therefore operate for a portion of the nighttime period.  Nonetheless, 

operational noise levels would be no greater than 35 dBA Leq at the worst-case receptor, which is 16 

dBA lower than even the more restrictive night-time limit. 

Modeling points were also placed at each of the long-term noise measurement locations (LT1 – LT4) 

so that project operational noise levels could be compared against ambient noise levels measured for 

this noise study.  Table 7 compares predicted project operational noise levels to ambient noise levels 

measured at LT1 – LT4. 

Table 7 - Comparison of Project Operational Noise Levels to Ambient (Leq dBA) 

Site 

Day 

Leq Range 

Night 

Leq Range 
Predicted Project 

Operational Noise Level Exceeds Ambient? 

LT1 60 - 65 54 - 64 24 NO 

LT2 67 - 73 64 - 72 35 NO 

LT3 49 - 59 39 - 56 19 NO 

LT4 48 - 63 41 - 55 27 NO 

Notes: dBA = decibel; LT = long-term roadway noise measurement location; Leq = equivalent sound level (hourly average). 

As can be seen in Table 7, predicted project noise levels would be well below the measured ambient 

average daytime and nighttime levels at each of the noise measurement locations.  Because the 

project operational noise levels would in each case be less than the ambient level by at least 10 dBA, 

the addition of project noise would not increase the existing ambient noise level.1 

Figure 4 provides the noise contours from facility operation, including the boundary for predicted 

operational noise levels down to 20 dBA Leq.  As illustrated in Table 7, 20 dBA Leq would fall at 

least 19 dBA lower than the lowest recorded ambient noise level in the project vicinity, and therefore 

the extent of lower noise level contours (below 20 dBA Leq) was not necessary to illustrate. These 

illustrated noise contours apply to operational noise levels with all of the facility equipment in full 

operation. 

1 Decibels express a logarithmic value, for which specific equations must be used for addition or subtraction. With 

respect to addition, when two decibel values differ by 10 or more, their sum is simply equal to the larger of the two 

values being added.  

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 25 of 48

131

DUDEK 



0

288

576

864

1152

1440

1728

2016

2304

2592

2880

3168

3456

3744

4032

4320

4608

4896

5184

5472

5760

6048

6336

6624

6912

7200

7488

7776

8064

8352

8640

8928

9216

9504

9792

10080

10368

10656

10944

11232

11520

11808

12096

12384

12672

12960

13248

13536

13824

14112

14400

14688

14976

15264

15552

15840

16128

16416

16704

16992

17280

17568

17856

18144

18432

18720

19008

19296

19584

19872

20160

20448

20736

21024

21312

21600

21888

22176

22464

22752

23040

23328

23616

23904

24192

24480

24768

25056

25344

25632

25920

26208

26496

26784

27072

27360

27648

27936

28224

28512

28800

29088

29376

29664

29952

30240

30528

30816

31104

31392

31680

31968

32256

32544

32832

33120

33408

33696

33984

34272

34560

34848

35136

35424

35712

36000

36288

36576

36864

37152

37440

37728

38016

38304

38592

38880

39168

39456

39744

40032

40320

40608

40896

41184

41472

41760

42048

42336

42624

42912

43200

43488

43776

44064

44352

44640

44928

45216

45504

45792

46080

46368

46656

46944

47232

47520

47808

48096

48384

48672

48960

49248

49536

49824

50112

50400

50688

50976

51264

51552

51840

52128

52416

52704

52992

53280

53568

53856

54144

54432

54720

55008

55296

55584

55872

56160

56448

56736

57024

57312

57600

57888

58176

58464

58752

59040

59328

59616

59904

60192

60480

60768

61056

61344

61632

61920

62208

62496

62784

63072

63360

63648

63936

64224

64512

64800

65088

65376

65664

65952

66240

66528

66816

67104

67392

67680

67968

68256

68544

68832

69120

69408

69696

69984

70272

70560

70848

71136

71424

71712

72000

72288

72576

72864

73152

73440

73728

74016

74304

74592

74880

75168

75456

75744

76032

76320

76608

76896

77184

77472

77760

78048

78336

78624

78912

79200

79488

79776

80064

80352

80640

80928

81216

81504

81792

82080

82368

82656

82944

83232

83520

83808

84096

84384

84672

84960

85248

85536

85824

86112

86400

86688

86976

87264

87552

87840

88128

88416

88704

88992

89280

89568

89856

90144

90432

90720

91008

91296

91584

91872

92160

92448

92736

93024

93312

93600

93888

94176

94464

94752

95040

95328

95616

95904

96192

96480

96768

97056

97344

97632

97920

98208

98496

98784

99072

99360

99648

99936

100224

100512

100800

101088

101376

101664

101952

102240

102528

102816

103104

103392

103680

103968

104256

104544

104832

105120

105408

105696

105984

106272

106560

106848

107136

107424

107712

108000

108288

108576

108864

109152

109440

109728

110016

110304

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118

119

120

121

122

123

124

125

126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

151

152

153

154

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163

164

165

166

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

174

175

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

190

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

209

210

211

212

213

214

215

216

217

218

219

220

221

222

223

224

225

226

227

228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

247

248

249

250

251

252

253

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

261

262

263

264

265

266

267

268

269

270

271

272

273

274

275

276

277

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

Prairie Solar Project

0 568 Feet

SOURCE:

###
FIGURE 4

Operational Noise Levels

Color High Low
6570
6065
5560
5055
4550
4045
3540
3035

30 25
25 20

dBA range

Predicted Aggregate Sound 
Pressure Level (SPL)

Dudek 2023

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 26 of 48

132

D U D E K & ---=--== 

jleech
Typewriter
45

jleech
Typewriter
40

jleech
Typewriter
35

jleech
Typewriter
30

jleech
Typewriter
25

jleech
Typewriter
45

jleech
Typewriter
40

jleech
Typewriter
35

jleech
Typewriter
30

jleech
Typewriter
25

jleech
Typewriter
45

jleech
Typewriter
40

jleech
Typewriter
35

jleech
Typewriter
30

jleech
Typewriter
25

jleech
Typewriter
45

jleech
Typewriter
40

jleech
Typewriter
35

jleech
Typewriter
30

jleech
Typewriter
20

jleech
Typewriter
25

jleech
Typewriter
20

jleech
Typewriter
20



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 
23 April 2023 

3.3.1 Operation Noise Levels Compared to October 2018 Project 

Champagne County indicated that operational noise levels from the new site configuration layout 

would need to be no greater than those from the approved October 2018 project.  Table 8 presents 

the predicted sound levels from the currently proposed (2023) site configuration layout, compared 

to the approved 2018 project. The noise levels in Table 8 for the 2018 project are those with the 

required incorporation of noise reduction kits for all of the inverters. 

Table 8 - Project Operational Noise Level Compared to 2018 Project 

Receptor ID 

Predicted Noise Level Current Project 

(dBA Leq) 
2018 Project Levels 

(dBA Leq) 
Difference in Noise Level New 
Layout vs. Original (dBA Leq) 

R1 23 30 -7

R2 28 34 -6

R3 27 33 -6

R4 30 34 -4

R5 35 37 -2

R6 35 38 -3

R7 33 36 -3

R8 33 36 -3

R9 32 35 -3

R10 28 33 -5

R11 24 31 -7

R12 30 38 -8

R13 29 36 -7

R14 32 37 -5

R15 35 37 -2

R16 35 36 -1

    Notes: dBA = A-weighted decibel; Leq = equivalent sound level over a given period. 

As illustrated in Table 8, the currently proposed site layout configuration would generate operational 

noise levels that are below the noise levels predicted for the approved October 2018 project (with 

noise reduction kits installed on each of the inverters in the 2018 configuration of the project). 

3.3.2 Conclusions 

1. Predicted sound levels from the currently proposed reconfigured Prairie Solar facility would

fall well below limits specified under 35 Illinois Administrative Code Subtitle H: Noise Parts

900, 901, 910, with conversion of these octave-band based limits to single value dBA pressure

levels.  Reference to the highly intrusive sound limits in Section 901.103 which are expressed

in dBA provides confidence the Section 901.102 limits converted to dBA sound pressure

limits are appropriate and reasonable, and probably represent more stringent restrictions with

regard to allowable sound levels.

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 27 of 48

133

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 
24 April 2023 

2. Predicted sound levels from the currently proposed reconfigured Prairie Solar facility at each

existing residence within 1,500 feet of the project would be lower than those from the

approved 2018 configuration of the project.

3. Given the inclusion of newer inverter technology with lower operational noise levels, the

project as currently proposed would generate operational sound levels for the duration of the

solar farm that are less than 39 dBA at all existing residential lots within 1,500 feet of the

project site. The substitution of proposed inverter equipment with lower sound generation in

the project design therefore achieves the same objective as the condition of approval requiring

a sound reduction kit for each of the louder inverters initially included in the project, namely

that project operational noise levels would be less than 39 dBA at all existing residences within

1,500 feet of the project.

The proposed updated site configuration layout for Prairie Solar project would therefore comply 

with noise regulations and sound level restrictions applicable to the project. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 28 of 48

134

DUDEK 



Noise Assessment Technical Report 
Prairie Solar Energy Project Updated Site Layout – Sidney, Illinois 

15290.01 
25 April 2023 

4 REFERENCES CITED 

EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 1974. Information on Levels of Environmental 

Noise Requisite to Protect Public Health and Welfare with an Adequate Margin of Safety. 

Washington, D.C. March 1974. 

Illinois Pollution Control Board (IPCB). 35 Illinois Administrative Code Subtitle H: Noise Parts 

900, 901, 910. 

NEMA (National Electric Manufacturers Association). 2013.  NEMA TR 1-2013 Transformers, 

Step Voltage Regulators and Reactors. 

Sungrow Power Supply Co. Ltd. 2023.  Noise Test Report for Model SG4400UD-MV  Rev. 1.0 

RZ2023040702. April 7, 2023. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 29 of 48

135

DUDEK 



APPENDIX A 
Noise Measurement Data 

& 

LDN Calculations 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 30 of 48

136



Pi
cc

ol
o 

#8
00

7 
-S

ite
 L

T1
Re

c 
1 

to
 2

4
Sl

ow
 R

es
po

ns
e

dB
A 

w
ei

gh
tin

g
2.

0 
dB

 re
so

lu
tio

n 
st

at
s

D
at

e 
hh

:m
m

:s
s

Le
qP

er
io

d
Le

q
SE

L
Lm

ax
Lm

in
L1

%
L5

%
L1

0%
L5

0%
L9

0%
L9

5%
L9

9%
Lm

ed
ia

n
Lm

ea
n

St
dD

ev
L2

%
L8

%
L2

5%
9/

26
/2

01
8 

8:
54

1.
0 

ho
ur

65
.2

10
0.

8
91

.8
53

.1
75

69
63

57
55

55
53

57
58

.2
4.

52
73

65
59

9/
26

/2
01

8 
9:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
61

.9
97

.5
84

.1
53

.1
73

65
61

55
53

53
53

55
57

.1
3.

99
71

63
59

9/
26

/2
01

8 
10

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.4

98
85

.2
52

.5
73

67
61

55
55

53
53

55
57

.1
4.

06
71

63
57

9/
26

/2
01

8 
11

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.7

98
.3

92
.5

53
.4

71
63

59
55

55
53

53
55

56
.3

3.
47

69
61

57
9/

26
/2

01
8 

12
:5

4
1.

0 
ho

ur
61

.8
97

.4
87

.7
51

.3
73

65
61

55
53

53
51

55
55

.7
4.

12
71

61
55

9/
26

/2
01

8 
13

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.1

97
.7

86
.8

49
.2

73
67

61
51

51
49

49
51

53
.6

5.
16

71
63

53
9/

26
/2

01
8 

14
:5

4
1.

0 
ho

ur
61

.6
97

.2
82

.6
49

.9
73

67
63

53
51

51
51

53
54

.4
5.

23
71

65
55

9/
26

/2
01

8 
15

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.4

98
80

.8
49

.2
73

69
65

53
51

51
49

53
54

.7
5.

79
71

65
55

9/
26

/2
01

8 
16

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.1

97
.7

81
.6

47
.9

73
69

63
53

51
49

49
53

54
.7

5.
54

71
65

55
9/

26
/2

01
8 

17
:5

4
1.

0 
ho

ur
61

.5
97

.1
80

.1
49

.2
73

67
61

53
51

51
49

53
54

.6
5.

13
71

63
55

9/
26

/2
01

8 
18

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.6

98
.2

83
.8

51
.5

73
67

63
55

53
53

51
55

56
.8

4.
73

71
65

57
9/

26
/2

01
8 

19
:5

4
1.

0 
ho

ur
60

.3
95

.9
78

.6
53

.8
71

61
59

57
55

55
53

57
56

.9
2.

98
69

59
57

9/
26

/2
01

8 
20

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

59
.7

95
.3

79
.5

53
.2

69
61

59
57

55
55

53
57

56
.9

2.
52

65
59

57
9/

26
/2

01
8 

21
:5

4
1.

0 
ho

ur
59

.8
95

.4
77

.9
52

.8
71

63
59

57
53

53
53

57
56

.5
3.

16
67

61
57

9/
26

/2
01

8 
22

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

57
92

.6
78

.8
52

.2
65

57
57

55
53

53
53

55
54

.7
2.

14
61

57
55

9/
26

/2
01

8 
23

:5
4

1.
0 

ho
ur

58
.9

94
.5

80
.6

52
.6

69
63

57
55

53
53

53
55

55
.3

3.
06

65
61

55
9/

26
/2

01
8 

0:
54

1.
0 

ho
ur

53
.7

89
.3

62
.7

49
.5

59
55

53
53

51
51

49
53

52
.4

1.
58

57
53

53
9/

26
/2

01
8 

1:
54

1.
0 

ho
ur

56
.4

92
77

.7
49

.3
67

57
53

51
51

51
49

51
52

.4
2.

89
63

55
53

9/
27

/2
01

8 
2:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
59

.4
95

79
.9

46
.6

73
63

57
51

49
49

47
51

52
.2

4.
72

69
59

53
9/

27
/2

01
8 

3:
54

1.
0 

ho
ur

54
.2

89
.8

75
.8

47
61

53
53

51
49

49
47

51
51

.1
2.

41
59

53
51

9/
27

/2
01

8 
4:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
60

.3
95

.9
83

.3
45

.9
73

61
57

51
49

49
47

51
52

.6
4.

59
69

59
53

9/
27

/2
01

8 
5:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
62

.7
98

.3
87

.2
46

.8
75

67
61

51
47

47
47

51
52

.8
6.

18
73

63
55

9/
27

/2
01

8 
6:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
63

.9
99

.5
83

.2
45

.8
75

71
65

51
49

47
47

51
54

.3
6.

85
75

67
57

9/
27

/2
01

8 
7:

54
1.

0 
ho

ur
63

.4
99

84
.7

46
.3

75
69

63
51

47
47

47
51

53
6.

81
73

65
55

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 31 of 48

137



Pi
cc

ol
o 

#1
20

0 
- S

ite
 L

T2

N
um

be
r

St
ar

t D
at

e
St

ar
t T

im
e

D
ur

at
io

n
SP

L 
Ti

m
e 

W
ei

gh
t

LN
%

 F
re

q 
W

ei
gh

t
LA

eq
LA

m
ax

LA
m

in
LA

E
LA

pe
ak

L1
%

L5
%

L1
0%

L5
0%

L9
0%

L9
5%

L9
9%

1
9/

26
/2

01
8

9:
00

:0
0 

AM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

65
.7

89
.6

38
.9

10
1.

3
10

6.
6

77
.7

72
.2

67
.8

52
.8

47
.3

46
43

.4
2

9/
26

/2
01

8
10

:0
0:

00
 A

M
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

69
.5

91
.5

40
.2

10
5.

1
10

4.
5

84
.1

72
.5

66
.2

55
.1

48
.2

46
.4

44
.6

3
9/

26
/2

01
8

11
:0

0:
00

 A
M

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
71

.7
93

.5
41

.5
10

7.
3

10
6.

2
84

.6
79

71
.1

52
.7

46
.3

45
.2

43
.4

4
9/

26
/2

01
8

12
:0

0:
00

 P
M

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
69

.2
86

.4
38

.9
10

4.
8

10
3.

7
82

.8
76

.4
70

.7
51

.7
44

.7
43

.6
41

.7
5

9/
26

/2
01

8
1:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
71

.2
93

.8
35

.8
10

6.
8

10
6.

6
83

.5
79

.7
72

.1
50

.1
41

.7
40

.3
38

.3
6

9/
26

/2
01

8
2:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
68

.8
89

.4
35

10
4.

4
10

2.
4

81
.9

75
.2

71
.2

49
.3

41
39

.4
37

.5
7

9/
26

/2
01

8
3:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
69

.2
88

.6
33

.5
10

4.
8

10
3.

8
81

.3
77

.5
72

49
.3

40
.2

37
.9

35
.4

8
9/

26
/2

01
8

4:
00

:0
0 

PM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

67
.1

88
.7

37
.1

10
2.

7
10

4.
8

79
.3

73
.4

71
50

.4
41

.1
39

.9
38

.2
9

9/
26

/2
01

8
5:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
67

.6
88

.8
33

.7
10

3.
2

10
7.

1
79

.7
73

.7
71

.4
52

.1
41

39
.3

35
.4

10
9/

26
/2

01
8

6:
00

:0
0 

PM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

68
.8

89
.4

33
.9

10
4.

4
10

6
80

.3
75

.8
72

.4
52

.7
40

.4
38

.2
35

.6
11

9/
26

/2
01

8
7:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
69

.5
89

.1
33

.3
10

5.
1

10
3.

7
83

.8
73

.6
69

.5
48

.9
38

.5
36

.5
34

.8
12

9/
26

/2
01

8
8:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
62

.4
84

.7
42

.1
98

10
0.

1
74

.8
69

.6
63

53
46

.3
45

.3
43

.7
13

9/
26

/2
01

8
9:

00
:0

0 
PM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
71

.7
89

.7
50

.2
10

7.
3

10
4

87
.3

71
.2

61
.2

54
.7

53
.1

52
.3

51
.2

14
9/

26
/2

01
8

10
:0

0:
00

 P
M

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
67

.9
89

.8
51

.7
10

3.
5

10
3

82
.8

67
.1

59
.4

54
.3

53
.4

53
.2

52
.8

15
9/

26
/2

01
8

11
:0

0:
00

 P
M

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
65

.6
84

.9
51

10
1.

2
98

.3
80

65
.5

55
.7

53
.3

52
.6

52
.4

51
.9

16
9/

26
/2

01
8

12
:0

0:
00

 P
M

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
72

91
.4

49
.7

10
7.

6
10

5
86

.6
65

.8
55

.1
52

.4
51

.4
51

.1
50

.6
17

9/
26

/2
01

8
1:

00
:0

0 
AM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
63

.7
83

.5
48

.5
99

.3
99

.5
78

61
52

.9
51

.3
50

.6
50

.4
50

18
9/

27
/2

01
8

2:
00

:0
0 

AM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

64
.2

84
.8

46
.8

99
.8

10
2.

3
75

.1
70

.6
67

.5
52

.3
49

.8
49

.5
48

.6
19

9/
27

/2
01

8
3:

00
:0

0 
AM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
69

.1
96

.6
45

10
4.

7
11

1.
4

75
.5

56
.8

52
.7

49
.1

48
.1

47
.8

47
.1

20
9/

27
/2

01
8

4:
00

:0
0 

AM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

67
.2

91
.6

43
.3

10
2.

8
10

7.
5

81
.4

60
.4

53
49

.8
47

.4
46

.8
45

.6
21

9/
27

/2
01

8
5:

00
:0

0 
AM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
67

.7
87

.2
42

.7
10

3.
3

10
7.

6
80

.3
76

68
52

.5
47

.6
46

.1
45

22
9/

27
/2

01
8

6:
00

:0
0 

AM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

66
.1

88
41

.5
10

1.
7

10
2.

5
77

.7
74

.1
70

.5
48

.8
43

.8
42

.7
42

23
9/

27
/2

01
8

7:
00

:0
0 

AM
60

.0
0

Sl
ow

dB
A

69
.6

90
.5

42
.5

10
5.

2
10

7.
5

81
.1

76
.3

73
.8

53
45

.7
45

.1
44

.4
24

9/
27

/2
01

8
8:

00
:0

0 
AM

60
.0

0
Sl

ow
dB

A
72

.5
93

.2
40

.3
10

8.
1

11
1.

8
84

.4
79

.1
74

.1
48

.9
44

.2
43

.5
42

.6

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 32 of 48

138



Pi
cc

ol
o 

#1
00

8 
- S

ite
 L

T3
Re

c 
10

9 
to

 1
33

Sl
ow

 R
es

po
ns

e
dB

A 
w

ei
gh

tin
g

2.
0 

dB
 re

so
lu

tio
n 

st
at

s
D

at
e 

hh
:m

m
:s

s
Le

qP
er

io
d

Le
q

SE
L

Lm
ax

Lm
in

L1
%

L5
%

L1
0%

L5
0%

L9
0%

L9
5%

L9
9%

Lm
ed

ia
n

Lm
ea

n
St

dD
ev

L2
%

L8
%

L2
5%

9/
26

/2
01

8 
8:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
57

.6
93

.2
79

.9
43

.1
69

59
55

47
45

45
43

47
48

.9
4.

89
65

55
51

9/
26

/2
01

8 
9:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
55

.8
91

.4
82

.7
45

.1
65

55
53

49
47

45
45

49
49

.4
3.

71
59

53
51

9/
26

/2
01

8 
10

:3
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

58
93

.6
81

.3
44

.6
69

59
55

49
47

45
45

49
50

.5
4.

53
65

57
53

9/
26

/2
01

8 
11

:3
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

56
.4

92
79

43
.1

69
57

53
47

45
45

43
47

48
.4

4.
48

63
53

49
9/

26
/2

01
8 

12
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
56

.6
92

.2
77

.7
43

69
57

53
47

45
43

43
47

48
4.

69
65

53
49

9/
26

/2
01

8 
13

:3
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

58
.7

94
.3

83
40

.7
71

59
53

47
43

43
41

47
47

.6
5.

57
67

55
49

9/
26

/2
01

8 
14

:3
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

58
.5

94
.1

84
.9

39
.9

71
57

49
43

41
41

39
43

44
.7

5.
56

65
51

45
9/

26
/2

01
8 

15
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
59

.3
94

.9
83

39
.9

73
59

53
45

41
41

39
45

45
.8

6.
19

69
55

47
9/

26
/2

01
8 

16
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
56

91
.6

81
.7

40
.6

69
53

49
43

41
41

39
43

45
.2

5.
19

63
51

47
9/

26
/2

01
8 

17
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
52

.6
88

.2
81

39
.7

59
47

45
43

41
41

39
43

43
.1

3.
43

53
45

43
9/

26
/2

01
8 

18
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
55

.4
91

82
.1

41
.8

65
51

47
43

43
41

41
43

44
.9

4.
16

59
49

45
9/

26
/2

01
8 

19
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
53

88
.6

79
.3

43
.2

61
51

47
45

43
43

43
45

45
.1

3.
56

57
49

45
9/

26
/2

01
8 

20
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
48

.8
84

.4
75

.7
43

.3
55

45
45

45
43

43
43

45
45

2.
12

51
45

45
9/

26
/2

01
8 

21
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
49

.8
85

.4
68

.7
43

.3
61

55
45

45
43

43
43

45
45

3.
64

59
49

45
9/

26
/2

01
8 

22
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
47

.5
83

.1
67

.5
41

.9
57

51
45

43
43

41
41

43
43

.9
3

55
47

43
9/

26
/2

01
8 

23
:3

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
49

.8
85

.4
73

.4
41

.3
59

57
53

43
41

41
41

43
44

.2
4.

86
57

55
45

9/
26

/2
01

8 
0:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
46

81
.6

65
.8

39
.9

57
51

43
41

39
39

39
41

41
.9

3.
28

53
45

41
9/

26
/2

01
8 

1:
30

1.
0 

ho
ur

48
.4

84
72

.9
39

.7
61

49
45

39
39

39
39

39
40

.7
4.

08
57

47
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
2:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
48

.1
83

.7
73

.2
38

.9
59

49
43

39
39

39
39

39
40

.6
4.

09
57

43
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
3:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
39

.2
74

.8
42

.8
37

.7
41

39
39

39
37

37
37

39
38

.4
0.

98
39

39
39

9/
27

/2
01

8 
4:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
50

.7
86

.3
76

.5
37

.7
63

53
49

39
37

37
37

39
40

.9
5.

56
59

51
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
5:

30
1.

0 
ho

ur
48

.7
84

.3
74

.5
36

59
49

41
37

37
37

37
37

38
.8

4.
5

57
43

39
9/

27
/2

01
8 

6:
30

1.
0 

ho
ur

55
.9

91
.5

80
.6

37
.2

67
53

49
43

39
37

37
43

43
.4

5.
52

61
51

45
9/

27
/2

01
8 

7:
30

1.
0 

ho
ur

56
91

.6
81

36
.8

67
57

53
43

39
37

37
43

44
.3

6.
27

61
53

47

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 33 of 48

139



Pi
cc

ol
o 

#1
1 

- S
ite

 L
T4

Re
c 

3 
to

 2
6

Sl
ow

 R
es

po
ns

e
dB

A 
w

ei
gh

tin
g

2.
0 

dB
 re

so
lu

tio
n 

st
at

s
D

at
e 

hh
:m

m
:s

s
Le

qP
er

io
d

Le
q

SE
L

Lm
ax

Lm
in

L1
%

L5
%

L1
0%

L5
0%

L9
0%

L9
5%

L9
9%

Lm
ed

ia
n

Lm
ea

n
St

dD
ev

L2
%

L8
%

L2
5%

9/
26

/2
01

8 
8:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
60

.4
96

72
.6

45
.7

67
65

63
57

51
49

47
57

57
.1

4.
61

67
63

61
9/

26
/2

01
8 

9:
40

1.
0 

ho
ur

62
.9

98
.5

74
.8

48
.5

69
67

65
59

55
53

49
59

59
.8

4.
43

69
67

63
9/

26
/2

01
8 

10
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
60

.5
96

.1
78

44
.9

67
65

63
57

49
49

45
57

56
.7

5.
05

67
63

61
9/

26
/2

01
8 

11
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
55

.1
90

.7
75

.2
44

.5
63

59
57

49
45

45
45

49
50

.7
4.

86
61

59
53

9/
26

/2
01

8 
12

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

55
.5

91
.1

76
.6

44
.5

63
61

59
49

45
45

45
49

50
.2

5.
3

63
59

53
9/

26
/2

01
8 

13
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
53

.9
89

.5
77

.1
43

.5
63

59
55

49
45

45
43

49
49

.4
4.

54
61

57
51

9/
26

/2
01

8 
14

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

47
.5

83
.1

60
.9

42
.3

53
51

49
45

43
43

43
45

45
.6

2.
58

53
49

47
9/

26
/2

01
8 

15
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
51

.4
87

70
.6

42
.7

59
57

53
47

43
43

43
47

47
.9

4.
07

59
55

51
9/

26
/2

01
8 

16
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
53

.1
88

.7
81

.5
41

.3
59

55
53

47
43

41
41

47
47

.2
4.

15
57

53
49

9/
26

/2
01

8 
17

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

48
.7

84
.3

70
.7

40
.2

57
51

51
43

41
41

39
43

44
.6

4.
11

53
51

47
9/

26
/2

01
8 

18
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
54

.4
90

73
42

.1
63

55
53

51
51

51
47

51
51

.9
2.

35
59

53
53

9/
26

/2
01

8 
19

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

53
.3

88
.9

56
.1

45
.3

53
53

53
53

51
51

47
53

52
.2

1.
21

53
53

53
9/

26
/2

01
8 

20
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
53

.1
88

.7
64

.8
47

.9
55

53
53

53
51

51
49

53
52

.1
1.

25
55

53
53

9/
26

/2
01

8 
21

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

54
89

.6
70

.7
43

.9
65

57
53

51
49

49
47

51
51

.2
2.

86
61

55
51

9/
26

/2
01

8 
22

:4
0

1.
0 

ho
ur

54
.2

89
.8

83
.4

40
.5

63
57

51
47

43
41

41
47

47
.2

4.
33

61
53

49
9/

26
/2

01
8 

23
:4

0
1.

0 
ho

ur
49

84
.6

70
.6

40
.4

59
51

51
43

39
39

39
43

44
.4

4.
33

55
51

47
9/

26
/2

01
8 

0:
40

1.
0 

ho
ur

45
.1

80
.7

69
.7

39
.2

51
47

45
39

39
39

39
39

41
.1

3.
05

47
45

43
9/

26
/2

01
8 

1:
40

1.
0 

ho
ur

42
77

.6
61

.8
39

.2
51

43
39

39
39

39
39

39
39

.5
2.

12
49

41
39

9/
27

/2
01

8 
2:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
49

84
.6

73
37

.6
61

53
47

39
37

37
37

39
40

.7
4.

97
57

49
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
3:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
40

.9
76

.5
52

.9
37

.5
49

45
43

37
37

37
37

37
38

.2
2.

88
49

43
37

9/
27

/2
01

8 
4:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
47

.6
83

.2
73

.9
37

.5
59

49
45

39
37

37
37

39
40

.2
4.

59
55

47
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
5:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
50

.3
85

.9
81

.5
37

.5
57

49
47

37
37

37
37

37
39

.9
4.

78
55

47
41

9/
27

/2
01

8 
6:

40
1.

0 
ho

ur
55

90
.6

85
.4

37
.3

61
49

45
37

37
37

37
37

39
.4

4.
67

53
45

39
9/

27
/2

01
8 

7:
40

1.
0 

ho
ur

51
.1

86
.7

83
37

.5
49

47
45

41
37

37
37

41
41

.1
3.

43
47

45
43

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 34 of 48

140



Noise Assessment LT1 Prairie Solar

Leq Time Adjustment
58.9 Midnight 10 68.9 68.9
53.7 1 10 63.7 63.7
56.4 2 10 66.4 66.4
59.4 3 10 69.4 69.4
54.2 4 10 64.2 64.2
60.3 5 10 70.3 70.3
62.7 6 10 72.7 72.7
63.9 7am 63.9 63.9
63.4 8 63.4 63.4
65.2 9 65.2 65.2
61.9 10 61.9 61.9
62.4 11 62.4 62.4
62.7 noon 62.7 62.7
61.8 1 61.8 61.8
62.1 2 62.1 62.1
61.6 3 61.6 61.6
62.4 4 62.4 62.4
62.1 5 62.1 62.1
61.5 6 61.5 61.5
62.6 7 5 67.6 62.6
60.3 8 5 65.3 60.3
59.7 9 5 64.7 59.7
59.8 10 10 69.8 69.8

57 11 10 67 67

66.4 66.0
CNEL LDN

Page 1

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 35 of 48

141



Noise Assessment LT2 Prairie Solar

Leq Time Adjustment
72 Midnight 10 82 82

63.7 1 10 73.7 73.7
64.2 2 10 74.2 74.2
69.1 3 10 79.1 79.1
67.2 4 10 77.2 77.2
67.7 5 10 77.7 77.7
66.1 6 10 76.1 76.1
69.6 7am 69.6 69.6
72.5 8 72.5 72.5
65.7 9 65.7 65.7
69.5 10 69.5 69.5
71.7 11 71.7 71.7
69.2 noon 69.2 69.2
71.2 1 71.2 71.2
68.8 2 68.8 68.8
69.2 3 69.2 69.2
67.1 4 67.1 67.1
67.6 5 67.6 67.6
68.8 6 68.8 68.8
69.5 7 5 74.5 69.5
62.4 8 5 67.4 62.4
71.7 9 5 76.7 71.7
67.9 10 10 77.9 77.9
65.6 11 10 75.6 75.6

74.8 74.5
CNEL LDN

Page 3

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 36 of 48

142



Noise Assessment LT3 Prairie Solar

Leq Time Adjustment
46 Midnight 10 56 56

48.4 1 10 58.4 58.4
48.1 2 10 58.1 58.1
39.2 3 10 49.2 49.2
50.7 4 10 60.7 60.7
48.7 5 10 58.7 58.7
55.9 6 10 65.9 65.9

56 7am 56 56
57.6 8 57.6 57.6
55.8 9 55.8 55.8

58 10 58 58
56.4 11 56.4 56.4
56.6 noon 56.6 56.6
58.7 1 58.7 58.7
58.5 2 58.5 58.5
59.3 3 59.3 59.3

56 4 56 56
52.6 5 52.6 52.6
55.4 6 55.4 55.4

53 7 5 58 53
48.8 8 5 53.8 48.8
49.8 9 5 54.8 49.8
47.5 10 10 57.5 57.5
49.8 11 10 59.8 59.8

58.4 58.1
CNEL LDN

Page 5

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 37 of 48

143



Noise Assessment LT4 Prairie Solar

Leq Time Adjustment
45.1 Midnight 10 55.1 55.1

42 1 10 52 52
49 2 10 59 59

40.9 3 10 50.9 50.9
47.6 4 10 57.6 57.6
50.3 5 10 60.3 60.3

55 6 10 65 65
51.1 7am 51.1 51.1
60.4 8 60.4 60.4
62.9 9 62.9 62.9
60.5 10 60.5 60.5
55.1 11 55.1 55.1
55.5 noon 55.5 55.5
53.9 1 53.9 53.9
47.5 2 47.5 47.5
51.4 3 51.4 51.4
53.1 4 53.1 53.1
48.7 5 48.7 48.7
54.4 6 54.4 54.4
53.3 7 5 58.3 53.3
53.1 8 5 58.1 53.1

54 9 5 59 54
54.2 10 10 64.2 64.2

49 11 10 59 59

58.7 58.3
CNEL LDN

Page 7

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 38 of 48

144



APPENDIX B 

Octave Band to A-Weighted Spectrum 

Worksheets 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 39 of 48

145



Daytime C Land to A Land 

A-WEIGHTING SPECTRUM CONVERSION

This spreadsheet takes unweighted octave-band sound pressure levels and 
applys the A-weighting correction values, then gives the overall dBA level.

Section 901.102 Sound Emitted to Class A Land from Class C Limits: DAYTIME

Octave-band frequencies, Hz Overall
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 (Linear)

Octave-band level: 75 74 69 64 58 52 47 43 40 78.3

Octave-band frequencies, Hz
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000

A-weighted correction: -39.4 -26.2 -16.1 -8.6 -3.2 0.0 1.2 1.0 -1.1

Octave-band frequencies, Hz Overall
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 (dBA)

Sound Level, dBA 35.6 47.8 52.9 55.4 54.8 52.0 48.2 44.0 38.9 60.7

DAYTIME LIMIT expressed in dBA: 60.7

Page 1

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 40 of 48

146



Nighttime C Land to A Land

A-WEIGHTING SPECTRUM CONVERSION

This spreadsheet takes unweighted octave-band sound pressure levels and 
applys the A-weighting correction values, then gives the overall dBA level.

Section 901.102 Sound Emitted to Class A Land from Class C Limits: NIGHTTIME

Octave-band frequencies, Hz Overall
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 (Linear)

Octave-band level: 69 67 62 54 47 41 36 32 32 71.7

Octave-band frequencies, Hz
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000

A-weighted correction: -39.4 -26.2 -16.1 -8.6 -3.2 0.0 1.2 1.0 -1.1

Octave-band frequencies, Hz Overall
31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 (dBA)

Sound Level, dBA 29.6 40.8 45.9 45.4 43.8 41.0 37.2 33.0 30.9 51.2

NIGHTTIME LIMIT expressed in dBA: 51.2

Page 2

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 41 of 48

147



APPENDIX C 

Mechanical Equipment Specification Sheets 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 42 of 48

148



    Public 

SUNGROW POWER SUPPLY CO.，LTD 

No.1699 Xiyou Rd.,New & High Technology Industrial 

Development Zone, 230088, Hefei, P. R. China. 

Tel: +86-551-65327878 

E-mail:

 www.sungrowpower.com 

Noise Test Report 

TYPE TEST SHEET 

This Type Test sheet shall be used to record the results of the type testing of Generating Unit 

Report reference number RZ2023040702 

Report version V1.0 

Date of issue 2023-04-07 

Standard reference IEC 62109-1_2010 

Generating Unit technology Grid-connected PV Inverter 

Inverter Type SG4400UD-MV 

Rated power (KW)  4400 

Rated AC voltage (V)  630 

System supplier name Sungrow Power Supply Co., Ltd. 

Address 
No.1699 Xiyou Rd., New & High Technology Industrial 

Development Zone, Hefei, P.R. China 

Compiled by Approved by 

Note that testing can be done by the manufacturer of an individual component, by an external test 
house, or by the supplier of the complete system, or any combination of them as appropriate. 

Where parts of the testing are carried out by persons or organisations other than the supplier then the 
supplier shall keep copies of all test records and results supplied to them to verify that the testing has 
been carried out by people with sufficient technical competency to carry out the tests. 

Report Version Description 

V1.0 Initial 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 43 of 48

149

SUNG~OW Clean power for all 

j{, :z ,1)1 ~ 

http://www.sungrowpower.com/


    Public 

The aim of this test is to determine the noise level when the PV Grid inverter in rated working 

condition. 

Standard requirements: If equipment produces noise at a level that could cause a hazard, the 

noise shall be measured to determine the maximum sound pressure level that the equipment can 

produce (except that sound from alarms and from parts located remotely is not included). If the 

measured sound pressure exceeds 80dBA above a reference sound pressure of 20 P, at a 

measurement distance of 1 m, the instructions shall include information regarding the sound pressure 

level and how to reduce the risk of hearing damage to safe levels, and the product shall be marked 

with symbol 22 of Annex C. 

⚫ Used settings of the measurement device for Noise measurement:

Measurement 
device  

Calibration Date Expire Date 

AWA6228+ 2023-01-02 2024-01-01 

⚫ The condition s during testing are specified below:
PGU operation mode Rated working condition 

Voltage range 895-1300V

Grid frequency range 50Hz 

Distance 5m、10 m 

Date 2023-04-07 

⚫ The system noise level please check the table below:

1）Rated working condition（5m）
Orientation Noise (dB)_5m 

Front 73.0 
Behind 76.0 
Left 73.0 
Right 69.0 
Maximum Noise 76.0 

2）Rated working condition（10m）
Orientation Noise (dB)_10m 

Front 64.0 
Behind 72.0 
Left 66.0 
Right 63.0 
Maximum Noise 72.0 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 44 of 48

150

SUNG~OW Clean power for all 



APPENDIX D 

NoisePro Model Inputs and Outputs 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 45 of 48

151



NoisePro_Tech-Basis-Narr_mcs102721 prepared by M. Storm, INCE Bd. Cert. (Dudek) NoisePro OASPL_384x288 v. 092521 

Technical Basis of Dudek’s “NoisePro” Excel-based Outdoor Sound Propagation Prediction Model 

In summary, the Microsoft Excel-based NoisePro outdoor sound propagation model developed by Dudek 

calculates the aggregate sound pressure level (SPL) received by each and every cell within a two-

dimensional (2D) array (a product of X columns of cells by Y rows of cells). The quantity of this received 

SPL, in A-weighted decibels (dBA), is the logarithmic sum of acoustical contribution from each of “n” user-

input sound emitting point sources located on the same 2D array, which may be written as follows: 

𝑆𝑃𝐿𝑋,𝑌 = 10 ∗ log∑100.1[𝐿𝑖−𝐴𝑖]
𝑛

𝑖=1

where each individual source sound level (Li) is attenuated by an algebraic sum of three attenuation 

factors (Ai = Adiv + Aatm + Agr) that are each dependent on the distance between the sound source position 

on the X by Y array and the receiving SPLX,Y position on a different position in the same 2D array of 

worksheet cells, where each cell is defined by the user as representing the center of a square area having 

equal sides of user-defined length in feet. The above expression is based on Equation 5 from the 

International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 9613-2 “Acoustics – Attenuation of sound during 

propagation outdoors – Part 2: General method of calculation”, and the individual attenuation factors 

used by NoisePro emulate those in Equation 4 and may be summarized as follows: 

• Adiv = attenuation due to geometrical divergence (i.e., pure distance), equating to 20*LOG(d/dref); and where

d is the horizontal distance between a source and a receiver position, while dref is the reference distance at

which the sound source Li is defined.

• Aatm = attenuation due to atmospheric absorption, which for 1,000 Hz (1 kHz) = 4.16*d/3280 and is derived

from Equation 5.7 in Noise & Vibration Control Engineering (Beranek and Ver, 1992).

• Agr = attenuation due to ground effects, appearing as Equation 10 in ISO 9613-2 and can be expressed with

the following Excel formula:

Agr = MAX(0,4.8-[hs+hr]/d*[17+984/d]) 

where hs and hr are the heights (in feet) of the sound source and receiver positions above grade, 

respectively. This means that for small distances, attenuation from ground effects will be small or essentially 

zero; and, even at great distances, the attenuation from ground effects is effectively capped at 4.8 dB. 

The Excel workbook comprising NoisePro calculates SPLX,Y by using a coding loop to evaluate the 

acoustic contribution from each attenuated sound source (Li - Ai) in sequence, and logarithmically 

adding the new evaluation to the previous total in a cumulative manner. When all sources have been 

evaluated, the loop terminates and yields an aggregate or log-summed total SPLX,Y value that is thus 

unique to a position in the 2D array of cells represented by X and Y, and can thus be “mapped”. If the 

user has defined a particular cell in the X by Y array as a uniquely tagged Receiver, then the 

corresponding SPLX,Y value can be indexed and displayed accordingly. 

The resulting output array of cells, each having an individually calculated SPLX,Y numerical value, is then 

filled with a color (from a user-defined palette) by application of a Conditional Formatting rules set (an 

Excel formatting feature) that compares the dB quantity with user-defined “high” and “low” dB ranges 

for each available color. Each colored cell can thus be likened to a “pixel” within a 2D array that forms a 

composite image representing—visually—the sound propagation from all modeled sound sources. 

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 46 of 48

152



GRID CALCULATION WORKSHEET
Example Portion of Concluded Calculations Loop

Source 38

grid size (ft) Source Tag I036

x 58.7 Source X-coordinate 12893.6

y 58.7 Source Y-coordinate 10280.8

rcvr plane height (ft) Source Z-coordinate 6
z 5 Source Reference SPL 72

Source Ref. Distance (ft.) 16.4
Grid Upper Left (C,R) Source height above grade (ft.) 6

1 1
Grid Lower Right (C,R)

384 288

Column Row X-coord Y-coord Z-coord
Cumulative + 

Source SPL

1 1 56.8 56.8 5 9.4
1 2 56.8 113.6 5 9.5
1 3 56.8 170.4 5 9.5
1 4 56.8 227.2 5 9.6
1 5 56.8 284 5 9.6
1 6 56.8 340.8 5 9.7
1 7 56.8 397.6 5 9.7
1 8 56.8 454.4 5 9.8
1 9 56.8 511.2 5 9.8
1 10 56.8 568 5 9.9
1 11 56.8 624.8 5 9.9
1 12 56.8 681.6 5 10.0
1 13 56.8 738.4 5 10.0
1 14 56.8 795.2 5 10.1
1 15 56.8 852 5 10.1
1 16 56.8 908.8 5 10.2
1 17 56.8 965.6 5 10.2
1 18 56.8 1022.4 5 10.3
1 19 56.8 1079.2 5 10.3
1 20 56.8 1136 5 10.4
1 21 56.8 1192.8 5 10.4
1 22 56.8 1249.6 5 10.5
1 23 56.8 1306.4 5 10.5
1 24 56.8 1363.2 5 10.6
1 25 56.8 1420 5 10.6
1 26 56.8 1476.8 5 10.6
1 27 56.8 1533.6 5 10.7
1 28 56.8 1590.4 5 10.7
1 29 56.8 1647.2 5 10.8

Receiver Location

APRIL 2023 PRAIRIE SOLAR UPDATED SITE LAYOUT/CONFIGURATION

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 47 of 48

153



grid axis feet
x 56.8
y 56.8

Custom Source Description Tag  SPL(dBA) Notes
this is intended to "clear" the cumulative+source on a "Reset" click CLEAR -40 additional notes below for Custom sources:

Battery Storage Component BAT 0 Not Used
Substation Transformer SUB 60 @3.28 feet

electrical inverter INV 72  @16.4 feet (5 m)
Custom #4 (user input) CUS4 0 Not Used
Custom #5 (user input) CUS5 0 Not Used

Source 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Source Tag ULC S001 I001 I002 I003 I004 I005 I006 I007 I008 I009 I010 I011 I012 I013 I014 I015 I016 I017 I018

Source X-coordinate (feet) 56.8 7611.2 9769.6 10508 11246.4 11871.2 12439.2 13291.2 14143.2 14256.8 13575.2 12836.8 11416.8 9826.4 10678.4 11530.4 12382.4 13234.4 14086.4 9883.2
Source Y-coordinate (feet) 56.8 5736.8 4373.6 4373.6 4146.4 4146.4 4146.4 4146.4 4146.4 3976 3976 3976 3976 5680 5680 5680 5680 5680 5680 6645.6
Source Z-coordinate (feet) 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6

Source Type (enter abbrev.) CLEAR SUB INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV
Source Reference SPL -40 60 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72

Source Reference Distance (ft.) 3.28 5 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4
Source Height Above Grade (ft.) 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6

Source 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 40
Source Tag I019 I020 I021 I022 I023 I024 I025 I026 I027 I028 I029 I030 I031 I032 I033 I034 I035 I036 S040

Source X-coordinate (feet) 10678.4 11473.6 12325.6 13234.4 14086.4 14029.6 13007.2 11984.8 11019.2 8804 8292.8 7838.4 7838.4 7156.8 7156.8 12325.6 12496 12893.6 -56.8
Source Y-coordinate (feet) 7043.2 7043.2 7043.2 7043.2 7043.2 7213.6 7213.6 7213.6 7213.6 7100 7611.2 7611.2 7440.8 10280.8 10337.6 10280.8 10167.2 10280.8 -56.8
Source Z-coordinate (feet) 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 0

Source Type (enter abbrev.) INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV INV 0
Source Reference SPL 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 0

Source Reference Distance (ft.) 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.4 3.28
Source Height Above Grade (ft.) 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 1

Receiver 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Receiver Tag R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 R9 R10 R11 R12 R13 R14 R15 R16 LT1 LT2 LT3 LT4

Receiver X-coordinate (feet) 4203.2 9201.6 9428.8 14427.2 13177.6 9372 9144.8 6929.6 6475.2 5282.4 4203.2 7952 8008.8 9088 10905.6 11871.2 4260 10905.6 19880 9428.8
Receiver Y-coordinate (feet) 10792 11416.8 11757.6 10792 8747.2 8349.6 8974.4 8917.6 8633.6 8633.6 7668 3748.8 3294.4 3067.2 2840 2726.4 7724.8 2896.8 7497.6 11814.4

SPL Predicted at Receiver (dBA) 23.42 28.22 27.28 30.16 35.40 35.28 33.34 33.44 31.93 27.62 23.91 29.98 29.21 31.95 35.17 35.49 24.10 35.48 19.30 27.14

Source Inventory With Model Grid Coordinate Locations and Sound Pressure Reference Levels

Receiver Inventory With Model Grid Coordinate Locations and Predicted Operational Sound Level Exposure

NOISE-PRO MODEL INPUTS AND OUTPUTS APRIL 2023 PRAIRIE SOLAR UPDATED SITE LAYOUT/CONFIGURATION

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment H Page 48 of 48

154



H2 H1H3

H0X0X1X2X3 CORE GROUNDING BUSHING

1           3           5 2           4           6 1           3           5 2           4           6 1           3           5 2           4           6 1           3           5 2           4           6

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

L1
42" x 30"

2613 S. Rising Road
Champaign, IL 61822

PRAIRIE SOLAR 1
SIDNEY, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY,
IL 61877

PL

PLANT LEGEND
EVERGREEN SHRUB BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING

JUNIPERUS VIRGINIANA / EASTERN RED CEDAR 6' C.G. 6'

NATIVE GRASS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING

ANDROPOGON GERARDI / BIG BLUESTEM GRASS 3 GAL 4'

PANICUM VIRGATUM / SWITCH GRASS 3 GAL 4'

GROUNDCOVER BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING

SEE GROUNDCOVER SEED MIX SCHEDULE BELOW SEED NA

RESIDENCE

LANDSCAPE BUFFER DETAIL

SCHEMATIC LANDSCAPE PLAN

RESIDENCE

RESIDENCE

RESIDENCE

RESIDENCE

RESIDENCERESIDENCE
RESIDENCE

RESIDENCE

PROJECT SUBSTATION

RA
ILR

O
A

D

CO RD 900 N

RAILROAD

C
O

 R
D

 2
20

0 
E

C
O

 R
D

 2
20

0 
E

6' FENCE

GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD

20' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER

20' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER W/CEDAR

RESIDENTIAL SETBACK

JB

1. PERMIT 10.24.18

PERIMETER FENCE

EVERGREEN SHRUBS
PER PLANTING LEGEND

20' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER LIMIT

GROUNDCOVER SEED MIX
WITHIN FENCED AREAS.

GROUNDCOVER SEED MIX
WITHIN LANDSCAPE

BUFFER AREA

MAINTENANCE PLAN
SHRUBS/GRASSES

1. IRRIGATE NEWLY PLANTED SHRUBS AND GRASSES WITH AN AUTOMATIC DRIP SYSTEM OR
REGULAR WATERING VIA PORTABLE WATER TANK DURING THE FIRST GROWING SEASON.

2. STAKE SHRUBS WITH 2 STEEL T-POSTS EACH SHRUB. PROVIDE NON-ABRASIVE RUBBER TIES.

3. PROVIDE 2"-3" THICK SHREDDED BARK MULCH RING, 4' WIDE AT BASE OF EACH SHRUB.

4. PROVIDE 2"-3" THICK SHREDDED BARK MULCH RING, 2' WIDE AT BASE OF EACH GRASS.

5. REMOVE DEAD OR DISEASED SHRUB/GRASS FROM SITE AND REPLACE WITH NEW SHRUB/GRASS
PER PLANT LEGEND.

GROUNDCOVER

1. GROUND COVER INSIDE THE FENCE AND IN THE LANDSCAPE BUFFER SHALL BE MOWED
PERIODICALLY TO MAINTAIN A HEIGHT OF 8"-10".

2. APPLY BROAD SPECTRUM HERBICIDE ALONG FENCE AND AROUND PANEL SUPPORTS TO CONTROL
PLANT GROWTH NOT SUPPRESSED BY MOWING.

3. CONDUCT REGULAR INSPECTIONS THROUGHOUT THE GROWING SEASON. SELECTIVELY APPLY
HERBICIDE TO CONTROL PATCHES OF NOXIOUS WEED GROWTH.

4.
SUPPLEMENTAL SEEDING (OVERSEEDING) MAY BE NECESSARY TO PROMOTE DENSE PLANT
GROWTH. TYPICALLY THIS IS CONDUCTED IN THE SECOND GROWING SEASON AFTER
INSTALLATION.

CO RD 1000 N Finish Grading - The soil shall be
conditioned by loosening and finely
pulverizing the soil to a depth of three
inches.  The fine grading and soil
conditioning will be done just prior to
groundcover seeding.

Groundcover - Apply groundcover seed
mix by hand-crank, tow-behind
broadcaster, or no-till seed drill (see
below). When broadcastering, start with
half of the seed and try to cover a
measured area with that amount of
seed. Take the remaining half of the
seed, go to the opposite end of the site
and cover it again. This approach helps
prevent running out of seed, a common
occurrence. After broadcasting is
complete, it is important to use a
cultipacker or roller over the area to
make good seed-to-soil contact. If a
roller is not available, tractor tires can
be used instead. Do not cover seed
more than 1/4-inch deep.

Plants - All shrubs & grasses shall be
container grown.

SEE LANDSCAPE
BUFFER DETAIL No-Till Drill - For large groundcover

areas and areas of existing vegetation,
use a no-till seed drill, which does not
require the soil to be tilled before
planting, resulting in minimal soil
disturbance. No-till drills plant seed in
rows by opening slits in the soil, into
which seed is deposited. If using a no-till
drill, follow the specific manufacturer's
recommendations.

RESIDENCE

RESIDENTIAL SETBACK

RESIDENCE

6'

6'

NATIVE GRASSES INSTALLED IN
GROUPS OF 5 PER SPECIES

   IN A STAGGERED ROW (18" OFFSET)

SOLAR PANEL
2. PERMIT REVISED 11.15.18

4'

20' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER

6'

6'

LANDSCAPE PROGRESSION SKETCH

NOTE:
GROUND COVER SEED MIX SHALL BE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH COUNTY ORDINANCE
AND IN AGREEMENT WITH LAND OWNERS.

3. PERMIT REVISED, EXTENDED BUFFER 11.28.18ALONG NORTH BOUNDARY

Compliance - Information & drawings
contained in this plan sheet are based
on Natural Resource Conservation
Service (NRCS) Conservation Practice
Standard Windscreen/Shelterbelt
Established Code 380.

4. SCHEMATIC LANDSCAPE PLAN REVISED 08.08.21

5.
ADDED BUFFER ALONG CR 900 N.

08.17.21

6. REVISED SITE PLAN 08.18.21

7. 08.28.21

SCEMATIC LANDSCAPE PLAN REVISED TO SHOW
LOCATIONS OF CEDAR & ARBORVITE PLANTINGS

REVISED SITE PLAN

8. 04.09.23REVISED SITE PLAN

20' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER W/ARBORVITAE

Case 898-S-18, ELUC 05/04/23, Attachment I Page 1 of 1

155

0 
0 

Q 

3o' t'lllolCE sne,dl,. 

AT f"LANTnJ4, 

RECEIVED 
APR 14, 2023 

CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING 

~ 
~ 

, -- 7 
I I 

: I 
L __ I 

ffi ot=±=±=== \J7 SCALE: 1· - eoo' /J:.~!!-~-~?~!f~\ 

l\:~~2, 

Revision/ Issue 

ffi'= i==±== 



ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

April 1, 2023 

N.P.D.E.S. PHASE II PERMIT FOR STORMWATER DISCHARGES 

from 

MUNICIPAL SEPARATE STORM SEWER SYSTEMS 

Champaign County, Illinois 
NPDES Permit No. ILR40 00256 

REPORTING PERIOD: 

Year 4 is April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 

MS4 OPERATOR INFORMATION: 

County of Champaign, Illinois 
Brookens Administrative Center 
1776 East Washington Street 
Urbana, IL, 61802 
Contact person: John Hall, Director of Planning and Zoning 

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY IN WHICH MS4 IS LOCATED: 

Champaign County, Illinois 

INTRODUCTION 

Champaign County was identified as a small Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) in March 2003 as 
part of the expanded Phase II of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Storm Water 
Program.   

Mandated by Congress under the Clean Water Act, the NPDES Storm Water Program is a comprehensive two-
phased national program for addressing the non-agricultural sources of storm water discharges which adversely 
affect the quality of our nation's waters. The Clean Water Act prohibits anybody from discharging pollutants 
through a point source into a water of the United States unless they have an NPDES permit. A point source is 
any discernible, confined, and discrete conveyance, such as a pipe, ditch, channel, or container.  

Phase II required small MS4s in urbanized areas to obtain NPDES permits and implement six minimum control 
measures by using selected best management practices (BMPs).   

Urbanized areas are delineated by the Census Bureau and are defined as a central place or places and the adjacent 
densely settled surrounding area, that together have a residential population of at least 50,000 people and an 
overall population density of at least 500 people per square mile. About 47 square miles (about 4.7%) of the 
approximately 1,000 square miles that make up Champaign County are included in the urbanized area (see the 
attached map).   

Champaign County is not a municipality but the regulatory definition of MS4 also includes any County owned 
roads with a drainage system. County Highway roadside ditches are currently the only point source discharges in 
the urbanized area maintained by Champaign County.   

156



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

2 

Champaign County must maintain compliance with the MS4 requirements of the NPDES Storm Water Program. 
MS4 compliance requires that an updated Notice of Intent (NOI) be on file at all times with the Illinois 
Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA).  The NOI must explain which best management practices Champaign 
County will use to implement the six required minimum control measures.  The six required minimum control 
measures are the following: 

● Public Education and Outreach. Selected BMPs should educate the public on the various ways to
reduce storm water pollution.

● Public Participation and Involvement. Selected BMPs should involve the public in developing,
implementing, and reviewing MS4 best management practices.

● Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination. Selected BMPs should identify improper discharges and
spills to drainage systems and include enforcement mechanisms.

● Construction Site Runoff Control.  Selected BMPs should enable construction site operators (builders
and MS4s) to manage storm water runoff to reduce pollution.

● Post-Construction Runoff Control. Selected BMPs should enable property owners (developers and
MS4s) to manage storm water runoff to reduce pollution from a site after construction activities have
ended.

● Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping.  Selected BMPs should enable the MS4 entity to
minimize pollution from its own property and facilities by reducing pollution from streets, parking lots,
open spaces and storage and vehicle maintenance areas and is discharged into local waterways or that
results poor maintenance of storm sewer systems.

Champaign County has worked in cooperation with the other MS4s in the Champaign County Urbanized 
Area to share costs and expertise and common efforts to develop a regional consistency towards fulfilling the 
NPDES Phase II MS4 requirements.  

Champaign County has sought to develop a plan suited to the MS4 requirements but also tailored to the 
abilities of an Illinois county. The NPDES Phase II MS4 requirements were included as a formal County 
land use policy in the Champaign County Land Resource Management Plan that was adopted in April 2010.  

Champaign County filed a fourth NOI with IEPA to include the five-year period of April 1, 2019, to March 
31, 2024. This document serves as the annual report for Year 4 activities. 

157

http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=min_measure&min_measure_id=1
http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=min_measure&min_measure_id=2
http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=min_measure&min_measure_id=3
http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=min_measure&min_measure_id=4
http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=min_measure&min_measure_id=5
http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/swfinal.cfm#pollpre


Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

3 158

I, 

8.bampaign County MS4 Jurisdiction 
I I 

__J 7 

, I 

I 

~ 

•• I 

----.----·· •--' --:---+-+--,-.., 
I, 

Champaign 
Urbana 

T +- 1 
1 -T 1-

U_n i__y e rs i t y - □ 
"' _E 

ij 
-.-----,___ Savo 

j 

~ - -1 
_,, I 

I a 2 3 Miles 

I I I I 

'oJll 111 i no i l 
I 
Windsor Rd I 

I 
MS4 Related Boundaries 

D County MS4 Area 

D University of Illinois Boundary 

D Urbanized Area 
- I -

*Urbanized Area based on the 201 O Census 

This map shows the dt fined MS4 
I jurisdiction including incorporated 

areas outside the defined 
Urbanized Area, and the 
University of Illinois jurisdictional 
boundary, An inset map of 
Bondville, located west of 
Champaign, is included above the_ 
scale bar. 

_j 

-1 

Map creEJted 
04/17/2023 



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

4 

B.M.P. MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT PROGRAM

Effective 3/1/16, each Small MS4 is required to implement a monitoring and assessment program to evaluate the 
effectiveness of selected best management practices (BMPs) at reducing pollutant loadings and water quality 
impacts. The monitoring and assessment program may include evaluation of BMPs and/or direct water quality 
monitoring, at the discretion of each Small MS4, but the program should be tailored to the size and 
characteristics of the Small MS4 and the relevant watersheds. 

Outfall/Discharge Monitoring and Physical Stream Assessment 

The Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 will collaborate with the municipal MS4 jurisdictions in 
Champaign County in developing a monitoring and assessment program for the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 that matches as closely as possible the municipal MS4 monitoring and assessment 
programs.  Municipal MS4 agencies in the Champaign-Urbana Urbanized Area rely on a combination of 
outfall/discharge monitoring and assessment of physical/habitat characteristics such as stream bank erosion 
caused by storm water discharges.   

Methods and practices used for the Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Monitoring and Assessment 
program will be based on municipal MS4 practices and methods as much as possible and will be supplemented 
as necessary by practices described in the following documents: 

● Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination A Guidance Manual for Program Development and
Technical Assessments, published by the Center for Watershed Protection and Robert Pitt, University of
Alabama, October 2004.

● UNIFIED STREAM ASSESSMENT: A USER’S MANUAL Version 2.0, Urban Subwatershed Restoration
Manual No. 10, published by the Center for Watershed Protection, February 2005.

● Stream Visual Assessment Protocol, published by the United States Department of Agriculture Natural
Resources Conservation Service National Water and Climate Center, Technical Note 99-1, December
1998.

Justification 

The unincorporated Champaign County MS4 Area is highly interconnected with the municipal MS4 Area and 
using the same (or nearly the same) monitoring and assessment (M&A) methods to evaluate the effectiveness of 
storm water best management practices (BMPs) in the unincorporated MS4 Area may help minimize the overall 
costs of implementing and conducting the M&A program in the unincorporated MS4 Area; and should eliminate 
confusion that could otherwise result if a different approach were used than is used in the municipal MS4s; and 
may provide a more accurate overall understanding of the effectiveness of BMPS for the entire Champaign 
County urbanized area.  

The Unified Stream Assessment (USA) is a continuous stream walk method that systematically evaluates stream 
conditions and that can be applied to both rural and urban streams. Staff can perform the USA with relatively 
minimal training.  USA protocols should be adapted to meet agency needs and skills and to address regional 
stream conditions.   

The USA includes specific protocols and model forms for documenting the assessments of Storm Water Outfalls 
and Severe Bank Erosion.  The USA assessment for Storm Water Outfalls is very similar to the Outfall 
Reconnaissance Inventory (ORI) used in Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination. Including ORI methods in 

159



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

5 

the USA Storm Water Outfall assessments can improve the overall assessment of storm water outfalls and 
discharges. 

Severe bank erosion caused by storm water discharges can be accurately identified only after identifying the 
average erosion condition for a particular stream reach.  The USA includes a Reach Level Assessment to 
characterize overall conditions within each reach of the stream.  Guidance is included in the USA assessment of 
Severe Bank Erosion to help identify locations with more severe erosion.  The Stream Visual Assessment 
Protocol (SVAP) also provides useful additional guidance for making the assessment of Severe Bank Erosion.   

The USA protocols assume identification of uniform stream reaches. Stream reaches will be identified and 
mapped prior to actual field investigations.  During the field investigation the various stream reaches will be 
identified using GIS locators.  Standard worksheets will be completed for each reach for the entire length of 
stream in the MS4 Area. Streams (miles) to be assessed are as follows: 

■ Vermilion Watershed:
▪ Saline Branch Drainage Ditch (3.2 miles)

■ Upper Kaskaskia Watershed:
▪ Copper Slough (1.6 miles)
▪ Phinney Branch (1.1miles)

■ Upper Embarras Watershed
▪ An unnamed tributary near Lake Park (.6 mile).

Gaining access to streams in the unincorporated MS4 Area will be a significant challenge because all the streams 
are on private property. 

Annual monitoring is planned to occur during August through October. Annual monitoring will note the 
conditions for the current year and identify changes from previous years.  The results will be reported in the 
Annual Update.   

Follow up investigations may be necessary based on observed changes.  

Outfalls were identified per the IEPA 4/22/16 Acceptance of Response to Noncompliance Advisory Letter. 

SELF-ASSESSMENT OF PERMIT COMPLIANCE  

Tables 1 through 6 summarize Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Storm Water Program activities 
from April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023. Table 7 identifies BMPs that were started and still in progress 
and Table 8 identifies BMPs still pending. 

Table 1: Public Education and Outreach Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

A.1.1. - Flyers and information sheets
at permit counter.

Handouts are displayed and available at Planning and Zoning permit 
counter. 

A.2.1. - Inform business groups about
MS4, NPDES, and BMPs. 

No requests for presentations about MS4, NPDES and BMPs were made 
from business groups. 

A.2.2. - Inform developer, contractor,
engineering, and architecture groups 
about MS4, NPDES, and BMPs. 

No requests for presentations about MS4, NPDES and BMPs were made 
from developer, contractor, engineering, or architecture groups. 

A.2.3. - Inform environmental groups
about MS4, NPDES, and BMPs. 

No requests for presentations about MS4, NPDES and BMPs were made 
from environmental groups. 

A.6.1. - Educational and 
informational material on web page. 

The MS4 Annual Facility Inspection Report was posted to the County 
website and to the collaborative MS4 website the Champaign County 
Stormwater Partnership (www.ccstormwater.org). 

160



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

6 

Table 2: Public Participation and Involvement Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

B.4.1. - Comply with applicable state
and local public notice requirements.

All public hearings and meetings are noticed as required by state law and local 
ordinances and policies. 

B.6.1. - Intergovernmental Storm
Water Management group meetings 
(coordination meeting for all 
Champaign County MS4 
jurisdictions). 

During the program year County staff attended and participated in meetings 
with other MS4 jurisdictions on 6/14/22; 9/13/22; 11/2/22; 12/13/22; 3/14/23 

B.6.2. - Prepare a storm water survey
that can be used annually to capture 
public comment on the MS4 Storm 
Water Program. 

The MS4 Storm Water Survey is on the County website at 
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-
w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1 

B.6.3. - Hold Annual Public Storm
Water Meeting at the Champaign 
County Board’s Environment and 
Land Use Committee (ELUC) 
Meeting to receive public comments 
regarding the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 Area Storm 
Water Program. 

There was no Annual Public Storm Water Meeting at the Champaign County 
Board’s Environment and Land Use Committee (ELUC) in the reporting period 
year. 

B.6.4. - Identify Environmental
Justice areas within the 
Unincorporated Champaign County 
MS4 Area and provide appropriate 
public participation. 

The Environmental Justice Areas for the reporting year have been identified and 
mapped. 

B.7.1. – Fund aspects of NPDES
MS4 implementation in the County’s
Land Resource Management Plan
implementation budget including
public involvement when
appropriate.

Funding for MS4 projects were included in the Work Plan for 2023. 

Table 3: Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

C.1.1. - Map drainage system outfalls
into streams and rivers.

The up-to-date storm sewer system map for the unincorporated Champaign 
County MS4 Area is mapped to 100% completion including the storm sewer 
system map for County Highways outside the MS4 Area. 

C.3.1. - Establish and maintain
citizen complaint phone line for
illegal dumping and illicit discharges
into drainage systems.

The Department of Planning and Zoning phone line is maintained for citizen 
complaints regarding illegal dumping and illicit discharges.   

C.3.2. - Establish citizen complaint
phone line for non-complying and/or 
non-functioning private sewage 
treatment systems. 

The Department of Planning and Zoning phone line is maintained for citizen 
complaints regarding non-complying and/or non-functioning private sewage 
treatment systems.  

C.6.1. - Annual Report to the
Environment and Land Use 
Committee (ELUC) of the 
Champaign County Board. 

The MS4 Annual Report was prepared and presented to the Environment and 
Land Use Committee (ELUC) on May 5, 2022. and approved by the Champaign 
County Board on May 19, 2022. 

161

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1


Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

7 

Table 4: Construction Site Runoff Control Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

D.1.1. - Soil erosion and sediment
control regulations.

Soil erosion and sediment control regulations in the Champaign County 
Storm Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance were enforced 
for all Land Disturbance Erosion Control (LDEC) Permits. 

D.2.1. - Erosion and sediment control
BMPs.

All Land Disturbance Erosion Control (LDEC) Permits were reviewed for 
use of appropriate BMPs. 

D.4.1. - Develop processes and
procedures to evaluate proposed 
construction site runoff mechanisms. 

Procedures to evaluate proposed construction site runoff mechanisms are 
refined in the review of LDEC Permits. 

D.4.2. - Training class or workshop
for evaluating and inspecting 
construction site runoff control 
mechanisms. 

Staff completed EPA Construction General Permit (CGP) Site Inspector 
Training Course.  

D.6.1. - Develop procedures and
processes to inspect construction sites 
for compliance with construction site 
runoff mechanisms. 

Procedures were refined as more experience was gained in the review of 
LDEC Permits. 

Table 5: Post-Construction Runoff Control Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

E.3.3. - Provide annual training in green
infrastructure and/or low impact design
techniques for all MS4 employees who
manage or are directly involved in (or
who retain others who manage or are
directly involved in) the routine
maintenance, repair, or replacement of
public exterior surfaces. Require that
contractors who are retained to manage or
carry out the kinds of maintenance and
relevant contractor employees also have
annual training.

Staff from the Champaign County Department of Planning and Zoning 
Department attended the Macon County Soil & Water Conservation 
District Stormwater Workshop on November 11th, 2022. 

The Champaign County Stormwater Partnership has begun preparation 
for the biennial Illinois Green Infrastructure & Erosion Control 
Conference which takes place October 24th, 2023. 

E.4.1. - Training class or workshop for
evaluating and inspecting construction 
site runoff control mechanisms (post-
construction). 

Staff completed EPA Construction General Permit (CGP) Site 
Inspector Training Course. 

Table 6: Pollution Prevention / Good Housekeeping Activities 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
BMP ID Activities 

F.1.1. - Spill prevention protocol. The Champaign County Emergency Management Agency (CCEMA) 
conducted or participated in the following trainings in the program 
year: 

● July 28th , 2022, attended International Association of Fire Chief’s
Hazmat Outreach Workgroup
● January 11th , 2023 Attended local Canadian National Railroad Safety
Summit
● January 25th , 2023, Attended local Pipeline Safety Program

F.1.2. - Spill Response Protocol. The Champaign County Emergency Management Agency (CCEMA) 
conducted or participated in the following trainings in the program 
year: 

● July 28th , 2022, attended International Association of Fire Chief’s
Hazmat Outreach Workgroup
● August 18th , 2022, hosted two sessions of “How to use Emergency
Response Guidebook and the NIOSH Pocket Guide” training through

162



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

8 

the UIUC Hazardous Materials Training Program 
● October 20th , 2022, supported annual UIUC Facilities & Services
Hazmat drill with mobile command post
● January 11th , 2023 Attended local Canadian National Railroad Safety
Summit
● January 25th , 2023, Attended local Pipeline Safety Program
● March 22nd , 2023, Participated in FEMA Virtual Tabletop Exercise
with a hazmat scenario

F.1.3. - Hazardous material and storage
management training.

All relevant hazardous materials storage and handling reviewed with 
Facilities Director. 

Table 7: BMPs in Progress 
BMP ID Status 

C.2.1. - Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit
discharges into drainage system through
Nuisance Ordinance.

Preliminary Ordinance language has been drafted regarding illegal 
dumping and illicit discharges into drainage systems but was not 
adopted in the program year. 

C.3.3. - Create a database of existing
private sewage treatment systems and 
develop management plan to bring non-
compliant systems into compliance. 

Records of private sewage treatment systems obtained from Public 
Health Department; GIS database is under development. 

D.3.1. - Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit
discharges into storm drainage system 
from construction activities. 

The Storm Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance 
includes a prohibition of illegal dumping and illicit discharges from 
construction activities. Preliminary Nuisance Ordinance language has 
been drafted regarding illegal dumping and illicit discharges into 
drainage systems but has not yet been adopted. 

E.1.1. - Implement a public education
program about the benefits of green
infrastructure and green housekeeping in
minimizing the volume of storm water
runoff and pollutants from privately-owned
developed property.

Development of a Green Infrastructure & Green Housekeeping web 
page has begun by department staff. 

E.1.2. - Implement a public education
program about the water quality impacts of 
overuse of fertilizers and pesticides in non-
agricultural uses.   

Development of a Sustainable Lawn Care web page has begun by 
department staff. 

E.3.1. - Develop procedures to ensure that
storm water management facilities are 
maintained to function as designed (post-
construction). 

The Storm Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance 
requires ongoing maintenance of storm water management facilities.  

E.5.1. - Develop procedures and processes
to inspect construction sites for compliance 
with post-construction runoff control 
mechanisms. 

The Storm Water Management and Erosion Control Ordinance 
requires “as-built” documentation. 

Table 8: BMPs Pending 
BMP ID Explanation of Pending Status 

E.2.1. - Require annual inspections of
publicly owned storm water
management facilities (post-
construction).

Expected to be included in the SWPPP that was supposed to be completed 
in 2021 but has not yet been completed. 

F.2.1. - Prepare a Storm Water
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 
for County owned facilities. 

Expected to be included in the SWPPP that was supposed to be completed 
in 2022 but has not yet been completed. 

163



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

9 

CHANGES TO BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Attachment A summarizes that no changes were made to the BMPs in the reporting year. 

STATUS OF COMPLIANCE 

Attachment B reviews the status of compliance for all BMPs. 

INFORMATION COLLECTED AND ANALYZED IN YEAR 3 

Attachment C summarizes that there were no observations or reports made or received during the reporting year. 

STORMWATER PROGRAM ACTIVITIES PROPOSED FOR NEXT PROGRAM YEAR APRIL 1, 
2023 – MARCH 31, 2024 

The activities proposed for next Program Year April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024, are summarized in Attachment 
D.  

RELIANCE ON OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

Champaign County does and will continue to participate in and share resources with the Cooperative MS4 
Group, the Champaign County Stormwater Partnership; however, it does not rely on another governmental entity 
to satisfy its permit obligations. 

YEAR 4 CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

Champaign County construction projects may be authorized under the Facilities Department or the Highway 
Department.   

Projects and details of Highway Construction Projects in the program year are provided in Table 9.   

Projects and details of County Facilities Construction Projects in the program year are provided in Table 10. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A     Changes to Best Management Practices 
B     Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
C     Information Collected for Year 4 
D     Proposed NPDES Permit Activities for next Program Year April 1, 2023 - March 31, 2024 
E Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Area Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 

164



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

10 

Table 9: Highway Construction Projects1from April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 
Section Number Road District Project Type Area of 

Disturbance 
Status 

20-00102-00-BR Champaign County Bridge Rehab <1 acre Completed in 2022 
20-12104-00-BR Hensley Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-18110-00-BR Village of Pesotum Bridge Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
19-00452-00-SP Somer Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Completed in 2022 
20-00453-00-RS Champaign County Resurfacing/Widening <1 acre Completed in 2022 
20-00455-00-RS Champaign County Resurfacing/Widening <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-07112-00-BR Condit Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-07113-00-BR Condit Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-28114-00-BR Stanton Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-29115-00-BR Village of Tolono Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-14116-00-BR Ludlow Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-18117-00-BR Pesotum Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-17459-00-SP Ogden Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 

2023 
21-17460-00-SP Ogden Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 

2023 
21-17461-00-SP Ogden Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 

2023 
21-18110-00-BR Pesotum Township Bridge Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-21111-00-BR Rantoul Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-28114-00-BR Stanton Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-08118-00-BR Crittenden Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
21-08-11900-BR Crittenden Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
22-14120-00-BR Ludlow Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 

2024 
22-00121-00-BR Champaign County Bridge Rehab <1 acre Completed in 2022 
22-03122-00-BR Champaign Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Completed in 2022 

22-03123-00-BR Champaign Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Completed in 2022 

22-26124-00-BR South Homer 
Township 

Guardrail Repair <1 acre Expected completion in 
2022 

22-00460-00-RS Champaign County Resurfacing/Widening <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024  

22-08462-00-SP Crittenden Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024  

22-08463-00-SP Crittenden Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024  

22-24464-00-SP Sidney Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024  

22-27465-00-SP St Joseph Township RR Xing Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024  

22-10125-00-BR East Bend Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 

165



Champaign County, Illinois 
MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)         APRIL 1, 2023 

11 

Table 9: Highway Construction Projects1from April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 
Section Number Road District Project Type Area of 

Disturbance 
Status 

22-17126-00-BR Ogden Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 
22-11127-00-BR Harwood Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Completed in 2022 

22-30128-00-BR Urbana Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

22-14129-00-BR Ludlow Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

22-28130-00-BR
Rantoul/Stanton 
Townships Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 

2024 

23-00466-00-SP Champaign County Resurfacing / Widening >5 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-17131-00-BR Ayers Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-17132-00-BR Ogden Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-17133-00-BR Ogden Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-14134-00-BR Ludlow Township Bridge Rehab <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-30135-00-BR Urbana Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-27136-00-BR St Joseph Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

23-08137-00-BR Crittenden Township Culvert Replacement <1 acre Expected completion in 
2024 

 NOTES 

1. All construction projects during this period were roadway projects.

Table 10: Facilities Construction Projects from April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 
NPDES ID Township and 

Section 
Location Project Type Area of 

Disturbance 
Status 

ILR10ZCLW Urbana/16 502 S Lierman 
Ave. 
Urbana, IL 

Building 
Expansion 

3.09 acres Expected 
completion in 
2024 

166



Attachment A. Changes to Best Management Practices 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023                P. 1 of 1

A-1

There were no proposed changes to the BMPs between April 1, 2022 and March 31, 2023.s 

167



B-1

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

1 A.1.1 Flyers and information sheets at permit 
counter. 

COMPLETE Develop and distribute one 
new educational material 
handout. 

Distribute handout. Handouts are displayed and 
available at the service counter. 

2 A.2.1 Inform business groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

COMPLETE Conduct one presentation per 
year upon request. 

Conduct one 
presentation upon 
request. 

No requests for presentations 
about MS4, NPDES and BMPs 
were made from business groups. 

3 A.2.2 Inform developer, contractor, engineering, 
and architecture groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

COMPLETE Conduct one presentation per 
year upon request. 

Conduct one 
presentation upon 
request. 

No requests for presentations 
about MS4, NPDES and BMPs 
were made from developer, 
contractor, engineering, and 
architecture groups. 

4 A.2.3 Inform environmental groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

COMPLETE Conduct one presentation per 
year upon request. 

Conduct one 
presentation upon 
request. 

No requests for presentations 
about MS4, NPDES and BMPs 
were made from environmental 
groups. 

6 A.6.1 Educational and informational material on 
web page. 

COMPLETE Develop web page with 
annual updates on 
informational and educational 
materials. 

Update web page. The MS4 Annual Facility 
Inspection Report was posted to 
the County website and to the 
collaborative MS4 website the 
Champaign County Stormwater 
Partnership 
(www.ccstormwater.org). 

7 B.4.1 Comply with applicable state and local 
public notice requirements.  

COMPLETE Annual number of meetings 
with MS4 related topics. 
Maintain electronic records 
of notices, agendas, and 
public participation. 

Provide notice of MS4 
related meetings and 
provide opportunity for 
public input. 

All public hearings and meetings 
are noticed as required by state 
law and local ordinances and 
policies. 

8 B.6.1 Intergovernmental Storm Water 
Management group meetings 
(coordination meeting for all Champaign 
County MS4 jurisdictions). 

COMPLETE Hold at least 4 coordination 
meetings each year. 

Attend meetings. During the program year County 
staff attended and participated in 
meetings with other MS4 
jurisdictions on 6/14/22; 9/13/22; 
11/2/22; 12/13/22; 3/14/23 

9 B.6.2 Prepare a storm water survey that can be 
used annually to capture public comment 
on the MS4 Storm Water Program.  

COMPLETE Conduct the annual MS4 
Storm Water Survey on the 
County website. 

Make the MS4 Area 
Storm Water Survey 
available on the County 

The MS4 Storm Water Survey is 
on the County website at 
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/

168

http://www.ccstormwater.org/
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1


B-2

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

website. 1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU
3kr8gmQJ-
w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg
/viewform?c=0&w=1 

10 B.6.3 Hold Annual Public Storm Water Meeting 
at the Champaign County Board’s 
Environment and Land Use Committee 
(ELUC) to receive public comments 
regarding the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 Area Storm Water 
Program. 

INCOMPLETE  Have the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 Area 
Storm Water Program as an 
Agenda item at one ELUC 
Meeting each year. 

Have the Champaign 
County Unincorporated 
MS4 Area Storm Water 
Program as an Agenda 
item at the May ELUC 
meeting. 

There was no Annual Public 
Storm Water Meeting at the 
Champaign County Board’s 
Environment and Land Use 
Committee (ELUC) in the 
program year. 

11 B.6.4 Identify Environmental Justice areas 
within the Unincorporated Champaign 
County MS4 Area and provide appropriate 
public participation. 

COMPLETE Identify Environmental 
Justice (EJ) areas within the 
Unincorporated Champaign 
County MS4 Area based on 
most current state economic 
data and randomly sample the 
EJ area population for storm 
water concerns via postal 
mail with prepaid reply 
envelopes. Review annual 
survey results at the Annual 
Public Storm Water Meeting 
at the Champaign County 
Board’s Environment and 
Land Use Committee 
(ELUC).   

Identify Environmental 
Justice (EJ) areas within 
the Unincorporated 
Champaign County MS4 
Area based on most 
current state economic 
data and randomly 
sample the EJ area 
population for storm 
water concerns via 
postal mail with prepaid 
reply envelopes and 
review annual survey 
results at the Annual 
Public Storm Water 
Meeting the Champaign 
County Board’s 
Environment and Land 
Use Committee (ELUC). 

The Environmental Justice Areas 
for the reporting year have been 
identified and mapped. 

12 B.7.1 Fund aspects of NPDES MS4 
implementation in the County’s Land 
Resource Management Plan 
implementation budget including public 

COMPLETE Include NPDES MS4 
requirements in the County’s 
Land Resource Management 
Plan and include in annual 

Include MS4 in work 
plan for FY23. 

Funding for MS4 projects were 
included in the Work Plan for 
2023. 

169

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSd5hbzMASGpKgPWU3kr8gmQJ-w0ZorXoCFWUUddjbMyI8P3Mg/viewform?c=0&w=1


B-3

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

involvement when appropriate. long-range work plan as 
required. 

13 C.1.1 Map drainage system outfalls into streams 
and rivers. 

COMPLETED Complete a system wide 
updated every three years. 

System wide update of 
Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 
Area storm sewer 
system map. 

The up-to-date storm sewer 
system map for the unincorporated 
Champaign County MS4 Area is 
mapped to 100% completion 
including the storm sewer system 
map for County Highways outside 
the MS4 Area.  

14 C.2.1 Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges into drainage system through 
Nuisance Ordinance. 

IN PROGRESS Review existing Nuisance 
Ordinance and revise to 
include illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into 
drainage systems. 

Amend Nuisance 
Ordinance with new 
language prohibiting 
illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into 
drainage system. 

Preliminary Ordinance language 
regarding illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into drainage 
systems had been previously 
drafted but has not yet been 
adopted. 

15 C.3.1 Establish and maintain citizen complaint 
phone line for illegal dumping and illicit 
discharge into drainage systems. 

COMPLETE Maintain phone line. Maintain complaint 
phone line and record of 
complaints. 

The Department of Planning and 
Zoning phone line is maintained 
for citizen complaints regarding 
illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges.   

16 C.3.2 Establish citizen complaint phone line for 
non-complying and/or non-functioning 
private sewage treatment systems. 

COMPLETE Develop and maintain phone 
line. 

Maintain complaint 
phone line and record of 
complaints. 

The Department of Planning and 
Zoning phone line is maintained 
for citizen complaints regarding 
non-complying and/or non-
functioning private sewage 
treatment systems.  

17 C.3.3 Create a database of existing private 
sewage treatment systems and develop a 
management plan to bring non-compliant 
systems into compliance.  

IN PROGRESS Create database and develop, 
adopt, and implement 
management plan.  

Create database and 
develop management 
plan. 

Records of private sewage 
treatment systems obtained from 
Public Health Department; GIS 
database is under development. 

170



B-4

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

18 C.6.1 Annual Report to the Environment and 
Land Use Committee (ELUC) of the 
Champaign County Board. 

COMPLETE Present Annual Report and 
place on file. 

Complete Annual 
Report and place on file. 

The MS4 Annual Report was 
prepared and presented to the 
Environment and Land Use 
Committee (ELUC) on May 5, 
2022 and approved by the 
Champaign County Board on May 
19, 2022.   

19 D.1.1 Soil erosion and sediment control 
regulations. 

COMPLETE Review existing erosion and 
sediment control regulations. 
Prepare draft regulations for 
County Board adoption and 
enforce adopted regulations. 

Enforce soil erosion and 
sediment control 
ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and 
Erosion Control 
Ordinance). 

Soil erosion and sediment control 
regulations in the Champaign 
County Storm Water Management 
and Erosion Control Ordinance 
were enforced for all Land 
Disturbance Erosion Control 
(LDEC) Permits. 

20 D.2.1 Erosion and sediment control BMPs. COMPLETE  Review and evaluate existing 
BMPs to determine which 
should be included in the 
erosion and sediment control 
ordinance. Review existing 
regulations and develop new 
regulations for ordinance. 

Review plans and 
development for 
appropriate use of BMPs 
as required by adopted 
ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and 
Erosion Control 
Ordinance). 

All Land Disturbance Erosion 
Control (LDEC) Permits were 
reviewed for use of appropriate 
BMPs. 

21 D.3.1 Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges into storm drainage system 
from construction activities. 

IN PROGRESS Enforce Storm Water 
Management and Erosion 
Control (SWMEC) 
Ordinance prohibition on 
illegal dumping and illicit 
discharge into drainage 
systems from construction 
activities.  Review existing 
Nuisance Ordinance and, if 
needed, revise to prohibit 
illegal dumping and illicit 
discharge into drainage 
systems from construction 

Enforce SWMEC 
Ordinance prohibition 
on illegal dumping and 
illicit discharge into 
drainage systems from 
construction activities.  

The Storm Water Management 
and Erosion Control Ordinance 
includes a prohibition of illegal 
dumping and illicit discharges 
from construction activities. 
Preliminary Nuisance Ordinance 
language has been drafted 
regarding illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into drainage 
systems but has not yet been 
adopted.    

171



B-5

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

activities, same as SWMEC 
Ordinance.  

22 D.4.1 Develop processes and procedures to 
evaluate proposed construction site runoff 
mechanisms.  

COMPLETE Develop procedures and 
processes to evaluate 
proposed construction site 
runoff mechanisms. 

Develop, implement and 
refine review procedures 
to evaluate proposed 
construction site runoff 
mechanisms.  

Procedures to evaluate proposed 
construction site runoff 
mechanisms are refined in the 
review of LDEC Permits. 

23 D.4.2 Training class or workshop for evaluating 
and inspecting construction site runoff 
control mechanisms. 

COMPLETE Zoning Officer (or Director’s 
designee) attendance at 
training class or workshop for 
evaluating and inspecting 
construction site runoff 
control mechanisms. 

Director’s designee 
attends training. 

Staff completed EPA Construction 
General Permit (CGP) Site 
Inspector Training Course. 

24 D.6.1 Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for compliance 
with construction site runoff mechanisms. 

COMPLETE Develop procedures and 
processes to inspect 
construction sites for 
compliance with construction 
site runoff mechanisms.  

Develop and implement 
procedures and 
processes to inspect 
construction sites for 
compliance with 
construction site runoff 
mechanisms. 

Procedures were refined as more 
experience was gained in the 
review of LDEC.  

25 E.1.1 Implement a public education program 
about the benefits of green infrastructure 
and green housekeeping in minimizing the 
volume of storm water runoff and 
pollutants from privately owned developed 
property. 

IN PROGRESS Add a Green Infrastructure 
page to the Champaign 
County website to educate 
landowners about the benefits 
of green infrastructure and 
green housekeeping in 
minimizing the volume of 
storm water runoff and 
pollutants from privately 
owned developed property. 

Develop, implement, 
and maintain 
Champaign County 
Green Infrastructure & 
Green Housekeeping 
web page 

Development of a Green 
Infrastructure & Green 
Housekeeping web page has 
begun by department staff. 

26 E.1.2 Implement a public education program 
about the water quality impacts of overuse 
of fertilizers and pesticides in non-
agricultural uses.   

IN PROGRESS Add a Sustainable Lawn Care 
page to the Champaign 
County website to educate 
landowners about the water 

Develop and implement 
a Champaign County 
Sustainable Lawn Care 
web page.  

Development of a Sustainable 
Lawn Care web page has begun 
by department staff. 

172



B-6

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

quality impacts of overuse of 
fertilizers and pesticides in 
non-agricultural uses.   

27 E.2.1 Require annual inspections of publicly 
owned storm water management facilities 
(post-construction).   

INCOMPLETE Procedures for maintenance 
of publicly owned storm 
water management facilities 
(post-construction) should be 
established in the Champaign 
County SWPPP.  

Develop and implement 
procedures for 
maintenance of publicly 
owned storm water 
management facilities 
(post-construction) in 
the Champaign County 
SWPPP. 

NONE 

28 E.3.1 Develop procedures to ensure that storm 
water management facilities are 
maintained to function as designed (post-
construction). 

IN PROGRESS Develop and implement 
procedures to ensure that 
storm water facilities are 
maintained to function as 
designed (post-construction). 

Develop and implement 
procedures to ensure that 
storm water facilities are 
maintained to function 
as designed (post-
construction). 

The Storm Water Management 
and Erosion Control Ordinance 
requires ongoing maintenance of 
storm water management 
facilities.   

29 E.3.3 Provide annual training in green 
infrastructure and/or low impact design 
techniques for all MS4 employees who 
manage or are directly involved in (or who 
retain others who manage or are directly 
involved in) the routine maintenance, 
repair, or replacement of public exterior 
surfaces. Require that contractors who are 
retained to manage or carry out the kinds 
of maintenance and relevant contractor 
employees also have annual training  

COMPLETE Provide annual training in 
green infrastructure and/or 
low impact design techniques 
for all MS4 employees who 
manage or are directly 
involved in (or who retain 
others who manage or are 
directly involved in) the 
routine maintenance, repair, 
or replacement of public 
exterior surfaces. Require 
that contractors who are 
retained to manage or carry 
out the kinds of maintenance 
and relevant contractor 
employees also have annual 
training.  

Provide annual training 
in green infrastructure 
and/or low impact 
design techniques for all 
relevant managers, 
employees, and/or 
contractors and 
contractor employees. 

Staff from the Champaign County 
Department of Planning and 
Zoning Department attended the 
Macon County Soil & Water 
Conservation District Stormwater 
Workshop on November 11th, 
2022. 

The Champaign County 
Stormwater Partnership has begun 
preparation for the biennial 
Illinois Green Infrastructure & 
Erosion Control Conference 
which takes place October 24th, 
2023. 

173



B-7

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

30 E.4.1 Training class or workshop for evaluating 
and inspecting construction site runoff 
control mechanisms (post-construction). 

COMPLETE Director’s designee 
attendance at training class or 
workshop for evaluating and 
inspecting construction site 
runoff control mechanisms 
(post-construction). 

Director’s designee 
attends training. 

Staff completed EPA Construction 
General Permit (CGP) Site 
Inspector Training Course. 

31 E.5.1 Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for compliance 
with post-construction runoff control 
mechanisms. 

IN PROGRESS Develop procedures and 
processes to inspect 
construction sites for 
compliance with approved 
post-construction site runoff 
control mechanisms. 

Develop and implement 
procedures to inspect 
construction sites for 
compliance with post-
construction runoff 
control mechanisms. 

The Storm Water Management 
and Erosion Control Ordinance 
requires “as-built” documentation. 

32 F.1.1 Spill prevention protocol. COMPLETE Conduct annual spill 
prevention training with 
appropriate County staff. 
Track meeting agenda, 
materials, and attendee sign-
in sheet. 

Complete annual spill 
prevention training with 
appropriate County staff. 

The Champaign County 
Emergency Management Agency 
(CCEMA) conducted or 
participated in the following 
trainings in the program year: 
● July 28th , 2022, attended
International Association of Fire
Chief’s Hazmat Outreach
Workgroup
● January 11th , 2023 Attended
local Canadian National Railroad
Safety Summit
● January 25th , 2023, Attended
local Pipeline Safety Program

33 F.1.2 Spill response protocol. COMPLETE Conduct annual spill response 
training with appropriate 
County staff. Track meeting 
agenda, materials, and 

Complete annual spill 
response training with 
appropriate County staff. 

The Champaign County 
Emergency Management Agency 
(CCEMA) conducted or 

174



B-8

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

attendee sign-in sheet. participated in the following 
trainings in the program year: 

● July 28th , 2022, attended
International Association of Fire
Chief’s Hazmat Outreach
Workgroup
● August 18th , 2022, hosted two
sessions of “How to use
Emergency Response Guidebook
and the NIOSH Pocket Guide”
training through the UIUC
Hazardous Materials Training
Program
● October 20th , 2022, supported
annual UIUC Facilities & Services
Hazmat drill with mobile
command post
● January 11th , 2023 Attended
local Canadian National Railroad
Safety Summit
● January 25th , 2023, Attended
local Pipeline Safety Program
● March 22nd , 2023, Participated
in FEMA Virtual Tabletop
Exercise with a hazmat scenario

34 F.1.3 Hazardous material and storage 
management training. 

COMPLETE Conduct annual hazardous 
material and storage 
management training with 
appropriate staff.  Track 
meeting agenda, materials, 
and attendee sign-in sheet.  

Complete annual 
hazardous material and 
storage management 
training with appropriate 
County staff. 

All relevant hazardous materials 
storage and handling reviewed 
with Facilities Director.  

175



B-9

Attachment B. Status of Compliance with N.P.D.E.S. Permit Conditions for Year 4 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                        APRIL 1, 2023           

BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Status Measurable Goal  Year 4 Milestone Description of Activities 

35 F.2.1 Prepare a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for County 
owned facilities. 

INCOMPLETE Prepare SWPPP for all 
County owned facilities. 

Begin developing the 
Draft SWPPP for all 
County owned facilities. 

None. 

176



Attachment C. Information Collected for Year 4 (April 1, 2022- March 31, 2023) 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT 

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023                 P. 1 of 1

C-1

There was no information collected between April 1, 2022 and March 31, 2023. 

177



D-1

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

A.1.1 Flyers and information sheets at permit 
counter. 

Develop and distribute one new 
educational material handout. 

Distribute handout. Distribute handout. 

A.2.1 Inform business groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

Conduct one presentation per year 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation upon request. 

A.2.2 Inform developer, contractor, engineering, 
and architecture groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

Conduct one presentation per year 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation upon request. 

A.2.3 Inform environmental groups about MS4, 
NPDES, and BMPs. 

Conduct one presentation per year 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation 
upon request. 

Conduct one presentation upon request. 

A.6.1 Educational and informational material on 
web page. 

Develop web page with annual 
updates on informational and 
educational materials. 

Update web page. Update web page. 

B.4.1 Comply with applicable state and local 
public notice requirements. 

Annual number of meetings with 
MS4 related topics. Maintain 
electronic records of notices, 
agendas, and public participation. 

Provide notice of MS4 
related meetings and 
provide opportunity for 
public input. 

Provide notice of MS4 related meetings 
and provide opportunity for public input. 

B.6.1 Intergovernmental Storm Water 
Management group meetings 
(coordination meetings for all Champaign 
County MS4 jurisdictions) 

Hold at least 4 coordination meetings 
each year. 

Attend meetings. Attend meetings. 

B.6.2 Prepare a storm water survey that can be 
used annually to capture public comment 
on the MS4 Storm Water Program.  

Conduct the annual MS4 Storm 
Water Survey on the County website. 

Make the MS4 Storm 
Water Survey available 
on the Champaign 
County website. 

Make the MS4 Storm Water Survey 
available on the Champaign County 
website. 

B.6.3 Hold Annual Public Storm Water Meeting 
at the Champaign County Board’s 
Environment and Land Use Committee 
(ELUC) Meeting to receive public 
comments regarding the Champaign 
County Unincorporated MS4 Area Storm 
Water Program. 

Have the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 Area Storm 
Water Program as an Agenda item at 
one ELUC Meeting each year. 

Have the Champaign 
County Unincorporated 
MS4 Area Storm Water 
Program as an Agenda 
item at the May ELUC 
Meeting. 

Have the Champaign County 
Unincorporated MS4 Area Storm Water 
Program as an Agenda item at the May 
ELUC Meeting. 

178



D-2

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

B.6.4 Identify Environmental Justice areas 
within the Unincorporated Champaign 
County MS4 Area and provide appropriate 
public participation. 

Identify Environmental Justice (EJ) 
areas within the Unincorporated 
Champaign County MS4 Area based 
on most current state economic data 
and randomly sample the EJ area 
population for storm water concerns 
via postal mail with prepaid reply 
envelopes. Review annual survey 
results at the Annual Public Storm 
Water Meeting at the Champaign 
County Board’s Environment and 
Land Use Committee (ELUC).   

Identify Environmental 
Justice (EJ) areas within 
the Unincorporated 
Champaign County MS4 
Area based on most 
current state economic 
data and randomly 
sample the EJ area 
population for storm 
water concerns via postal 
mail with prepaid reply 
envelopes and review 
annual survey results at 
the Annual Public Storm 
Water Meeting the 
Champaign County 
Board’s Environment 
and Land Use Committee 
(ELUC).   

Identify Environmental Justice (EJ) areas 
within the Unincorporated Champaign 
County MS4 Area based on most current 
state economic data and randomly sample 
the EJ area population for storm water 
concerns via postal mail with prepaid 
reply envelopes and review annual survey 
results at the Annual Public Storm Water 
Meeting at the Champaign County 
Board’s Environment and Land Use 
Committee (ELUC).   

B.7.1 Fund aspects of NPDES MS4 
implementation in the County’s Land 
Resource Management Plan 
implementation budget including public 
involvement when appropriate. 

Include NPDES MS4 requirements 
in the County’s Land Resource 
Management Plan and include in 
annual long-range work plan as 
required. 

Include MS4 in work 
plan for FY22. 

Include MS4 in work plan for FY23. 

C.1.1 Map drainage system outfalls into streams 
and rivers. 

Complete a system wide update 
every 3 years. 

Update Champaign 
County Unincorporated 
MS4 Area storm sewer 
system map as new 
information becomes 
available. 

System wide update of the Champaign 
County Unincorporated MS4 Area storm 
sewer system map. 

179



D-3

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

C.2.1 Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges into drainage systems through 
Nuisance Ordinance. 

Review existing Nuisance Ordinance 
and revise to include illegal dumping 
and illicit discharges into drainage 
systems. 

Amend Nuisance 
Ordinance with new 
language prohibiting 
illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into 
drainage system. 
MILESTONE NOT 
ACHIEVED – Draft has 
not been adopted yet. 

Amend Nuisance Ordinance with new 
language prohibiting illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into drainage system. 

C.3.1 Establish and maintain citizen complaint 
phone line for illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges into drainage systems. 

Maintain phone line. Maintain complaint 
phone line and record of 
complaints. 

Maintain complaint phone line and record 
of complaints. 

C.3.2 Establish citizen complaint phone line for 
non-complying and/or non-functioning 
private sewage treatment systems. 

Develop and maintain phone line. Maintain complaint 
phone line and record of 
complaints. 

Maintain complaint phone line and record 
of complaints. 

C.3.3 Create a database of existing private 
sewage treatments systems and develop a 
management plan to bring non-compliant 
systems into compliance. 

Create database and develop, adopt 
and implement management plan. 

Create database and 
develop management 
plan. MILESTONE 
NOT ACHIEVED 

Create database and develop management 
plan. 

C.6.1 Annual report to the Environment and 
Land Use Committee (ELUC) of the 
Champaign County Board. 

Present Annual Report and place on 
file. 

Complete Annual Report 
and place on file. 

Complete Annual Report and place on 
file. 

D.1.1 Soil erosion and sediment control 
regulations. 

Review existing erosion and 
sediment control regulations. Prepare 
draft regulations for County Board 
adoption and enforce adopted 
regulations. 

Enforce Soil Erosion and 
Sediment Control 
Ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and Erosion 
Control Ordinance).  

Enforce Soil Erosion and Sediment 
Control Ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and Erosion Control 
Ordinance). 

D.2.1 Erosion and sediment control BMPs. Review and evaluate existing BMPs 
to determine which should be 
included in the erosion and sediment 
control ordinance. Review existing 
regulations and develop new 
regulations for the ordinance. 

Review plans and 
development for 
appropriate use of BMPs 
as required by adopted 
ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and Erosion 
Control Ordinance). 

Review plans and development for 
appropriate use of BMPs as required by 
adopted ordinance (Storm Water 
Management and Erosion Control 
Ordinance). 

180



D-4

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

D.3.1 Prohibit illegal dumping and illicit 
discharges into storm drainage system 
from construction activities. 

Enforce Storm Water Management 
and Erosion Control (SWMEC) 
Ordinance prohibition on illegal 
dumping and illicit discharge into 
drainage systems from construction 
activities.  Review existing Nuisance 
Ordinance and, if needed, revise to 
prohibit illegal dumping and illicit 
discharge into drainage systems from 
construction activities, same as 
SWMEC Ordinance. 

Enforce SWMEC 
Ordinance prohibition on 
illegal dumping and 
illicit discharges into 
drainage systems from 
construction activities. 
MILESTONE NOT 
ACHIEVED – Draft has 
not been adopted yet. 

Enforce SWMEC Ordinance prohibition 
on illegal dumping and illicit discharges 
into drainage systems from construction 
activities. 

D.4.1 Develop procedures and processes to 
evaluate proposed construction site runoff 
mechanisms. 

Develop procedures and processes to 
evaluate proposed construction site 
runoff mechanisms. 

Develop, implement and 
refine review procedures 
to evaluate proposed 
construction site runoff 
mechanisms. 

Develop, implement and refine review 
procedures to evaluate proposed 
construction site runoff mechanisms. 

D.4.2 Training class/workshop for evaluating 
and inspecting construction site runoff 
control mechanism. 

Zoning Officer (or Director’s 
designee) attendance at training class 
or workshop for evaluating and 
inspecting construction site runoff 
control mechanisms. 

Director’s designee 
attends training.  

Director’s designee attends training. 

D.6.1 Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for compliance 
with construction site runoff mechanisms. 

Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for 
compliance with construction site 
runoff mechanisms. 

Develop and implement 
procedures and processes 
to inspect construction 
sites for compliance with 
construction site runoff 
mechanisms. 

Develop and implement procedures and 
processes to inspect construction sites for 
compliance with construction site runoff 
mechanisms. 

E.1.1 Implement a public education program 
about the benefits of green infrastructure 
and green housekeeping in minimizing the 
volume of storm water runoff and 
pollutants from existing privately owned 
developed property. 

Add a Green Infrastructure page to 
the Champaign County website to 
educate landowners about the 
benefits of green infrastructure and 
green housekeeping in minimizing 
the volume of storm water runoff and 
pollutants from existing privately-
owned developed property. 

Develop and implement a 
Champaign County 
Green Infrastructure & 
Green Housekeeping 
web page.  

Develop and implement a Champaign 
County Green Infrastructure & Green 
Housekeeping web page. 

181



D-5

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

E.1.2 Implement a public education program 
about the water quality impacts of overuse 
of fertilizers and pesticides in non-
agricultural uses.   

Add a Sustainable Lawn Care page 
to the Champaign County website to 
educate landowners about the water 
quality impacts of overuse of 
fertilizers and pesticides in non-
agricultural uses.   

Develop and implement a 
Champaign County 
Sustainable Lawn Care 
web page.  

Develop and implement a Champaign 
County Sustainable Lawn Care web page. 

E.2.1 Require annual inspection of publicly 
owned storm water management facilities 
(post-construction). 

Procedures for maintenance of 
publicly owned storm water 
management facilities (post-
construction) should be established 
in the Champaign County SWPPP. 

Develop and implement 
procedures for 
maintenance of publicly 
owned storm water 
management facilities 
(post-construction) in the 
Champaign County 
SWPPP. MILESTONE 
NOT ACHIEVED 

Develop and implement procedures for 
maintenance of publicly owned storm 
water management facilities (post-
construction) in the Champaign County 
SWPPP. 

E.3.1 Develop procedures to ensure that storm 
water facilities are maintained to function 
as designed (post- construction). 

Develop and implement procedures 
to ensure that storm water facilities 
are maintained to function as 
designed (post-construction). 

Develop and implement 
procedures to ensure that 
storm water facilities are 
maintained to function as 
designed (post-
construction). 
MILESTONE NOT 
ACHIEVED 

Develop and implement procedures to 
ensure that storm water facilities are 
maintained to function as designed (post-
construction). 

E.3.3 Provide annual training in green 
infrastructure and/or low impact design 
techniques for all MS4 employees who 
manage or are directly involved in (or who 
retain others who manage or are directly 
involved in) the routine maintenance, 
repair, or replacement of public exterior 
surfaces. Require that contractors who are 
retained to manage or carry out the kinds 
of maintenance and relevant contractor 
employees also have annual training. 

Provide annual training in green 
infrastructure and/or low impact 
design techniques for all MS4 
employees who manage or are 
directly involved in (or who retain 
others who manage or are directly 
involved in) the routine maintenance, 
repair, or replacement of public 
exterior surfaces. Require that 
contractors who are retained to 
manage or carry out the kinds of 
maintenance and relevant contractor 
employees also have annual training. 

Provide annual training 
in green infrastructure 
and/or low impact design 
techniques for all 
relevant managers, 
employees, and/or 
contractors and 
contractor employees.  

Provide annual training in green 
infrastructure and/or low impact design 
techniques for all relevant managers, 
employees, and/or contractors and 
contractor employees.  

182



D-6

Attachment D. N.P.D.E.S. Permit Activities for Next Reporting Year 1 April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)                                           APRIL 1, 2023          
BMP 
No. 

Brief Description of Best Management 
Practice (BMP) 

Measurable Goal Year 4 Milestone 
(4/1/22-3/31/23) 

Proposed Activity 
Next Program Year 4/1/23-3/31/24 

E.4.1 Training class or workshop for evaluating 
and inspecting construction site runoff 
control mechanisms (post-construction). 

Director’s designee attendance at 
training class or workshop for 
evaluating and inspecting 
construction site runoff control 
mechanisms (post-construction). 

Director’s designee 
attends training.  

Director’s designee attends training. 

E.5.1 Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for compliance 
with post-construction runoff control 
mechanisms. 

Develop procedures and processes to 
inspect construction sites for 
compliance with approved post-
construction runoff control 
mechanisms. 

Develop and implement 
procedures to inspect 
construction sites for 
compliance with 
approved post-
construction runoff 
control mechanisms. 
MILESTONE NOT 
ACHIEVED 

Develop and implement procedures to 
inspect construction sites for compliance 
with approved post-construction runoff 
control mechanisms. 

F.1.1 Spill prevention protocol. Conduct annual spill prevention 
training with appropriate County 
staff. Track meeting agenda, 
materials, and attendee sign-in sheet. 

Complete annual spill 
prevention training with 
appropriate County staff. 

Complete annual spill prevention training 
with appropriate County staff. 

F.1.2 Spill response protocol. Conduct annual spill response 
training with appropriate County 
staff. Track meeting agenda, 
materials and attendee sign-in sheet. 

Complete annual spill 
response training with 
appropriate County staff. 

Complete annual spill response training 
with appropriate County staff. 

F.1.3 Hazardous material and storage 
management training. 

Conduct annual hazardous material 
and storage management training 
with appropriate County staff. Track 
meeting agenda, materials and 
attendee sign-in sheet.  

Complete annual 
hazardous material and 
storage management 
training with appropriate 
County staff. 

Complete annual hazardous material and 
storage management training with 
appropriate County staff. 

F.2.1 Prepare a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for County 
owned facilities. 

Prepare SWPPP for all County 
owned facilities. 

Begin developing the 
Draft SWPPP for all 
County owned facilities. 
MILESTONE NOT 
ACHIEVED 

Begin developing the Draft SWPPP for all 
County owned facilities. 

183



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-1
184

MS4 Environmental Justice Areas: Unincorporated Champaign County 
Prepared 25 May 2022 
Source : U.S. Census Bureau ; 2016-2020 American Community Survey 

106.03 

109.02 

This document was prepared with geographic 
informat ion sys tem (GIS) data created by the 
Champaign Coun ty GIS Consortium (CCGISC). other 
CCGISC member agencies, or the Champaign County 
Regional Planning Commission. These entities do not 
guarantee the accuracy or su itability of GIS data for any 
purpose. The GIS data w ithin this document is intended 
to be used as a general index of spatial informa~on and 
not intended for resolution of legal matters 

1.25 2.5 

Legend 

~ Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

r:::::J 2020 Census Tracts 

~ 2020 Census Block Groups 

c:J Municipalities 

1111 Environmental Justice Qualifying Area 

N 

A 

~ Environmental Justice Self-Identifying Area 

~ Environmental Justice Not Qualifying Area 



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-2
185

MS4 Environmental Justice Areas: Champaign Area Detailed Map 
Prepared 25 May 2022 
Source : U.S. Census Bureau ; 2016-2020 American Community Survey 

Legend 

~ Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

- Environmental Justice Qualifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Self-Identifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Not Qualifying Area 

c:J 2020 Census Tracts 

D 2020 Census Block Groups N 

c:::J Municipalities A 

9:02------l 

12:05 

0 0.5 

1.09.02 

8 

This document wa prepared w 
information syste (GI S) data 
Champaign Coun t G IS Cons 
CCGISC member gency, or t 
Regional Plannin 

7 

111 

60 



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-3
186

MS4 Environmental Justice Areas: Urbana Area Detailed Map 
Prepared 25 May 2022 

Source : U.S. Census Bureau ; 2016-2020 American Community Survey 

7 

110.02 

5 

13.01 

Legend 

l;222j Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

- Environmental Justice Qualifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Self-Identifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Not Qualifying Area 

D 2020 Census Tracts 

D 2020 Census Block Groups 

c:::J Municipalities 

N 

A 0 

57.01-----t 

0.5 

This document was prepared with geog raphic 
information system (GIS) data creat ed by the 

Champaign County GIS Consortium (CCG ISC), other 
CCGISC member agency, or the Champa ign County 

Regional Planning Commission These entities do not 
guarantee the accuracy or suitability of GIS da ta for any 
pu rpose. The GIS data within this document is intended 
to be used as a general index of spatial information and 

not intended for resolution of legal matters 

55 

56.01 

56.02 

57.02 

2 Mile 



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-4
187

MS4 Environmental Justice Areas: Savoy Area Detailed Map 
Prepared 25 May 2022 

Source : U.S. Census Bureau ; 2016-2020 American Community Survey 

106.04 

This document was prepared with geographic 
informat ion sys tem (GIS) data created by the 
Champaign Coun ty GIS Consortium (CCGISC). other 
CCGISC member agency. or the Champaign County 
Regional Planning Commission . These entities do not 
guarantee the accuracy or su itability of GIS data for any 
purpose . The GIS data w ithin this document is intended 
to be used as a general index of spatial inform ab on and 
not intended for resolution of legal matters . 

Legend 

~ Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

- Environmental Justice Qualifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Self-Identifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Not Qualifying Area 

c:J 2020 Census Tracts 

D 2020 Census Block Groups N 

c::J Municipalities A 

109.02 

109.01 

2 Miles 



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-5
188

MS4 Environmental Justice Areas: Bondville Area Detailed Map 
Prepared 26 May 2022 

Source : U.S. Census Bureau ; 2016-2020 American Community Survey 

0 0.25 0.5 1 Miles 

106.04 

Legend 

~ Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

- Environmental Justice Qualifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Self-Identifying Area 

D Environmental Justice Not Qualifying Area 

c:J 2020 Census Tracts 

D 2020 Census Block Groups N 

c::J Municipalities A 

This document was prepared with geographic 
in formation system (GIS) data created by the 
Champaign County GIS Consortium (CCGISC), other 
CCG ISC m em ber agency, or the Champaign County 
Regional Planning Comm ission. These entities do not 
guarantee the accuracy or suitability of G IS data for any 
purpose The GIS data w ithin this document is intended 
to be used as a general mdex of spatial information and 
not intended for resolution of legal matters 

9.02 

12!05 

12.06 



Attachment E. Champaign County Unincorporated MS4 Environmental Justice Areas May 25, 2022 
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS MS4 ANNUAL FACILITY INSPECTION REPORT  

REPORTING PERIOD YEAR 4 (4/1/22 – 3/31/23)               APRIL 1, 2023

F-6
189

MS4 Areas: Unincorporated Champaign County 
Prepared 25 May 2022 

I•• ""411>.,_1 
This document was prepared with geographic 
informat ion sys tem (GIS) data created by the 
Champaign Coun ty GIS Consortium (CCGISC). other 
CCGISC member agency, or the Champaign County 
Regional Planning Commission . These entities do not 
guarantee the accuracy or su itability of GIS data for any 
purpose_ The GIS data w ithin this document is intended 
to be used as a general index of spatial information and 
not intended for resolution of legal matters 

0 
I 

.----- .. 
I I 

I 1.25 

• 
I 

( 

I 

I .I 

1. I I ---· 

2.5 
I 

- ---14.C;,o._ ... ....... 
I 

•1 111'1• I. 
•• I - I _, 

~ -~------.. 
I I 

---- I 

. --
'• I 

I . -, 
I 

Legend 

:•--1 ... -~. 
-·' 

r:::::J Champaign-Urbana Urbanized Area 

~ Unincorporated MS4 Areas 

2020 Census Block Groups 

:: : : ! Municipal Boundary 


	230504_Agenda w Page #s
	230504_Agenda_Packet_Full
	230504_Agenda w Page #s
	230504_Agenda_Packet_Full
	230504 Agenda Packet w Page #s
	230406_Minutes
	MINUTES – Subject to Review and Approval
	MINUTES

	VII. B. IEPA Notice of Application for Construction Permit at UI Advanced Computational Bldg
	VII. C. Class Action Settlement v Monsanto
	VII. D. IEPA Notice of Proposed Renewal of the Clean Air Act Permit for the Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company Manlove Storage Field
	VIII. A. Zoning Case 074-S-22 Medanos solar farm special use permit March 27 2023
	074-S-22 ELUC memo 032723
	BACKGROUND
	PUBLIC INPUT RECEIVED

	AttA Case Maps
	074_LocationMap_wSolarArea
	074_LandUseMap_wSolarArea
	074_ZoningMap_wSolarArea

	AttB Revised Site Plan 11x17 022823 letter size
	AttC Homer Protest 012623
	AttD 074-S-22 Summary FOF and Final Det 031623

	VIII. B. Zoning Case 074-S-22 Medanos solar farm DSRP March 27 2023
	074-S-22 ELUC memo for DSRP 032723
	AttA Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan 032423

	VIII. C. Zoning Case 035-AM-21 ELUC memorandum April 24 2023
	035-AM-21 ELUC memo 042423
	No negative comments were received from the public regarding the rezoning.
	BACKGROUND

	AttA Case Maps
	035_036_LocationMap
	035_036_LandUseMap
	035_036_ZoningMap

	AttB revised Site Plan sheets 031323 letter size
	AttC 2020 aerial
	AttD R3425_RightToFarmResolution reduced
	AttE 035-AM-21 Summary FOF and Final Det 041323

	VIII. D. Zoning Case 898-S-18 ELUC memorandum April 25 2023
	ELUC memo 042423
	AttA CaseMaps
	898_LocationMap
	898_LandUseMap
	898_ZoningMap

	AttB Revised site plan 042523
	AttC 898_2018fenced-2023area_042423
	AttD 2023-04-14_Prairie Solar_Decommissioning and Reclamation Plan
	AttE ChCo Road Agreement placeholder
	AttF Sidney Twp Road Agreement placeholder
	AttG Village Homer Road Agreement placeholder
	AttH Prairie_Solar_Noise_Technical_Report_042423_letter size
	AttI Landscape Plan 041423 letter size

	VIII. E. Champaign County MS4 Annual Inspection Report MS4 Year 4 April 6 2023






